PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Date:

Tuesday 14 June 2022

Time:

7.00 pm

Venue:

Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov

Members of the Committee
Councillor Scott Ainslie, Councillor Martin Bailey, Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor John-Paul Ennis,
Councillor Jessica Leigh (Vice-Chair), Councillor Joanne Simpson (Chair) and Councillor Rebecca
Spencer

Substitute Members
Councillor Liz Atkins, Deputy Mayor, Councillor Sarbaz Barznji, Councillor David Bridson, Councillor
Andrew Collins, Councillor Joe Dharampal-Hornby, Councillor Ibrahim Dogus, Councillor Saleha Jaffer,
Councillor Liam Jarnecki, Councillor Scarlett O'Hara and Councillor Timothy Windle

Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Farah Hussain, Telephone: 020 7926 4201; Email: fhussain1@lambeth.gov.uk

Published on: Wednesday 1 June 2022

Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.
@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth

How to access the meeting
In line with legislation, Committee members must attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall.
Reflecting current Public Health guidance to help prevent the spread of Covid-19, members of the public,
visiting Ward Members and officers are invited to attend virtually. If you wish to attend the meeting in
person, public access can be made available for limited numbers, but please contact Democratic
Services (details on the front sheet of the agenda) before the meeting so that arrangements can be
made.

For elected Members of the Council
Councillors who are not members of the committee but wish to make representations at the meeting
must inform Democratic Services by 12 noon on the last working day before the meeting.

For members of the Public
If you want to watch the live broadcast, this meeting is available to view as a Microsoft Teams Live
Event. If you are new to Microsoft Teams, clicking here will take you to the meeting page where you will
be prompted to download the app or watch on the web instead. Please follow the instructions to watch
on the web instead. On doing so, you can join our live event anonymously.

Can I make representations at PAC meetings?
You may speak in relation to planning applications and other applications that are to be decided by the
Committee. Up to three supporters (including applicants), three objectors and the Ward Members can
make representations to the meeting at the Committee’s discretion for a maximum of two minutes each.
If you would like to make representation, please contact the clerk (details on the front page of the
agenda) or democracy@lambeth.gov.uk.
You must register your wish to make representations on any application by 12 noon on the last working
day before the meeting. You are encouraged to participate online and should supply a written statement
(approximately 300 words) outlining the points you wish to make to the committee. The written statement
when read aloud must not take more than two minutes. If you are not able to participate online, public
access can be made available for limited numbers, and you should inform Democratic Services as soon
as possible and before the deadline.
For further information please contact Democratic Services as soon as possible by telephoning 020 7926
2170 or emailing democracy@lambeth.gov.uk.
Where the number of requests to address the committee exceeds three, and/or it is clear the interested
parties wish to make similar points, the interested parties will be asked to liaise so that all the points can
be raised succinctly.
Where the Committee is hearing a Pre-application Development Presentation, you will not be able to
register to speak in connection with that presentation. Pre-application Development Presentations relate
to proposals that are still at the pre-application stage. Pre-application Development Presentations
(explained further below) do not involve the determination of an application by the Committee.

What are Pre-application Development Presentations?
These are presentations to the Committee on proposed developments which have not yet been
submitted as planning applications for formal determination. The purpose of the presentation is to make
Committee members aware of the emerging proposal and to have an opportunity to ask questions of the
developer and to highlight issues to the developer that may require further consideration. The Committee
does not make any decision about the proposals. Any proposal that is presented to the Committee
through a Pre-application Development Presentation will still require a planning application to be
submitted and determined in the usual way.

What is the process for hearing Pre-application Development Presentations?
Items involving Pre-application Development Presentations will be identified in the agenda papers. If an
officer report has been prepared it will be published as part of the agenda papers and at the start of the
item, the officer will briefly summarise their report.
The developer will then give a presentation to the Committee. This may involve the use of slides or
images, which will be made available to Committee members and which people watching or attending
the meeting will also be able to see. Committee members will then be invited to ask questions of the
developer and will have an opportunity to highlight issues that may require further consideration by the
developer. The item will be included in the minutes of the meeting.

Representation
Ward Councillors (details via the website www.lambeth.gov.uk or phone 020 7926 2131) may be
contacted at their surgeries or through Party Group offices to represent your views to the Council:
(Conservatives 020 7926 2213) (Labour 020 7926 1166) (Greens 020 7926 2225).

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact
Democratic Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair
of the meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons including disruption
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that
it can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Security
Please be aware that you may be subject to bag searches and asked to sign in at meetings that are held
in public. Failure to comply with these requirements could mean you are denied access to the meeting.
There is also limited seating and you should aim to arrive at least 15 minutes before the meeting
commences. For more details please visit: our website.

Please contact Democratic Services for further information – 020 7926 2170 or the number on the front
page.

Directions to Lambeth Town Hall, London, SW2 1RW
Lambeth Town Hall is located at the southern end of Brixton Road and is a highly visible landmark. It can
be accessed via a number of bus routes and is a short walk from both Brixton Station and Brixton
Underground Station.

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING

Page
Nos.
1

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct (para. 4))
in any matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a committee,
sub-committee or joint committee, they must withdraw from the meeting
room during the whole of the consideration of that matter and must not
participate in any vote on that matter unless a dispensation has been
obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

2

Minutes

1 - 22

To agree minutes of the meetings held on 15 March, 29 March and 12
April 2022.

3

146-156 Brixton Hill and 5-6 Waterworks Road (Brixton Acre
Lane) 21/04767/FUL
Officer Recommendations:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the
completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing the planning
obligations listed in this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport
and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this
report, addendums and/or PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set
out in this report, addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant
to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).
3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning
permission and there is a subsequent appeal, delegated authority
is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability,
having regard to the heads of terms set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes, to negotiate and complete a
document containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in order to
meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.

23 - 106

4. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed
within 6 months of committee, delegated authority is given to the
Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse
planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in this report,
addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

Town & Country Planning Act (1990), The Planning &
Compensations Act (1991), The Town & Country Planning
(Control of Advertisement) Regulations (1992), The Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act (1990), The
Town & Country Planning General Regulations (1990), The
Rush Common Act 1806 and related legislation: Applications
For information on documents used in the preparation of the reports
contact the Planning Advice Desk, Tel: 020 7926 1180.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE (PAC) FAQs - YOUR QUESTIONS ANSWERED

Who sits on the PAC?
The Council has established a PAC, which consists of seven Councillors (elected Members).

Where and when do PAC meetings take place?
In line with legislation, Committee members must attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall.
Reflecting current Public Health guidelines to help prevent the spread of Covid-19, members of the
public, visiting Ward Members and officers are encouraged to attend virtually. If this is not possible,
public access can be made available for limited numbers, but please contact Democratic Services
(details on the front sheet of the agenda) before the meeting so that arrangements can be made.
The meetings are normally held on a Tuesday evening at 7pm and are held 1 or 2 times a month and are
listed on the Council’s calendar of meetings, here.

Can I attend PAC meetings?
All PAC meetings are open to the press and public although on rare occasions the Committee may
discuss a matter in private. The capacity of meetings is restricted due to Covid-19 safety considerations.
If the capacity of the room is exceeded the meeting can be viewed live online. The link to the meeting
can be found on the PAC page of the Council’s website.

How can I get a copy of any reports to be considered by PAC?
The officer reports on applications to be considered are circulated to PAC Members and published on
the Council’s website a week before the meeting. Papers for meetings can be viewed here.

Can I make written representations to the PAC meeting?
Yes. Written representations, including any letters, petitions or photos should be:
 Sent to the relevant case officer preferably by email; and,
 Sent by 12 noon two clear working days before the meeting. Meetings are normally on a
Tuesday, so the deadline would be 12 noon by the Thursday before the meeting.

Can I speak at PAC meetings?
Yes. Up to three supporters (including applicants), three objectors and the Ward Members can make
representations to the meeting at the Committee’s discretion for a maximum of two minutes each.
If you would like to make representation, please contact the clerk (details on the front page of the
agenda) or democracy@lambeth.gov.uk.
You must register your wish to make representations on any application by 12 noon on the last working
day before the meeting. You are encouraged to participate online and should supply a written statement
(approximately 300 words) outlining the points you wish to make to the committee. The written statement
when read aloud must not take more than two minutes. If participating online is not possible, public
access can be made available for limited numbers, but please contact Democratic Services (details on

the front sheet of the agenda) before the deadline so that arrangements can be made.
For further information please contact Democratic Services as soon as possible by telephoning 020 7926
2170 or emailing democracy@lambeth.gov.uk.
Where the number of requests to address the committee exceeds three, and/or it is clear the interested
parties wish to make similar points, the interested parties will be asked to liaise so that all the points can
be raised succinctly.

Does the PAC consider applications in the order listed on the agenda?
Not necessarily. The order of business is determined at the meeting taking into consideration:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Applications which are withdrawn, or which officers recommend should be deferred.
Applications where there are no notified interested parties wishing to address the committee and
members have no questions to ask the applicant or officers.
Applications which have been deferred from a previous meeting or have been the subject of a site
visit.
Applications for developments which would be in receipt of public funding and which are subject to
deadlines affecting delivery and other applications subject to specific deadlines.

What is the process for considering an application at the meeting?
Officers will introduce each application with a brief PowerPoint presentation which will usually include
drawings and photographs of the application site. The Committee will then hear the representations
from the interested parties. If the application is recommended for approval, then objectors’
representations will be heard first. This is reversed if the application is recommended for refusal. The
merits of the application are considered taking into account the views of the interested parties and
planning officers before the committee reaches a decision.

What time does the meeting come to an end?
The meeting will be conducted in a business-like fashion and the Committee will endeavour to deal with
reports as quickly as possible.
However, if there is a lot of outstanding business at 9.00pm the Chair will advise the meeting if and how
the timetable for the meeting has to be revised, in order to deal with remaining business and finish the
meeting at 10.00pm. At 10.00pm, if the meeting has not ended, the Committee will decide which
business can be completed by 10.45pm and any business not reached by that time will be deferred to
the next meeting.

What are site visits?
The decision whether to have a site visit is made by the Chair of the Planning Applications Committee.
Site visits are arranged by Planning Officers to allow the Committee and Ward Members to observe the
site and gain a better understanding of the impact of the proposal. Where permission is needed to go on
to private land, contact will be made with the owner by officers. Other than for reasons of access, the
arrangements for site visits will not normally be publicised or made known to applicants, agents or third
parties except in exceptional circumstances. In such circumstances, officers have discretion to invite one
representative of the applicant to be present but only to answer any questions if Members require further

context which the officer cannot provide. The applicant must notify the planning officer prior to the site
visit who will be attending on their behalf.
Objectors are not to be invited, except in exceptional circumstances where the Chair of the Committee
agrees that there is information which cannot be provided by officers, and which it is necessary to
receive on site and which is only likely to be able to be provided by an objector.
In circumstances where the public may need to be involved; for example, to gain access to a property to
view a site from a particular vantage point, officers will arrange this. Members of the public shall be
present only to grant access to premises and to answer factual questions.
A site visit is not a part of the formal determination of the planning application and therefore the public in
attendance are not able to lobby councillors or to engage in discussing the merits of the proposal.

When do site visits take place?
A site visit will normally take place on the Saturday morning immediately before the committee which will
consider the matter. An alternative date of the preceding Friday morning could be arranged

If I am unable to attend the PAC meeting, how can I find out the decision?
You are able to watch the meeting by clicking the link provided on the PAC agenda. Following the
meeting, videos remain available to view for 180 days. You can also contact Democratic Services by
telephone or email. The minutes from the meeting will also be available on the Council’s website after
the meeting. Planning officers will send the applicant and any interested parties who have made written
representations formal notification of the Committee decision.

Where can I get further information or advice?
If you would like further information or advice, please contact:

Town Planning Advice Desk: Tel: 020 7926 1180, Email: planning@lambeth.gov.uk

Town Planning Webpage: https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control

Democratic Services: Tel: 020 7926 4201, Email: democracy@lambeth.gov.uk

Abbreviations
ADF
AQA
AQMA
BRE
BREEAM
BSPD
CAS
CHP
CIL
CEMP
MHCLG
DD
DRLLP
EIA
ES
ESP
EVCP
HE
FTE
FVA
HSE
GLA
LLP
LP
LVMF
NPPF
NPPG
OAPF
PAC
PPA
PTAL
PV
RICS
RSS
S106
SOWNNP
SPD
SPG
TA
TfL
TLRN
TVIA
UGF
VNEB
VSC

Average Daylight Factor
Air Quality Assessment
Air Quality Management Area
British Research Establishment
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method
Brixton Supplementary Planning Document
Conservation Area Statement
Combined Heat and Power
Community Infrastructure Levy
Construction and Environmental Management Plan
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Daylight Distribution
Draft Revised Lambeth Local Plan
Environmental Impact Assessment
Environmental Statement
Employment and Skills Plan
Electric Vehicle Charging Point
Historic England
Full Time Equivalent
Financial Viability Assessment
Health and Safety Executive
Greater London Authority
Lambeth Local Plan 2015
London Plan 2021
London View Management Framework
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance
Opportunity Area Planning Framework
Planning Applications Committee
Planning Performance Agreement
Public Transport Accessibility Level
Photovoltaic
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
Regulatory Support Service – Environmental Health advisors
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
South Bank & Waterloo Neighbourhood Plan
Supplementary Planning Document
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Transport Assessment
Transport for London
Transport for London Road Network
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Urban Greening Factor
Vauxhall Nine Elms Battersea Opportunity Area
Vertical Sky Component

VSPD
WSPD

Vauxhall Supplementary Planning Document
Waterloo Supplementary Planning Document

Approach to Heritage Assets
Legislative Framework
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (“PLBCAA”) provides
that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building
or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Section 72(1) of the PLBCAA provides that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in
a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of (amongst others) the planning Acts, special
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the
conservation area.
The South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment case and the Barnwell
Manor case (East Northamptonshire DC v SSCLG) establish that “preserving” in both s.66 and s.72
means “doing no harm”.

National Policy
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out three overarching objectives, contained within the planning system, in
order to achieve sustainable development. These objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued
in mutually supportive ways and include the following (with detail provided on the most relevant objective
to this section):
a)
b)
c)

an economic objective;
a social objective; and,
an environmental objective –to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic
environment.

The NPPF defines a “heritage asset” as:
“A building, monument, site place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance
meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest”.
The definition includes both designated heritage assets (of which, Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas are relevant here) and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing)
“Significance” is defined within the NPPF as being:
“the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest. That
interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives from a
heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its “setting”.

Paragraph 190 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting
its setting), taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. That assessment
should then be taken into account when considering the impact of the proposal on the heritage asset, to
avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.
Paragraphs 192 to 194 of the NPPF provide as follows:
192. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account of:
a. the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b. the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and
c. the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.
193. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its
significance.
194. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or
destruction, or from development within its setting) should require clear and convincing
justification. Substantial harm to or loss of: a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered
parks or gardens, should be exceptional; b) assets of the highest significance, notably
scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed
buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be
wholly exceptional.
Paragraph 195 of the NPPF deals with substantial harm to or total loss of significance of significance of a
designated heritage asset.
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF provides that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.
Paragraph 197 of the NPPF deals with non-designated heritage assets as follows:
197. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly
or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.
Paragraphs 200 and 201 of the NPPF are as follows:
200. Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to
enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the
setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance)
should be treated favourably.

201. Not all elements of a Conservation Area or World Heritage Site will necessarily contribute to
its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which makes a positive contribution to
the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be treated either as
substantial harm under paragraph 195 or less than substantial harm under paragraph 196,
as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of the element affected and its
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site as a whole.
Officers have also had regard to the National Planning Practice Guidance in respect of conserving and
enhancing the historic environment.

Approach to Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Where a proposed development may impact upon the sunlight and daylight received by an adjoining
property, planning applications are often accompanied by a Sunlight and Daylight Assessment. These
should be undertaken following the guidelines published by the Building Research Establishment ‘Site
Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ (BRE Guidelines). This is a good practice guide which
provides advice on site layout for good natural lighting within a new development, safeguarding of
daylight and sunlight within existing buildings nearby a development and the protection of daylighting of
adjoining land for future development. The guide is advisory and whilst it provides numerical target
values, these need also to be considered holistically with the needs of the development and its
surrounding context.
Two methods of measurement are recommended be used to measure daylight impacts: (1) Vertical Sky
Component (VSC); and (2) Daylight Distribution (DD). VSC assesses the quantum of skylight falling on a
vertical window and DD (also referred to as No Sky Line) the distribution of direct skylight in a room
space.
VSC is calculated from the centre of a window on the outward face and measures the amount of light
available on a vertical wall or window following the introduction of visible barriers, such as buildings. The
maximum VSC value is almost 40% for a completely unobstructed vertical wall or window. The BRE
guidance suggests that if the VSC is greater than 27%, enough skylight should still be reaching the
window of the existing building. Any reduction below this level should be kept to a minimum. Should the
VSC with development be both less than 27% and less than 0.8 times its former value, occupants of the
existing building shall notice a reduction in the amount of skylight they receive. The guide says: “the area
lit by the window is likely to appear gloomier, and electric lighting will be needed more of the time”.
The DD method is a measure of the distribution of daylight at the ‘working plane’ within a room. For the
DD assessment the ‘working plane’ means a horizontal ‘desktop’ plane 0.85m in height for residential
properties. The DD divides those areas of the working plane which can receive direct sky light from
those which cannot. If a significant area of the working plane receives no direct sky light, then the
distribution of daylight in the room will be poor and supplementary electric lighting may be required. The
BRE Guidelines state that if the area of a room that does receive direct sky light is reduced by more than
20% of its former value, then this would be noticeable to its occupants.
Typically, it is recommended that VSC and DD are utilised for consideration on daylight losses resulting
from the proposal to existing neighbouring residential since it is a comparative test.
Sunlight is measured using Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH). Sunlight is measured using a sun
indicator which contains 100 spots, each representing 1% of APSH. Where no obstruction exists, the
total APSH would amount to 1486 hours and therefore each spot equates to 14.86 hours (for London) of
the total annual sunlight hours. The number of spots is calculated for the Baseline and Proposed
Development scenarios during the whole year and also during the winter period and a comparison made

between the two. This provides a percentage of APSH for each of the time periods for each window
assessed.
The 2011 BRE Guidelines note that sunlight is valued in living rooms at any time of day but especially in
the afternoon. It is viewed as less important in bedrooms and in kitchens (the latter where people prefer
it in the morning rather than the afternoon. All main living rooms of dwellings…should be checked if they
have a window facing within 90° of due south. If the main living room to a dwelling has a main window
facing within 90° of due north, but a secondary window facing within 90° of due south, sunlight to the
secondary window should be checked.
With regard to existing surrounding receptors, the BRE Guidelines provide that a window may be
adversely affected if a point at the centre of the window receives - Less than 25% of the APSH during
the whole year, of which 5% APSH must be in the winter period; and - Receives less than 0.8 times its
former sunlight hours in either time period; and - Has a reduction in sunlight for the whole year more than
4% APSH.
Overshadowing is assessed through transient overshadowing plots which comprise an illustrative tool
showing the changing levels of direct sunlight received by amenity space throughout the day on the
dates assessed. The BRE ‘test’ for a development’s overshadowing impacts relates to the area of an
amenity space that receives more than two hours of sunlight on 21 March (the Spring Equinox). The
guide states:
“…for it to appear adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least half of a garden or amenity area
should receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21 March. If, as a result of new development, an
existing garden or amenity area does not meet the above, and the area which can receive two
hours of sun on 21 March is less than 0.8 times its former value, then the loss of sunlight is likely to
be noticeable”.

Approach to Air Quality
There is a Lambeth wide Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Lambeth is also covered by the
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) Low Emission Zone.
The NPPF states within paragraph 181:
“…decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or
national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management
Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic
and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement…Planning decisions
should ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is
consistent with the local air quality action plan.”
London Plan policy SI 1 states that development proposals should not lead to further deterioration of
existing poor air quality, create any new areas that exceed air quality limits, or delay the date at which
compliance will be achieved in areas that are currently in exceedance of legal limits, or create
unacceptable risk of high levels of exposure to poor air quality.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES
Tuesday 15 March 2022 at 7.00 pm
Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

PRESENT:

Councillor Rezina Chowdhury (Substitute), Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor
Scarlett O'Hara (Vice-Chair in the Chair), Councillor Mohammed Seedat and
Councillor Becca Thackray

APOLOGIES:

Councillor Ibrahim Dogus, Councillor Iain Simpson and Councillor Joanne
Simpson

1

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
Councillor Seedat informed the Committee that he had previously visited the South London
Islamic Centre, and this did not amount to a pecuniary interest.

2

8 Mitcham Lane (St Leonards) 18/01093/FUL
Case No. 18/01093/FUL, (agenda item 2, page 17 of the agenda pack, page 11 of the first
addendum and page 9 of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer introduced the report and indicated that late comments had been received
from the Streatham Society who stated that they were not consulted on the proposed
development. Officers confirmed that the Streatham Society had been consulted over the two
consultation periods. The officer stated that:
-

-

-

-

There had been 783 public representations received, 638 were in support, 138 were
objecting and 7 were neither supporting nor objecting.
Mitcham Lane was part of the Transport for London Road Network, and the development
site was located near St Leonard’s Church, which was a heritage asset.
The proposal was for a four-storey redevelopment of 8 Mitcham Lane, known as the
South London Islamic Centre (SLIC), due to the poor conditions and the insufficient
capacity of the current building. The Islamic Centre had been part of the community
since 1977.
The applicant advised that the residential units to be lost as part of the proposal were not
market units and were ancillary to the existing worshipping facility. However, officers did
not have sufficient evidence that was the case and had assessed the application on the
basis that the proposal would depart from the Lambeth Local Plan policy H3 which seeks
to safeguard existing housing.
The proposed nursery would be reserved for those who were attending the mosque.
There would be a low level of less than substantial heritage harm to the conservation
area and there would be heritage harm due to the loss of a non-designated heritage
asset (NDHA).
There would be no deliveries to SLIC during unsociable hours and it would be prohibited

Page 2
-

-

-

to play amplified music at the site.
There would be two accessible parking spaces, a delivery and servicing plan, and the
cycle parking provision would be in line with London Plan requirements.
One of the reasons for the delay in the determination of the application was to wait for
the St Leonard’s and Streatham Vale West Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) to be
implemented, which was implemented on 31 January 2022; the CPZ covers the Friday
peak of use at the site.
The existing site provided no ecology or biodiversity benefits, and the proposal would
meet the London Plan Urban Greening Factor (UGF) requirement, provide onsite carbon
reduction to comply with the London Plan and include solar panels on the roof.
There would be an employment and skills contribution of £86,389 and a travel plan
monitoring fee of £3,800.

The Committee then heard the following points from objectors:
- The proposal site was within a conservation area and the prime function was to be a
dignified and peaceful worship area, however the design had none of those attributes.
- The design of the building would be dominant and out of character with surrounding
buildings.
- The site was within a conservation area, and it was stated in the NPPF that the design of
the new building should enhance or be in keeping with the existing area. Further to this
there would be no public benefits from the proposal.
The following points were raised in support of the application:
- The current site was not fit for purpose as the prayer and worship areas were cramped
and resulted in worshippers praying in the courtyard.
- The site had been used for community activities such as most recently a covid
vaccination clinic and the holding of an MP surgery.
- The applicant had removed the top floor from the original design in response to input
from local residents.
- The centre would continue to play an active part in the local community.
Councillor Nicole Griffiths, a St Leonard’s Ward Councillor, raised the following points:
- The demolition of the current site was needed due to the worshipping areas not being fit
for purpose.
- The site was proposing a holistic travel plan with a minor level of travel in private vehicles
and the building would provide benefits within the community.
Councillor Scott Ainslie, a St Leonard’s Ward Councillor, raised the following points:
- The conditions that people had been congregating in was appalling however the design
of the proposal was not in line with the neighbouring buildings.
- The officer report stated that the effect on the non-designated heritage asset was less
than substantial harm, but the proposal was removing it completely.
Officers then provided the following information in response to Members’ questions:
- Regarding Councillor Ainslie’s comment on the non-designated heritage asset and by
removing the asset would increase its’ designation, officers advised that the issue of
substantial or less than substantial harm specifically related to the designated heritage
assets.
- Streatham had numerous different character types and building typologies in the
conservation area which had informed the design.
- Concerns on the copper cladding material of the design were raised due to the ageing

Page 3

-

-

nature, however officers indicated that the material would be coated copper which was a
durable finishing material.
The design had changed since the application was originally discussed with Lambeth
planning officers and a controlled parking zone had been implemented.
Public meetings had taken place and the design had evolved to take into account the
views of local residents and organisations.
The bookshop and café units would be open to the general public at all times as would
the ground and basement levels of the site.
Transport to the site for worshippers would predominantly be either via public transport
or on foot. The applicant would be required to provide a visitor management plan and
promote sustainable transport options to the site.
The disabled parking spaces available would have electric charging facilities.

The Committee considered the information provided by officers in conjunction with the report
before making the following observations:
- The application would introduce additional community facilities which would be enjoyed
by local residents and organisations.
- The design of the building would add to the townscape of the surrounding area.
- There would be less than substantial harm to the conservation area and the public
benefits would be an improvement from the current site. It was suggested there be a
financial contribution to the collection of rubbish and the securing of a travel
management plan to encourage the applicant to explore group community transport
ideas to reduce car use.
- The demolition would increase carbon emissions.
- The building design would create an inclusive atmosphere.
The Presiding Officer advised that Condition 16 on page 61 of the published report required a
management plan, and that particular condition could be amended to reflect that the
management of the venue should include elements around waste management. It was noted
that it would be difficult to include reference to the adjoining Streatham Green as this was a
public area and had an existing management plan separate from the development site.
Members also wanted to include an informative for the applicant to continue the dialogue with
the Friends of Streatham Green. Officers also confirmed that there was a condition to re-use and
recycle the materials from the existing building which was proposed to be demolished.
18/01093/FUL:
It was MOVED by Councillor O’Hara, SECONDED by Councillor Clark
And
RESOLVED, unanimously

1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing
the planning obligations listed in the report and subject to the following:
a. Amendment to condition 16 (Venue Management Plan) to include the requirement for
details of on-site waste management measures to minimise potential for littering in the
surrounding area.

Page 4
b. To include an informative to capture the Committee’s request that the applicant continue
dialogue with the local community organisation Friends of Streatham Green.
c. To include an informative to capture the Committee’s request that the Travel Plan include
details of measures to encourage the use of ride-sharing such as minibuses.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of committee,
delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse
planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the mitigating
contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

3 Denby Court 99 and 109 Lambeth Walk (Princes) 20/04425/RG3
Case No. 20/04425/RG3, (agenda item 3, page 95 of the agenda pack, page 15 of the first
addendum, page 12 in the second addendum).
The Presiding Officer highlighted that in response to a public representation seeking a Member
site visit, there was not a requirement for Members to hold a site visit and, as detailed in the
Council’s Constitution, site visits should only be requested where the benefit was clear and
substantial. The Presiding Officer indicated that officers had visited the site and illustrated the site
using photographs and aerial mapping in the Committee report and officer presentation.
The Planning Officer introduced the item and advised the proposal was for redevelopment of two
Council owned properties at 99 and 109 Lambeth Walk with new housing, to be built by Homes for
Lambeth. The officer drew attention to the 1st and 2nd addendums which provide corrections,
amended text to the report and conditions and addressed further submissions and advised
Members that if they had any questions or needed clarification on any of the matters in the
addendums that officers would provide further responses.
Members were made aware there was one resident still living at the site, but that they had signed
a lease for a new home from 7 March and had requested more time to move their possessions
and would be moving shortly.
The Officer also noted that Cllr Kevin Craig of Bishop’s ward had advised in writing that following
revisiting the plans and debate around the scheme that he removed his objection.
The second addendum included responses to comments on the daylight and sunlight assessment
and in respect of an alternative development scheme.
The Officer described the site and former uses, relevant designations and the surrounding
context. The officer also gave details of the application, which proposed 141 new homes with 50%
to be affordable by habitable room). Existing buildings would be replaced with five new buildings
ranging from 4-11 storeys, with associated landscaping and Blue Badge parking only.
The officer explained the main planning issues as set out in the committee report, summarising
the assessment for each. Land use, affordable housing and design and townscape impacts were
all satisfactory.

Page 5
In respect of heritage impacts, the site is not in a conservation area and has no listed buildings.
Lambeth Walk and China Walk Conservation Area is opposite to the north and there are various
other conservation areas in the locality. The Grade II listed former Lilian Baylis school is to the
south. The Westminster World Heritage Site (WHS) is to the north-east, but the development does
not have any impact on any of its designated viewpoints. The new buildings would obscure a view
of the Victoria Tower at Westminster from the adjacent Lambeth Walk Doorstep Green as shown
images presented to the Committee. The officer noted this was a distant view, but it does allow
the WHS building to be appreciated and as such officers found a very low degree of less than
substantial harm and there was some degree of conflict with policy Q19 of the Local Plan and
policies HC1 and HC2 of the London Plan. Officers concluded that on balance and giving great
weight to the conservation of heritage assets, the public benefits provide clear and convincing
justification for the less than substantial heritage harm identified.
The Council’s Daylight and Sunlight consultant provided a summary of the impacts on
neighbouring properties with regards to the BRE guidelines for daylight, sunlight and
overshadowing. The consultant noted there is currently minimal massing on the site and many
neighbouring properties to site have high levels of daylight and sunlight. For impacts to
neighbouring daylight both the Vertical Sky Component and Daylight Distribution were assessed.
Members were shown window maps and tables that illustrated the changes to levels of daylight
and sunlight to neighbours, and the consultant advised Members of the degree of change,
mitigating factors and which properties would experience minor, moderate and major adverse
impacts. There would be properties where impacts did not meet the BRE guidelines.
Other main planning issues including housing quality and mix, sustainability, trees and ecology
were discussed as well as other matters including transport, fire safety and wind microclimate
which were all considered acceptable with a range of conditions and planning obligations
recommended to secure details and mitigation as necessary.
In respect of the planning balance, there was a very level of less than substantial heritage harm to
the Westminster World Heritage Site (WHS) but this was outweighed by the public benefits of the
development, primarily from the delivery of 141 new homes, with 50% affordable housing.
The Officer concluded that approval was recommended, subject to conditions and a s106
agreement to secure planning obligations.
The Committee then heard the following points from objectors:
- The design of the buildings and the homes caused more damage to the existing site and
neighbouring properties as there would be a breach of BRE guidelines.
- There would be a loss of the protected views to accommodate the proposal.
- There would be 5,000 tonnes of carbon released through the embodied energy.
- A resident indicated that Lambeth Walk was used by local residents and their families in
the summer evenings and that it provided a hub of community life.
- The sunlight on the public garden in the area of Lambeth Walk provided social and mental
health benefits. However, the proposal would overshadow this area.
The following points were raised in support of the application:
- The development was important for high quality homes to be built within the Borough and
this proposal would introduce 141 high quality homes including a policy compliant level of
affordable housing.
- The proposal would have private outdoor amenity space, walking and cycling initiatives, an
increase in the current biodiversity on site and contribute to the historic character of the
area.
Councillor David Amos, Councillor Joanne Simpson and Councillor Jon Davies, from Prince’s
Ward, raised the following points:

Page 6
-

Local residents’ views were reflected in the updated design of the proposal and the
proposal would benefit and improve the housing crisis that the Borough was facing.
The current buildings were not fit to be occupied and needed improving which this scheme
would provide.
The scheme would provide benefits for the local community which included high quality
social housing within the area.

At 9:58pm the Committee agreed to suspend standing orders and continue the meeting until
10:45pm.
Councillor Thackray proposed a motion to defer the item, however the motion was not carried.
Officers provided the following in response to Members’ questions:
- The Council’s daylight and sunlight consultant stated that assessments were made
between the current level of sunlight received by the adjoining green space and the
proposed sunlight conditions. Officers confirmed that the level would meet BRE guidelines.
- There were no proposals to add lighting outside of the site.
- The relevant carbon emissions policy sets pa minimum target of a 35% carbon reduction
with development to achieve zero carbon, with any shortfall met through a contribution. In
this case there would be a £290,000 contribution from the application to meet the zerocarbon requirement.
- The main cause of the adverse daylight impacts would be the increased height and
massing including from the tallest element. Officers confirmed that for occupants
experiencing major adverse impacts, those being 40% reductions, the loss of daylight
would be appreciable.
- The energy strategy would be designed to consider the cost for occupants. The design of
the building would meet contemporary standards for energy efficiency and contribute to
reducing energy costs. The energy system applied across the building with air source heat
pumps and photovoltaic panels throughout. It was also confirmed that there would be good
daylight levels to all units.
- Officers clarified the image showing the impact on the World Heritage Site was not a
verified photograph and that in real life more detail would be visible, and it would be larger
but that it is still a distant view.
Councillor Thackray proposed a motion to defer the item stating that the time left for the
discussion was inadequate, however the motion was not carried.
The Committee considered the information provided by officers in conjunction with the report
before making the following observations:
- Regarding the concerns about impact on the WHS and protected views, Members were
reassured that there would be a low degree of less than substantial harm to the setting of
the Westminster WHS.
- There would be moderate to major adverse harm on daylight and sunlight levels to
neighbouring properties, but the public benefits had been noted.
- One Member commented that the breaches to local plan policies, the carbon offsetting and
the urban design elements were unacceptable.
The Presiding Officer stated that one of the Ward Councillor representations, suggested the
applicant provide a green screen for the adjoining Purple Jay Nursery. The Presiding Officer noted
that proposed Condition 6, required for details of dust and noise mitigation measures during the
construction phase to be approved and this could be amended to add wording “including but not

Page 7
limited to Purple Jay Nursery”.
The Transport Officer confirmed construction access routes would be from Lambeth Walk onto
Lambeth Road and not from Fitzalan Street.
The Planning Officer confirmed that there would not be direct access from the site to Lambeth
Doorstep Green following advice against this by the Secure by Design Officer.
20/04425/RG3:
It was MOVED by Councillor O’Hara, SECONDED by Councillor Clark
And
RESOLVED, 4 votes for and 1 vote against:

1. To GRANT conditional planning permission including a Grampian condition requiring the
completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) containing the planning obligations listed in the report and any direction as may be
received following further referral to the Mayor of London, and subject to

a. Amendment to condition 6 to include the following additional wording - ‘including, but not
limited to, Purple Jay Nursery’.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of committee,
delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse
planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the mitigating
contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

The meeting ended at 10.31 pm
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 14 June 2022
Date of Despatch: Tuesday 31 May 2022
Contact for Enquiries: Farah Hussain / Rob O’Sullivan
Tel: 020 7926 4201 / 020 7926 1427
E-mail: fhussain1@lambeth.gov.uk / rosullivan@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 9

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES
Tuesday 29 March 2022 at 7.00 pm
Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

PRESENT:

Councillor Scott Ainslie (Substitute), Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor
Scarlett O'Hara (Vice-Chair), Councillor Ben Kind (Substitute), Councillor
Mohammed Seedat, Councillor Iain Simpson and Councillor Joanne Simpson
(Chair)

APOLOGIES:

Councillor Ibrahim Dogus and Councillor Becca Thackray

1

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
There were no pecuniary interests; however, Councillor Joanne Simpson highlighted that she
was a candidate for Stockwell West and Larkhall Ward in the Local Government election on 5
May 2022, which the development for Item 3 was situated in. Councillor Simpson advised of a
leaflet which she had signed which referenced the application, but that she could consider the
application with an open mind.

2

72 Upper Ground (Bishops) 21/02668/EIAFUL
Case No. 21/02668/EIAFUL, (agenda item 2, page 15 of the agenda pack, page 9 of the first
addendum and page 9 of the second addendum).
The Presiding Officer provided an update on the site visit that took place on Saturday 26 March
and a written record was taken by officers including locations visited, questions asked by
Members in attendance and the responses provided by officers.
Before the case officer gave his presentation a verbal update was provided on the public
representations received from the National Theatre and additional wording proposed to
Condition 4 (Demolition and Environmental Management Plan) and Condition 12 (Construction
and Environmental Management Plan) to set out additional requirements to minimise impact to
the National Theatre during demolition and construction works.
The case officer started the presentation on the proposed development, which included the
following points:
-

The site comprised of a 25-storey building with a four-storey podium and was located in
the Waterloo Opportunity Area and London’s Central Activities Zone (CAZ).
The pre-application phase began in April 2020 and a total of 21 meetings had taken
place with Council officers covering design, layout, massing, public realm and landscape,
employment and cultural uses, daylight/sunlight impacts, sustainability, and transport. In
addition, the proposal was presented to the Council’s Growth and Investment Panel
twice and the Design Review Panel (DRP) twice.

Page 10
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

The applicant carried out a public engagement program during the pre-application stage.
The development would provide high-quality office floorspace that prioritises wellbeing,
sustainability and productivity for its future occupants. The form of the buildings provides
adaptable floorplates that would allow for flexibility and appeal to a variety of sectors and
occupants.
The proposed development would provide flexible commercial units at the ground level of
the building along the northern and eastern sides of the site for use as retail, restaurants,
cafes, and bars to activate these frontages and support the primary employment
floorspace.
There would be a discount of up to 90 per cent for charities and not-for-profit
organisations committed to supporting disadvantaged young people in the creative and
tech industries.
There would be a £1.1 million employment and skills payment towards specialist jobs to
support local people. The development was predicted to create in the region of 4,319
jobs, once it was ready for use.
The position of the towers and height of the podium mass was informed by the strategic
protected view that passes through the site from Westminster Pier to St Paul’s. The
overall height was limited to protect the setting of Somerset House. The height stepped
down to the eastern boundary and a lower height towards the river to respond to the
site’s context.
The proposal was considered with regards to tall building policies, being policy D9 of the
London Plan and policy Q26 of the Lambeth Local Plan. These policies apply a design
led approach and identify locations where tall buildings are appropriate, contained in the
Lambeth Local Plan. The officer clarified that the proposal had been considered against
both relevant parts of Lambeth Local Plan policy Q26, which has assessment criteria for
tall buildings at identified locations as well as for other locations not specifically identified
as an appropriate location. Officers were content that there was clear and convincing
justification to demonstrate the appropriateness of both tall building elements and that
the criteria of the policy was met. As such the proposal was considered to comply with
tall building policies D9 and Q26.
The proposed public realm comprises 40% of the site area, would open up to Queen’s
Walk, and includes generous areas of planting with a significant uplift in urban greening
and biodiversity value.
With regards to heritage impacts, officers identified a low degree of less than substantial
harm to the settings of three designated heritage assets, including the South Bank
Conservation Area, Roupell Street Conservation Area, and the Grade I Listed Somerset
House.
The GLA and Historic England identified less than substantial harm to the setting of the
Grade II Listed IBM building and Grade II Listed National Theatre, and Historic England
identified that there would be a low degree of less than substantial harm to the setting of
the Grade I Listed St Paul’s Cathedral in the view from Westminster Pier.
The daylight and sunlight assessment highlighted that some of the neighbouring
properties would have a major adverse effect from the proposal and others would have a
moderately adverse effect.
The proposal would remove 105 car parking spaces from the existing site and sought to
further reduce vehicle trips by consolidating deliveries and implementing a Travel Plan
that promotes sustainable modes of travel. The development proposes 1,176 long-stay
cycle parking spaces at the basement level.
There would be a 43% improvement over baseline emissions for regulated CO2
emissions and an offset S106 agreement payment of approximately £1.58 million for Net
Zero Carbon Emissions. The proposal targets an ‘Outstanding’ BREEAM rating for the

Page 11
office areas and would achieve ‘Excellent’ ratings for the cultural and retail uses.
The Committee then heard the following points in objection to the application:
- A local resident in a neighbouring property to the south of the site noted that the daylight
to her living room, would be reduced by 63.5 per cent. The worst effected flats and
houses could accommodate 86 people. Chronic light deprivation causes depression and
mental health disorders.
- A local resident noted that impacts on light would affect social housing units. The
proposal would also impact on light levels to open and green spaces. Florence Eshalomi
MP had 1,354 signatures on a petition against the application.
- The representative for the National Theatre set out three points of concern:
- 1. The misleading characterisation of the Historic England position in its written
representation, which Members have been told is concluded as “less than substantial
harm”, but the Historic England advice actually uses the terminology “presence of listed
buildings in this area would be diminished” and that there would be a disproportionate
impact on the site. Nowhere does it state that this would be less than substantial harm.
- 2. There was no policy support for the tall building on the riverside, and there was no
justification to support it because of the Historic England conclusions of significant
heritage impacts. The Southern Tower exceeded the guidance for a height limit of 100m.
The proposal did not compliment the adjoining listed buildings in façade design, structure
or materials.
- 3. The National Theatre requested for conditions have only been partly met and do not
include restrictions on carrying out works at certain times.
The following points were raised in support of the application:
- The development site was the former ITV studios, and the building currently was
uninviting and made no positive contribution to the South Bank experience. The
developer wanted to change this, and the proposal presented an opportunity in the postpandemic economic recovery.
- The proposal would create world class workspace, with creative and cultural uses,
restaurants and public spaces.
- The proposal includes much needed office space for businesses of all sizes to
collaborate and would provide jobs and employment to local people, including 1,700
construction jobs and 4,000 jobs during operation with 25 per cent of jobs being created
for local residents.
- The design of the building was inspired from the unique architectural and historic
heritage of the area and would reinforce the character of the South Bank.
- The building addressed Twenty-First Century needs, promoting mental health and
wellbeing of the organisations within the building and inclusion of garden terraces or
balconies on every floor.
- The site would maximise biodiversity and was designed to the highest sustainability
standards, it would be fossil fuel free and net zero carbon in use.
Councillor Jennie Mosley and Councillor Kevin Craig, Bishop’s Ward Councillors, raised the
following points:
- The current proposal would bring harm to the local residents and organisations due to
the size and design.
- The design would not enhance the local architecture or benefit the local community.
- The negative impact on daylight and sunlight on neighbouring properties and residents
would be significant.
- The designated purpose for the office and working space would not benefit the local

Page 12
-

community due to the hybrid working approach organisations had in place.
The proposal was an overbearing and bulky building.
Historic England had stated that the proposal would cause harm to nearby heritage
assets including the South Bank Conservation Area.

Officers provided the following information in response to Members’ questions:
- Following a request from council officers Historic England provided an email following
their initial advice clarifying that where they identified harm that this was less than
substantial harm to heritage assets, including Roupell Street Conservation Area,
Somerset House, IBM Building and the National Theatre.
- The design of the building was articulated to break up the massing of the bulk and scale
of the proposal with a layered effect to reflect the adjoining listed buildings in a
contemporary fashion.
- The façade included alternating transparent windows and white laminated glass, which
created a layering effect. The design would maximise the amount of natural light into the
building and would reduce reflectivity.
- The design maximised active frontage all around the site, however it would be difficult to
provide active frontages to every part of the frontage, so there would be small areas
which would have less activity, but these would be provided with interesting treatments in
materials and greenery.
- The plant area was not located at ground level and therefore would not create noise and
air quality issues to the public realm.
- The sky pod is a rooftop space that would be part of the roof level restaurant on the river
front building providing views across London.
- The applicant team and officers had engaged in meetings with Historic England
regarding the proposal’s proximity with listed buildings. Historic England had confirmed
with the council’s conservation officer that the proposal would cause less than substantial
harm in their overview of heritage assets.
The Committee adjourned the meeting from 20:57 until 21:07. Then Members’ questions
continued with the following information provided by officers in response:
- 10 per cent of the development would be provided as affordable workspace, which was
in line with the Local plan policy requirement in terms of area; however, the type of
creative space and discounts proposed by the applicant would deliver cheaper space
than conventional affordable office space.
- The cultural space is proposed to be publicly accessible and is designed with the ability
to host events and exhibitions.
- The creative space would be available for a period of 15 years with a 50 per cent rental
discount to an affordable workspace operator. The policy requirement was for a period of
15 years; however, this could be extended by the building landlord at a future stage.
- The Council’s Culture, Enterprise and Skills team had worked closely with the applicant
and engaged with a large number of local groups to help shape the proposed affordable
workspace and cultural offer.
- The restaurant and sky pod would be a publicly accessible use but was not offered as a
free-to-access area, therefore it was not included as a public benefit.
- The site was protected by the Thames Flood Barrier and the flood risk assessment finds
that the site was at a low risk of flooding including consideration of climate change
impacts.
- Officers clarified that 40 per cent of the site area would be provided as public realm in the
proposal, which is a significant uplift from the current site’s provision of 8 per cent.
- The cumulative impact of overshadowing on nearby open spaces includes impacts from

Page 13

-

the nearby extant permission at Doon Street. The case officer confirmed that the extant
permission at Doon Street would also overshadow the properties at Iroko Housing during
the afternoon.
The public realm areas would be all open for access 24 hours a day and the applicant
would offer 24/7 security as there would be no gates or closures.
The application was considered with regard to the tall building policy and the tallest block
in the proposal would be situated in a location designated for a tall building. Whilst the
shorter river fronting block was also a tall building but slightly outside of the area
designated suitable for a tall building in the Local Plan, officers were content that there
was clear justification in support of it in line with the tall buildings policy.

The Committee considered the information provided by officers in conjunction with the report
before making the following observations:
- The development would have an impact on the South Bank area the increase in height
and massing from what was currently on the site was acknowledged. However, the
design reflected character of neighbouring IMB and National Theatre buildings.
- Impacts on daylight to nearby properties is regrettable but is a central location and the
levels of loss are acceptable.
- Improvements to public realm in the South Bank would provide easier and safer access.
- The development would provide affordable creative workplace in a prime location within
Central London.
- There would also be a positive contribution to biodiversity in the area.
- The design was interesting that distinguished itself from others nearby and would not
have an adverse effect on the skyline overall.
- Permeability on either side of building created by public realm.
- Impacts on neighbouring properties was not unexpected in parts of central London such
as this.
- There would be less than substantial harm to heritage assets, but on balance the public
benefits of the proposal including affordable workspace, transport improvements and
public realm improvements outweigh this harm.
- The impact on the National Theatre should hold significant weight with the bulk, massing
and scale of the proposal in proximity to the Theatre.
- There would be embodied carbon created by the development which would require
carbon offsetting.
- The proposal would contribute to the cohesive feel towards the South Bank area and
would provide jobs and creative space to the Borough.
At 9:55pm the Committee agreed to suspend standing orders and continue the meeting until
10:45pm.
The Committee continued making the following observations:
- There were concerns raised about the design, which was acknowledged as a subjective
matter.
- There would be an impact on the daylight and sunlight on residents’ dwellings with
significant harm caused to certain dwellings; but on balance, the application would be
acceptable.
21/02668/EIAFUL:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor Clark
And

Page 14
RESOLVED, with six votes for and one vote against

1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and any direction as
may be received following further referral to the Mayor of London.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a.
Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of committee,
delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse
planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the mitigating
contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

3

118-120 Larkhall Lane, 56A and 56B and Land Adjoining Baptist Church (Larkhall)
21/04093/RG3
Case No. 21/04093/RG3, (agenda item 3, page 163 of the agenda pack, page 21 of the first
addendum and page 14 of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer introduced the report and highlighted the following information:
- Brought Members’ attention to and provided a summary of the matters contained within
the published addenda.
- The proposed Section 106 agreement heads of terms are updated to reference the
£70,000 financial contribution towards the delivery of healthy routes network
improvements, which was agreed by the applicant. Officers considered the buildings to
be well designed and would contribute positively to the townscape and integrate well with
the established urban structure and public realm.
- The proposal would create 127 new dwellings, of which 57 would be affordable homes
(equating to 50.1% by habitable rooms), deliver an increase in biodiversity, make
sufficient commitment to sustainability, and included improvements to public realm street
frontages on Larkhall Lane and Courland Grove.
The following points were raised in support of the application:
- The Homes for Lambeth programme sought to maximise delivery of low-cost rent homes,
providing better homes for current secure tenants and those on the Council’s waiting list.
- Lambeth has 30,000 people on the council’s housing waiting list, including 5,000
children. Those families need new homes urgently and Homes for Lambeth is delighted
to bring these much-needed proposals forward.
- The applicant had consulted at pre-application stage with officers, the Design Review
Panel and the local community, in particular the Friends of Larkhall Park who they met
on 8 separate occasions to update them on scheme progress and engage with them on
design process.
- Development would provide replacement employment and community floorspace

Page 15
designed by architects to be flexible and accommodate a wide range of end users.
Officers provided the following information in response to Members’ questions:
- The method of construction would utilise a hybrid solution of timber and other materials.
- Whole Life Cycle Assessment (WLC) submitted and considered acceptable.
- Applicant’s architect explained that using mass timber within construction had some
constraints. One of the outcomes of a review of high-rise residential buildings was that
buildings above 18m were no longer permitted to have combustible material in the
external wall.
- Architect explained that small houses could not be constructed from timber as Mayor’s
recent guidance on grant funding prohibits combustible materials at any height.
- The community floor space had been designed to be flexible and appeal to a wide range
of end user groups. The floor space would be of a much higher quality than the existing
floor space which was within portacabins.
- Applicant has engaged Locality who have undertaken consultation with neighbours,
various community groups including Friends of Larkhall Park to help inform what the
community space can be used for.
- The proposed space was reviewed by the Council, who considered that the themes
indicated by the applicant around children and young people, climate change, enterprise
and employment, health and wellbeing, community uses within cultural sector would be
well suited to this site.
- The height of the building was at the lower end of the threshold for tall buildings within
Lambeth. The tall building stepped down towards the residential along Larkhall Lane.
The materials included a brick base with textured panels on upper floors to create
interest.
- It was confirmed that the existing building (Eurotower) was taller than the tallest of the
proposed buildings.
- The hard and soft landscaping condition required the applicant to look further at Urban
Greening and see if the Urban Greening Factor (UGF) could be increased to 0.4 to meet
policy requirements.
The Committee considered the information provided by officers in conjunction with the report
before making the following observations:
- The design was considerate for the surrounding area and the public benefits outweighed
the negative impacts, in continuing to provide homes for people in the borough and just
over 50 affordable homes.
- The building would use sustainable materials in the construction phase.
- The request by the Friends of Larkhall Park for a basement to be included was noted.
However, the Committee was satisfied with officers’ reasons for discounting that being
financial reasons, excavation of the basement is expensive but also sustainability
reasons not sustainable option.
21/04093/RG3:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor O’Hara
And
RESOLVED, unanimously

1. To GRANT conditional planning permission, subject to the completion of an agreement, under

Page 16
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing the planning
obligations listed in this report and any direction as may be received following further referral to
the Mayor of London.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes.
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 (six) months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability
to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the mitigating
contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

4

Hungerford Coach Park At South Bank (Bishops) 22/00117/FUL, 22/00118/ADV
Case Nos. 22/00117/FUL, 22/00118/ADV (agenda item 4, page 321 of the agenda pack, and
page 26 of the second addendum).
The Chair decided that there would be no officer presentation for this application.
Officers provided the following information in response to Members’ questions:
- The changes to the application since the last time it came to a committee meeting were
that there were fewer trader outlets.
- There were no changes to the opening hours and there were similar numbers of cafes
proposed.
The Committee considered the information provided by officers in conjunction with the report
before making the following observations:

22/00117/FUL:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor Kind
And
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise
the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC minutes.

22/00118/ADV:
Moved Councillor J Simpson, seconded Councillor O’Hara
And

Page 17
RESOLVED unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional express advertisement consent
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise
the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC minutes.

The meeting ended at 10.36 pm
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 14 June 2022
Date of Despatch: Tuesday 31 May 2022
Contact for Enquiries: Farah Hussain
Tel: 020 7926 4201
E-mail: fhussain1@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 19

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES
Tuesday 12 April 2022 at 7.00 pm
Committee Room (B6) - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW

PRESENT:

Councillor Ibrahim Dogus, Councillor Paul Gadsby (Substitute), Councillor
Scarlett O'Hara (Vice-Chair), Councillor Mohammed Seedat and Councillor
Joanne Simpson (Chair)

APOLOGIES:

Councillor Malcolm Clark, Councillor Iain Simpson and Councillor Becca
Thackray

1

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
There were none, however Councillor Scarlett O’Hara notified the committee that she was the
applicant for Item 5 and would be stepping down from the committee for that item.

2

Minutes
RESOLVED: That the minutes from the 1 February and 22 February 2022 meetings were
agreed as the correct records of proceedings.
Guillotine arrangements
The Chair announced a provisional timetable for the meeting in accordance with Standing Order
9.9.1.

3

452-456 Brixton Road & 1-11 Dorrell Place (Ferndale) 21/01127/FUL
Case No. 21/01127/FUL, (agenda item 3, page 23 of the agenda pack, page 9 of the first
addendum and page 11 of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer notified the committee that it had come to light that notice had not been
served on all owners of the land to which the application related, which was a significant
procedural issue. The serving of notice on all owners of the land was a legislative requirement
and as such the application could not be determined. The officer recommendation was to defer
the consideration of this item and bring it back to a later committee meeting when the correct
notice had been served.
The Chair proposed that the item be deferred to a future meeting.
21/01127/FUL
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor O’Hara
And

Page 20
RESOLVED, unanimously:
To defer consideration of the application.

4

The South Bank Centre, Belvedere Road (Bishops) 22/00339/FUL, 22/00343/ADV
and 22/00342/LB
Case Nos. 22/00339/FUL, 22/00343/ADV and 22/00342/LB, (agenda item 4, page 101 of the
agenda pack, page 13 of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer advised that in the second addendum, conditions relating to the closing
time for the stage and bars had been amended to 23:00 on all days except during the 15 to 17
July, where it would be 01:00. The council’s noise specialist had advised that the change would
not result in an unacceptable amenity impact and was satisfied that there would be no audible
noise between 23:00 and 10:00 the next morning. The Planning Officer stated that:







From previous years, the site layout was largely unchanged, and the duration of the
event was in line with previous years, apart from 2020 which had been impacted by the
Covid-19 pandemic.
There would be less than substantial harm to the setting of the Westminster World
Heritage Site.
There would be a decrease in area from the application that came to Committee in 2021,
due to the change in policy. Officers stated that it was important to protect local views,
and this had been acknowledged in the application.
If full planning permission was granted, it needed to be in line with the recommended
amendments to the conditions.

The Chair then moved to a vote.
22/00339/FUL:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor O’Hara
And
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise the
recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums, and/or PAC minutes.
22/00343/ADV:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor Gadsby
And
RESOLVED, unanimously:
1. To GRANT express advertisement consent.

Page 21
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise the
recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums, and/or PAC minutes.
22/00342/LB:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor Seedat
And
RESOLVED, unanimously:
1. To GRANT listed building consent.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise the
recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or PAC minutes.
Councillor Scarlett O’Hara stepped down from the meeting and left the room before
consideration of the next item.

5

54 Wolfington Road (Knights Hill) 22/00345/FUL
Case No. 22/00345/FUL, (agenda item 5, page 139 of the agenda pack).
The Planning Officer introduced the report and noted that the application was for the erection of
the ground floor rear extension and the installation of one new window. The following was stated
by the Planning Officer:






There were no heritage considerations as the site was not a listed building and was not
in a conservation area.
The extension was of an appropriate scale, visually subordinate to the host building and
the material palette of dark grey bricks and a dark grey window was acceptable.
A green roof was proposed and would provide biodiversity improvements on the site.
The proposal would be taller than the neighbouring building’s extension and would be
larger in terms of its’ depth.
The neighbouring building would retain appropriate levels of daylight, sunlight, privacy
and there would be no undue sense of enclosure.

The Chair then moved to a vote.
22/00345/FUL:
It was MOVED by Councillor J Simpson, SECONDED by Councillor Dogus
And
RESOLVED, unanimously:

1.

To GRANT conditional planning permission.

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Development to
finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes.

Page 22

The meeting ended at 7.25 pm
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 14 June 2022
Date of Despatch: Tuesday 31 May 2022
Contact for Enquiries: Farah Hussain
Tel: 020 7926 4201
E-mail: fhussain1@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3

Page 23

LAMBETH PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Case Number:

21/04767/FUL

Application Address: 146-156 Brixton Hill & 5-6 Water Works SW2 1SE
ndmill
used)

Tanks

Pumping Station

Shelter

George IV
(PH)
Pump House
ESSs
33.8m
LB

33.5m
Stone

Stone

El
Sub StaTCBs
Stone

Brixton Hill
Methodist Church

Legend

35.8m

El
Sub
Sta

Scale:

0

12.5

25

50
Meters

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery
Office © Crown Copyright 2012.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
L.B. Lambeth LA 100019338

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 25
ADDRESS:

146-156 Brixton Hill and 5-6 Waterworks Road London SW2 1SE

Application Number: 21/04767/FUL
Case Officer: Brandan Wilkinson
Ward: Brixton Acre Lane
Date Received: 19.03.2021
Proposal:
Demolition of the existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide a multi-storey urban
industrial and logistics estate comprising 2, two-storey buildings in Use Classes E (research and
development of products or processes, or any industrial process suitable in residential areas),
B2(General industrial), B8 (Storage or distribution) and Sui Generis (Dark Kitchen) together with
cycle parking and disabled car parking provision, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.
Applicant:
Agent:
AG Bloom LML B. V
DP9 Ltd
RECOMMENDATION:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) containing the planning obligations listed in this report.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability
to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning,
Transport and Sustainability, having regard to the heads of terms set out in this
report, addendums and/or PAC minutes, to negotiate and complete a document
containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended) in order to meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.
4. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in this report, addendums
and/or the PAC minutes.

Page 26

SITE DESIGNATIONS
Relevant site designations:
Conservation Area (CA)
Archaeological Priority Area
Flood Zone
Brixton Creative Enterprise Zone
CAA Helipad Safeguarding Zone
Locally Listed Building

Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area (CA49)
Roman Road (Reference A4)
Flood Zone 1

144 Brixton Hill, a locally listed former public house
(adjoining the site)

Open space deficiency
LAND USE DETAILS
Site area (ha):

Existing

0.343ha / 3430 sq.m
Use Class

Use Description

B2

Vehicle repair garage and
tyre fitting centre (Sui
Generis)
Storage or distribution.

B8
Total
Proposed

Flexible E (g) (ii & iii) /
B2 / B8
(Units A, B & C)

Flexible E (g) (ii & iii) /
B2 / B8 / Dark Kitchen
(Sui Generis)
(Units E & D)

Floorspace (sq.m)
(Gross Internal Area)
624

1166
1790

Research and development
of products or processes or
any Industrial process
(suitable in residential area),
or General industrial or
Storage or distribution.

1915

Research and development
of products or processes or
any Industrial process
(suitable in residential area),
or General industrial or
Storage or distribution or
Dark Kitchen (Sui Generis).

1035

Total

2950

PARKING DETAILS

Existing
Proposed

Car Parking Spaces
(General)

Car Parking Spaces
(Disabled)

Bike
Spaces

17
0

1
5

0
18

Motorcycle
Spaces
0
0

Page 27

LEGAL SERVICES CLEARANCE
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Peter Flockhart
Senior Lawyer

Lambeth
department
Legal Services

Date Sent

Date Received

26/05/2022

31/05/2022

Report
Cleared
31/05/2022

Comments
in para:
I Throughout
document

Page 28
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
i.

Full planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the Site comprising demolition of all
existing buildings and structures and provision of a new multi-storey urban industrial and logistics
estate comprising of 2, two-storey buildings separated by a service yard, together with associated
access, servicing, parking, and landscaping. A total of 5 industrial units (A-E) are proposed within the
new buildings. The development would provide flexible industrial floorspace comprising Class E (g)
(ii & iii) / B2 / B8 / Sui Generis (Dark Kitchen). Each unit would include ancillary office space at first
floor level.

ii.

The proposed development would provide a flexible suite of industrial uses at an appropriate location
that would support planning policy objectives by targeting logistics, essential industrial-related
services, SMEs, ‘last mile’ distribution operators and emerging sectors in a location accessible to the
strategic road network.

iii.

The proposal is seen as a welcome intensification of industrial uses on an underutilised nondesignated industrial site (industrial sites outside of Key Industrial and Business Areas). The
development would provide high-quality industrial floorspace that is fit for purpose, with a wide range
of unit sizes that include flexible internal layouts and generous floor- to- ceiling heights. The proposal
also includes a practical and purpose-designed site layout with operational yard spaces.

iv.

The proposed new industrial floorspace would result in an uplift in the number of jobs created on the
site, with additional employment and skills benefits through local training (secured within an
Employment and Skills Plan) and an Employment and Training financial contribution of £23,703.

v.

The proposed development represents a significant improvement on the buildings that currently
occupy the site, being of a sympathetic and high-quality design that would positively respond to its
surroundings. A quality of design finish would be secured by recommended planning conditions.
Officers consider that no harm would be caused to any of the identified heritage assets as a result of
the development. The removal of the site’s existing buildings, which currently detract from the
conservation’s (CA) character and appearance, and the completion/infilling of the currently under
scaled urban block would enhance the character and appearance of the CA.

vi.

The development provides an opportunity for better landscaping and planting in and around the site
and would represent an overall enhancement when compared to the Site’s existing condition
dominated by hard landscaping and very little greenery. The proposal’s soft landscaping is of good
quality and would optimise the biodiversity of the site.

vii.

Whilst the design does increase massing on the Site, the development would not have an
unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of any surrounding properties. The scheme’s
massing and layout have been carefully developed in consultation with planning officers to steer this
away from sensitive locations. There would be no unacceptable impact on daylight and sunlight to
properties nor to external amenity spaces, privacy, outlook, or visual amenity of neighbouring
occupiers. Several conditions are recommended to ensure that operational activities do not cause
noise nuisance or general disturbance to the adjoining occupiers and of the area generally. These
include a requirement to submit for approval by the LPA, a bespoke operational management plan
(OMP) for any potential Dark kitchen and/or On Demand Grocers uses. . An OMP would cover the
overall management arrangements of the Dark kitchen and/or On Demand Grocers uses to minimise
any adverse effects on the locality.

viii.

The recommended conditions will suitably control against pollution impacts during both the
construction and operation phases of the development.

ix.

The proposal would be car free, except for five disabled persons parking bays that are proposed on

Page 29
site. This is supported by relevant planning policies and represents a welcome reduction in the
existing car parking provision on the site. t. The local road network can accommodate vehicles
associated with the proposal without risk to highway or pedestrian safety. The development would
achieve a safe and suitable access for all users of the highway, with no conflict between pedestrians,
cycles and vehicles.
x.

The energy strategy commits to achieving 64.1% improvement over baseline emissions for regulated
CO2 emissions, which surpasses the minimum requirements in the London Plan, and would
ultimately achieve net zero carbon emissions through a carbon offset payment secured in the s106
agreement. The proposal will also achieve an ‘Excellent’ rating.

xi.

The proposal is also considered acceptable in terms of its, flood risk mitigation, waste storage
provision and site security.

xii.

The development would be subject to a range of financial contributions and other planning
obligations secured through a s106 legal agreement that would reasonably mitigate the otherwise
unacceptable impacts of the development. The package of financial contributions and planning
obligations has been negotiated having full regard to the nature of the development, to the normal
expectations conferred upon developers by national, regional and local planning policy, and to the
statutory tests for section 106 obligations set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations

xiii.

Officers consider that the proposed development would comply with the development plan for the
borough and there are no material considerations of sufficient weight that would dictate that the
application should be refused. Officers are therefore recommending approval of the proposed
development, subject to conditions and completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

Page 30
OFFICER REPORT
Reason for referral to PAC: The application is reported to the Planning Applications Committee in
accordance with clause (1) b of the Committee’s terms of reference as it relates to a major
application for the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created including
changes of use, by the development is 1,000 square metres or more.
1

THE APPLICATION SITE

1.1

The application site (‘the Site’) covers an area of approximately 0.343ha and is located on the western
side of Brixton Hill, between Jebb Avenue and Waterworks Road. Brixton Hill forms part of the
Transport for London Road Network (TLRN). Jebb Avenue and Waterworks Road are both private
unadopted roads leading off Brixton Hill and are no-through roads. Jebb Avenue provides access to
HM Prison Brixton and Waterworks Road provides access to a Thames Water treatment plant.
Waterworks Road is not registered with the Land Registry.

1.2

The Site comprises 146-156 Brixton Hill, a vehicle repair garage and tyre fitting centre (B2 Sui
Generis); 5-6 Waterworks Road, in Class B8 use (Storage or distribution) and a rear service yard. The
Site is therefore considered a non-designated industrial site. Non-designated industrial sites are
defined in the London Plan as sites containing industrial and related functions that are not formally
designated as Locally Significant Industrial Sites in the Local Plan. In Lambeth, this means industrial
sites outside of KIBAs.

Figure 1: Site location shown edged in red

Page 31
1.3

146 - 156 Brixton Hill is an uncharacteristically low single-storey brick building, with low brick gable
and uniform arches that fronts onto Brixton Hill. The main access to 146 - 156 Brixton Hill is off Jebb
Avenue, which is approximately 10m from the Brixton Hill/Jebb Avenue signalled junction.

1.4

To the rear of the site is 5 - 6 Waterworks Road, which comprises three connected brick buildings
with shallow metal mono pitched roofs, ranging from one to two storeys in height. The buildings that
form 5 - 6 Waterworks Road and their service yard, are accessed from Waterworks Road, and are
located approximately 50m from the junction with Brixton Hill.

Figure 2: Existing buildings
1.5

The site lies to the south of Brixton, just to the south (and outside of) the designated Waterworks Road
Key Industrial and Business Area (KIBA) and is located within the Brixton Creative Enterprise Zone
(CEZ). The site is also within the Streatham Air Quality Focus Area. Part of the site is in an areas of
open space deficiency.

1.6

The Site lies within the Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area (CA49). The existing
buildings are not statutory or locally listed, however the site is adjacent to No.144 Brixton Hill, a locally
listed former public house, situated at the junction with Waterworks Road. There are no protected
trees on or adjacent to the site.

1.7

The site’s Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating is 4. The site is within Brixton ‘E’
Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ), which has operating hours of 0830 to 1830 Monday to Friday. The site
is on the southeastern edge of the CPZ. An extended Brixton ‘D’ CPZ (Brixton Hill West) includes
Jebb Avenue to the immediate southern end of the site. The A23 Brixton Hill is a major arterial road to
Central London and is part of the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN).

2

THE SURROUNDING AREA

2.1

The immediate surroundings are predominantly residential in character with remnants of the early 19th
Century villas, which once fronted Brixton Hill and set the scale of the later development of shopping
parades with residential upper floors and apartment blocks in the area.

2.2

To the west of the Site is Brixton Waterworks, which comprises a water reservoir dating from 1834,
and an imposing Pump House. The Pump House and its Administration block have been identified in
the Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area Appraisal as being landmark buildings of
considerable historic and architectural interest. The reservoir is an open undeveloped grassed area of
land, which lies adjacent to Blenheim Gardens and the Grade II* Brixton Windmill and allotments. The
residential hinterland beyond is low in scale.

Page 32

2.3

Adjoining the site to the north is the locally listed building at 144 Brixton Hill; a highly decorative late
19th Century former public house (now a retail unit with residential accommodation on upper floors ).
The pub frontage has a canted corner entrance in a Moorish arch and pink granite stallriser, historic
joinery with leaded lights and intricate ironwork, stone balustrades and a copper turret. Three car
parking spaces are provided to the front (forecourt) of the retail unit. The retail unit is also serviced
from this forecourt.

2.4

To the north of the site is Waterworks Road, which is a relatively narrow (3.5m wide) stone cobbled
access road with parking on both sides. Waterworks Road operates as a one lane, two-way sharedsurface. Single storey industrial and retail units line the northern side of Waterworks Road. Further
north along Brixton Hill are the Grade II listed residential buildings at 132-138 Brixton Hill.

2.5

To the south of the site is Jebb Avenue, which is a two-way access road that primarily serves HM
Prison Brixton. HM Prison Brixton, with its central Grade II listed octagonal building, is to the
southwest of the site. To the southern side of Jebb Avenue are five-storey Edwardian housing blocks
that form Renton Close, built in 1906 with an Arts and Crafts aesthetic. The character of the
conservation area changes at this point with later taller residential blocks fronting Brixton Hill, following
the demolition of the villas that once lined Brixton Hill.

2.6

Opposite the Site, along the eastern side of Brixton Hill, is Rush Common. Rush Common consists of
spacious front gardens and public open spaces, which make up a green corridor that dominates
Brixton Hill.

3
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal involves the demolition of all the existing buildings and clearing the site of all structures
to allow the provision of a new multi-storey urban industrial and logistics estate. The proposed
development would comprise 2, two-storey buildings, 2 service yards together with associated access,
parking, and landscaping provision.

Figure 3: CGI of the proposed building as it would appear from Brixton Hill at the junction with
Waterworks Road

Page 33
Building Layout/Massing/ External Appearance
3.2

The proposed development would consist of two blocks; a frontage building on Brixton Hill and a rear
building arranged along the western edge of the site. The buildings would be separated by a service
yard with new acoustic fence running along Jebb Avenue and a sliding vehicular access gate and a
swing pedestrian access gate along Waterworks Road. A second, smaller service yard, is proposed to
front of the site along the Brixton Hill. Due to the operational requirements of the proposed industrial
uses, the proposed floor-to-ceiling heights would be greater than an average storey. Consequently,
the proposed building would be of the equivalent hight of three storeys. The proposed floor-to-ceiling
heights would range from 2.55m to 6.4m.

Figure 4: Proposed axonometric aerial view of the proposed building on the Site
3.3

The frontage building will be approximately 12m in hight and would contain two commercial units,
each occupying 2 floors of accommodation (Units E and D). The building would increase the existing
heights on the Brixton Hill frontage to create a scale like that of the adjoining locally listed former
public house.

3.4

The ‘outward’ facing parts of the building will be finished in brick with vertical ‘hit and miss’ brick
panels containing ground floor openings. The lower portion of the front elevation will terminate in a
simple powder coated metal coping, aligned with the mounding on the former public house (at the
base of its second floor). The rear of the building, facing the central service yard, would consist of a
combination of vertical cladding panels and translucent panels. A wire system would be installed
between the decorative brick panels to allow climbing plants to be planted along the Brixton Hill
elevation.

3.5

The upper floor would consist of a solid metal cladding system with perforated glazed openings and
would terminate at height in line with the front roof parapet of the adjoining former pub.

Page 34

Figure 5: Front elevation of frontage building (viewed from Brixton Hill)
3.6

The rear building will be approximately 13.4m in hight and would contain three commercial units (Units
A, B and C). As with the frontage building, each unit would occupy 2 floors of accommodation. This
building would adopt the same façade treatment as the frontage building, but with the rear and central
service yard elevations consisting of vertical cladding panels and translucent panels. The central
service yard elevation would include ground floor openings.

Figure 6: Front elevation of rear building (viewed from the central service yard)
Access/Parking /Serving
3.7

The development would utilise the two existing access/egress points on Jebb Avenue and Waterworks
Road, with a new and additional pedestrian access point from Brixton Hill.

3.8

The proposal would provide 18 cycle parking spaces located within three cycle stores, with electric
cycle charging points, located across the Site.

3.9

Five disabled persons parking bays are proposed, with one parking space located near the entrance
of each unit, A-E. Eight active electric charging points are proposed, serving 3 business parking bays
and 5 service and delivery vehicle bays.

3.10 Units A, B and C will be serviced from the central service yard, accessed from Waterworks Road.
Units D and E will be serviced from the smaller service yard on the Brixton Hill building forecourt,
accessed from Jebb Avenue. Rigid vehicles, up to 10m in length, would access the central service
yard, whilst the forecourt service yard would be restricted to rigid vehicles of up to 7m in length.
3.11 The central service yard would accommodate all formal waste and recycling storage units. The refuse
storage area for units A, B, D and E would consist of a separate secured bin enclosure, positioned
within the service yard near the rear of unit E. The refuse area for Unit C would be in another separate
enclosure, positioned to the front of unit C with collection from Waterworks Road.

Page 35
Landscaping
3.12 Given the requirement for service yard space in connection with the industrial and logistics use of the
Site, the Site would be mainly hard landscaped with soft landscaping to its perimeter only. The soft
landscaping would comprise of shrub planting (ornamental evergreen Species) in plant beds; climbers
to the acoustic fence on the Jebb Avenue boundary and sections of the building elevations (green
walls) and; 4 London Plane trees planted along the Brixton Hill frontage.
Uses
3.13 The development would provide flexible industrial and urban logistics floorspace comprising General
industrial (Class B2) and/or Storage or distribution (Class B8), Research and development of products
or processes suitable in residential area (Class E (g)(ii)) and/or any Industrial process suitable in
residential area (Class E (g)(iii)) and/or Dark Kitchen (Sui Generis). The Dark Kitchen use shall only
be permitted in units D and E. The Dark Kitchen concept is explained in a subsequent paragraph. It is
envisaged that part of the first-floor levels of each unit would be used as ancillary office space.
3.14 No end-users have been identified. The end-users could range from dark kitchens, on-demand

grocers, micro-brewery, e-commerce, storage, distribution, design/studio, manufacturing, automotive
repair and parcel couriers amongst others.
3.15 It is proposed that all units will be operational 24 hours a day, however late-night external activities will
be restricted.
3.16 Based on the employment density ratio (number of square metres per employee) as set out in the
Employment Densities Guide 2nd Edition 2010 (Drivers Jonas Deloitte), the proposal would therefore
have the potential to support an estimated 42 – 82 full time employees.
Level

Proposed floor area
Flexible E (g) (ii & iii) / B2 / B8

Unit A
Unit B
Unit C

655sqm
325sqm
935sqm
Flexible E (g) (ii & iii) / B2 / B8 / Sui Generis (Dark Kitchen)
Unit D
540 sq.m
Unit E
495 sq.m
Total
2,950 sq.m
Table 1: Proposed floorspace

Page 36

Figure 7: Proposed ground floor plan
Dark kitchen concept
3.17 A Dark Kitchen is a use that primarily consists of a catering venue for the sole purpose of selling
meals, exclusively through delivery. There is no ability for customers to visit the site to place or collect
an order. Instead, the transaction (food order and payment) is done through an online ordering
system. The food is then prepared and cooked on site and when the meal is ready, a delivery
rider/driver collects the delivery and takes it to directly to the customer. A Dark kitchen would typically
consist of several independent kitchens, which are staffed and operated by individual restaurant
partners.
3.18 Dark kitchens are also known as virtual kitchens, cloud kitchens, ghost kitchens or delivery-only
restaurants.
3.19 It is important to note that a Dark Kitchen is considered a Sui Generis use and differs from a typical
commercial kitchen (Class E (g) (iii)). The rationale for this distinction is that the food from Dark
Kitchen is intended for direct consumption by customers and the meals are individually delivered to
customers on demand, at a scale and frequency, which is materially different from that of a typical
commercial kitchen. The food preparation and delivery are two integral functions of the Dark Kitchen
operation. The business model of a Dark Kitchen is based around hot food being collected as soon as
it is prepared and then delivered to customers.
3.20 Dark Kitchens would be an industrial use in line with London Plan Policy E4.
On Demand Grocer concept
3.21 An On Demand Grocer is a use that primarily consists of a distribution centre that exists exclusively for
online shopping. On-demand grocers are effectively small warehouse units with stock that can be
ordered by a customer on the mobile phone app or online ordering system. The items are then

Page 37
delivered to a specific location (e.g., an individual’s home address or office) within a 10-15 minutes’
drive. Customers are not permitted into these units.
3.22 The order is received at the closest warehouse hub. The rider then leaves a welfare room within the
warehouse unit and collects the various ordered items to deliver them via e-scooter or e-bike to the
customer(s). Once the delivery has been fulfilled, the rider returns to the welfare room within the unit.
On Demand Grocers generally do not use third party riders or the ‘gig’ economy, with riders being
employed directly by the distribution company and are internally controlled, insured and tracked.
3.23 On demand grocers are considered a B8 use (storage or distribution).
Amendments
3.24 The follow amendments/updates were made during the consideration of the application:




4

Predicted Dark Kitchen trip generation data updated using more recent survey recorded at the
approved Deliveroo site in Swiss Cottage (115-119 Finchley Road);
Additional information received with regard to inbound goods deliveries to Dark Kitchen;
Detailed 1:5 and 1:20 section drawings of the Brixton Hill Façade submitted to show the Window
Head and Cill Details and interface of the doors, walls and cladding and;
Further brick sample review undertaken, with results submitted for review.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
146-156 Brixton Hill
86/01072/PLANAP -

Application Permitted - Decision date: 07.08.1986

Erection of a single storey vehicular electronic servicing and workshop building comprising 375sqm
floorspace together with alteration to existing vehicular access.
87/01338/PLANAP-

Application Permitted - Decision date: 24.02.1988

Alterations to the approved development on 7.8.86 including the erection of a 2-storey side extension,
elevational alterations and the erection of 4 prefabricated garages at the rear.
00/02009/FUL -

Application Permitted - Decision date: 23.11.2000

Demolition of existing rear addition and erection of a replacement ground floor extension, for tyre
storage to rear of existing building together with minor external alterations to front and rear elevations.
13/02051/FUL -

Application Permitted - Decision date: 08.07.2013

Installation of a new window to the forecourt elevation and internal changes to create an additional
reception.
5-6 Waterworks Road
16/04965/FUL - Application Refused - Decision date: 01.12.2016
Demolition of the existing buildings and redevelopment of site with the erection of a 6-storey building
with a basement level to provide, office accommodation (use class B1 and flexible B1/D1) at
basement, ground, and first floor levels together with 28 residential units above (Use Class C3).
Provision of refuse and cycle parking.

Page 38
Reasons for refusal:
1. The proposed development would introduce residential units within close proximity of existing
business and industrial uses within a Key Industrial and Business Area (KIBA) and without
satisfactory noise mitigation. This would introduce a bad neighbour relationship which would
prejudice the long-term viability of the KIBA and the Borough's stock of employment sites, contrary
to Policies ED1 and ED2 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
2. The proposed development fails to seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing
in line with borough wide targets contrary to policy H2 of Lambeth's Local Plan (2015) and policies
3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of the London Plan (2016).
3. The proposed development, by reason of its scale, massing and form, would fail to protect the
composition and character of the positive contributors to the conservation area as the building
would dwarf and dominate neighbouring and surrounding buildings, and in doing so would also
cause harm to the appearance and character of the Rush Common Brixton Hill, contrary to
policies Q5, Q7, Q22 of Lambeth's Local Plan (2015) and 7.4, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan
(2016).
4. The proposed development, due to its design, siting and lack of control of access conditions at its
entrances, would result in a poor and unsafe pedestrian and cyclist environment due to conflicts
between users on the highway. This would be contrary to Policies Q6, T2, T3 and T6 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and 6.7, 6.9, 6.10, 6.11 6.13 and 7.5 of the London Plan (2016).
5. The proposed development fails to secure adequate servicing arrangements and would therefore
likely result in unmanaged servicing from the highway leading to conflicts with existing highway
users and servicing arrangements to nearby existing uses, including protected employment (KIBA)
uses. This would be contrary to Policies ED1, ED2, T2, T3, T6, T7, T8, Q1 and Q6 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
6. The proposed development, due to unjustified single aspect units, inadequate noise mitigation and
lack of disabled parking provision, would provide residential accommodation of inadequate quality
and inclusivity contrary to Q1, Q2, H5 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and policies 3.5,
6.3, 6.13, 7.1, 7.2 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2016).
7. The proposed development, due to access to some circulation areas being shared between both
residential and commercial, would create an insecure environment and provide opportunities for
crime affecting both future residents and other users of the building contrary to Policies Q3 and H5
of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and Policy 7.3 of the London Plan (2016).
8. The proposed development would fail to provide sufficient, ventilated or secure and safe waste
and recycling storage and would therefore result in poor refuse management and harm to amenity
contrary to Policies Q12 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
9. In the absence of a section 106 legal agreement securing appropriate mitigation, the proposed
development would increase on-street parking stress, make insufficient contributions toward
carbon emission reduction and fail to contribute to improve employment and skills outcomes
contrary to Policy D4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
An Appeal Ref: APP/N5660/W/17/3170507 against the Council’s decision on planning application ref.
16/04965/FUL was dismissed on 20 November 2017.
18/00456/FUL - Application Refused - Decision date: 03.10.2018
Redevelopment of the site, involving demolition of the existing buildings and erection of a 5-storey

Page 39
building with basement to provide 2,043sqm of B1 office accommodation at basement, ground, and
first floor levels plus 20 residential units (Use Class C3) at upper floors, together with provision of
refuse and cycle stores, plus amenity space at ground and 4th floor levels.
Reasons for refusal:
1. The proposed development fails to seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing
in line with borough wide targets contrary to policy H2 of Lambeth's Local Plan (2015) and policies
3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of the London Plan (2016).
2. The proposed development by virtue of its failure to incorporate comprehensive preimplementation and late-stage review mechanism fails to seek the maximum reasonable amount
of affordable housing in line with borough wide targets contrary to policy H2 of Lambeth's Local
Plan (2015), Lambeth Development Viability SPD (2017), policies 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of the
London Plan (2016), and the London Plan Homes for Londoners Affordable Housing and Viability
SPG (2017).
3. The proposed affordable housing fails to provide an acceptable tenure and housing mix contrary
to policies H2 and H4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and policies 3.5, 3.8, 6.13, 7.1, 7.2 and
7.15 of the London Plan (2016).
An Appeal Ref: APP/N5660/W/18/3219301 against the Council’s decision on planning application ref.
18/00456/FUL was allowed on the 30 October 2019. This permission has not been implemented and
therefore has expired.
5
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Statutory External Consultees
Historic England - Archaeology
No response.
Transport for London (TfL)
No objection subject to the auditing of the PICADY and LINSIG models by TfL’s Network Performance
Delivery team to ensure that the models are technically sound and to the imposition of conditions to
secure a Parking Design and Management Plan, Delivery and Servicing Management Plan and a
Construction and Logistics Plan; and a Travel Plan to be secured through a legal agreement.
TfL held an internal screening and pre-application discussions with the applicant prior to submission of
the application.
Officer comments:
Transport matters are discussed in Section 12 of this report. A Parking Design and Management Plan
(condition 24), a final Delivery and Servicing Plan (condition 22) and a Construction and Logistics Plan
conditions 5 and 6X) are to be secured by condition.
Thames Water (TW)
No objection subject to the inclusion of a condition to ensure that the development does not adversely
impact on local underground sewerage and water utility, and informatives. TW advises that the
neighbouring Brixton Waterworks is an operational site and access to site is always required. It was

Page 40
further advised that the site abstracts, treats and distributes water and that there is a pumping house
on site, which can generate noise and potentially, vibrations. Due to this being an operational site,
there are plans to carry out extensive works in the future which would include upgrades to the
pumping station and reservoir. This work will most likely cause disruption due to heavy plants/
machinery.
Officer Response:
Given the industrial use of the proposed site, the impact of noise and vibration from the Brixton
Waterworks would not be a concern. Drainage is discussed in Section 16 of this report. Condition 39 is
recommended to address concerns over the use of piling as a method of construction close to
underground sewerage and water utility infrastructure. An extensive list of informatives would be
included on the decision notice, should the officers’ recommended be supported.
5.2

Internal Consultees
Building Control (Fire Safety)
No objections.
Officer Response:
Fire safety matters are discussed in Section 17 of this report and (condition 47) is recommended to
ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the provisions of the submitted Fire
Statement and Building Regulations.
Design and Conservation
No objections, subject to conditions to secure final details of boundary treatment, samples of all
materials and for a sample panel be built on site.
Officers consider that there will be no harm to the significance of any nearby heritage assets because
of the proposed development.
Officer comments:
The Council’s Urban Design and Conservation Team’s detailed comments have been incorporated
into Sections 9 and 10 of this report. Final details of boundary treatment (condition 8), samples of all
materials (condition 9), and for a sample panel be built on site (condition 10) are to be secured by
condition.
Designing Out Crime Officer
No objection subject to Secured by Design measures being incorporated into the scheme design and
construction.
Officer comments:
Secure by design matters are discussed in Section 18 of this report and details of security measures
are to be secured by condition (conditions 48 and 49).
Employment and Skills (Business, Culture and Investment)
No objections, subject to final Employment and Skills plan and a financial contribution of £23,703
being secured.

Page 41
Officer response:
Employment and skills matters are discussed in Section 8 of this report. The Employment and Skills
plan and a financial contribution of £23,703 will be secured by way of a s106 legal agreement.

Environmental Health (Regulatory Support Services – RSS) – Noise and Environment
No objection to 24-hour operation subject to restrictions/mitigation on all external activities during the
night-time period (23:00 to 07:00). The following conditions are recommended:
Details of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site, including a
verification report (conditions 34, 35 and 36),
Details of a Construction Environment Management Plan (conditions 3 and 4),
Details of all building services and plant, including flues (conditions 17, 18, 19, and 20),
Restriction on hours of operation (conditions 14 and 15),
Details of Operational Management Plans (conditions 13 and 14),
Details of a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (condition x22,
Details of external Lighting (condition 21).
Officer comments:
Environmental Health matters are discussed throughout the report. All recommended conditions will
be secured.
Flooding –Local Lead Flood Authority
No Objections to the development and the supporting FRA subject to a condition requiring the
submission of the finalised drainage strategy showing the final surface water drainage design to scale
and all connections, prior to commencement of the development other than demolition.
Officer comments:
Drainage matters are discussed in section 16 of the report. The finalised drainage strategy would be

secured by condition 40.
Parks and Open Spaces
No objections, subject a condition to securing final landscaping details. Given the nature of the
proposed use and provided the proposed greening additions and enhancements are of the highest
quality possible in terms of content and diversity, we would accept a Urban Greening Factor (UGF) of
0.1.
Officer response:
Trees, Landscape, Ecology and Biodiversity matters are discussed in Section 15 of this report.
Regeneration Team - Brixton, Clapham Areas
No response

Page 42
Transport
No objections, subject to the following conditions and planning obligations:
Planning obligations:






Business Parking Permit free,
A financial contribution towards future design/feasibility work relating to Lambeth’s “Road
Danger Reduction Long-list” and a future safety scheme along the wider Brixton Hill corridor,
A financial contribution to fund a traffic signal enforcement camera at the junction of Jebb
Avenue and Brixton Hill,
Financial contribution to update/remark the Cycle Advanced Stop Line (ASL) on Jebb Ave,
Full Travel Plan.

Planning conditions:












Details of new boundary treatments and pedestrian access (condition8),
Details of an Operational Management Plan (condition 13),
Details of cycle parking (condition23),
Electric Vehicle Charging Points (active and passive) to be secured (conditions 22 and 26),
Restriction on deliveries to occur outside the network peak hours (condition 22),
Restriction on collections - no collection of orders from the premises shall take place by
customers (condition 16),
Details of a Parking Design and Management Plan (condition 24),
Height restriction barrier to be located at the Jebb Avenue access/egress(condition 27),
Details of a Delivery and Service Management Plan (condition 22),
Details of a Demolition & Construction Management Plan (conditions 3 and 4 ),
Details of a Waste & Recycling Strategy (condition 28).

Officer comments:
Transport matters are discussed in detail in Section 12 of this report.
Financial contributions are sought towards the future design/feasibility work relating to a future safety
scheme along the wider Brixton Hill corridor and to update/remark the Cycle ASL on Jebb Ave. This
will be secured by way of a s106 legal agreement.
Officers have engaged in active discussions with TfL regarding a financial contribution to fund a traffic
signal enforcement camera at the junction of Jebb Avenue and Brixton Hill. TfL has advised against
the need for an enforcement camera as they do not consider it to be necessary. Officers accept this
advice.
The applicant has confirmed that routine deliveries will be scheduled outside of the network peak
hours to avoid congestion. Measures to minimise servicing trips in the peak hours will be secured as
part of the Delivery and Service Management Plan. TfL support this approach.
All recommended conditions will be secured.
Policy
No objection to the proposal, subject to it not including independent office and/or retail unts and
confirmation that the site is entirely in lawful industrial use and so is a non-designated industrial site.
The intensification of industrial floorspace capacity is proposed on this site in accordance with London

Page 43
Plan policies E4 D and E7 A, and Local Plan Policy ED4 A. Where necessary and justified, conditions
and/or planning obligations should be used to limit uses consented within Class E to achieve the
objectives of Local Plan Policy ED4 and to avoid the proliferation of town centre uses outside of town
centres.
Officer comments:
Officers can confirm that the lawful use of the site is for vehicle repair garage and tyre fitting and
storage and distribution purposes, and therefore is entirely in industrial use. The proposal does not
include any retail use, and any office space will be ancillary to the main industrial uses. Conditions (45
and 46) are recommended to limit the Class E uses and retain control over the approved use and to
ensure that other uses are not introduced without the formal consent of the local planning authority.
Sustainability (Bioregional) – Energy
The proposal is acceptable from a sustainability, energy and carbon dioxide emission standpoint,
subject to the following conditions and planning obligations:
Planning obligations:


Carbon offset contribution

Planning conditions:





As Built SBEM calculations demonstrating that the development has achieved a minimum
35% reduction in carbon emissions (condition 29),
BREEAM Excellent to be achieved (conditions 30 and 31),
Water metering and water saving measures to be secured (conditions 32 and 33),
Details of landscaping and green roof/wall (conditions 41, 42, 43 and 44).

Officer response:
Sustainability matters are discussed in Section 14 of this report. The Carbon offset contribution of
£58,995 will be secured by way of a s106 legal agreement. All recommended conditions will be
secured.
Sustainability Team (Lambeth) - Air Quality
At present, operational impacts are not acceptable due to the high number of HGVs, which would be
moving on Brixton Hill (which is the source of pollution already causing the AQFA designation).
Additional pollution would be a major health hazard for people who live, work and pass through the
area. Therefore, further consideration such as ADMS-Roads modelling should be undertaken to
investigate whether further mitigation is needed. As mitigation, they must propose a strategy to limit
the number of HGV movements to the development site.
Conditions are recommended to secure a scheme of mitigation of poor air quality; an Air Quality and
Dust Management Plan; and that all Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) comply with the emission
standards set out in chapter 7 of the GLA’s supplementary planning guidance.
Officer response:
Air quality matters are discussed in Section 16 of this report. Given the embedded flexibility in the
proposed end-uses of the development, officers accept that the air quality neutrality of the proposed

Page 44
development will be dependent on the nature of the end-users. It is considered reasonable to impose
a pre-occupation condition (condition 38) that will require details of a scheme of mitigation of poor air
quality to be submitted and approved by the LPA. The scheme would include a strategy to limit the
number of HGV movements and would be informed by detailed dispersion modelling assessment
(ADMS-Roads modelling). This would address the Sustainability Officer’s conserns.
An Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (conditions 3 and 4) and NRMM compliance (condition 37)
will be secured by condition.
Waste (SERCO)
No objections
5.3

Other Consultees
Brixton Society
The Daylight assessment submitted does not take into account of the substantial existing overshading
by trees on the north boundary of Renton Close, in particular the low levels of daylight to ground floor
rooms on the north side of 54-63 Renton Close.
The use of a dark grey metallic cladding for the upper part of the walls is unduly oppressive, and
detrimental to the scale of the new blocks. Adopting a very light grey, as on the existing yard
elevations, or pale blue or Verdigris green would be preferable. Using a paler shade for the cladding
would also mitigate the poor daylighting to Renton Close.
We are relieved that this application does not attempt to provide dwellings as part of the development.
Nevertheless, the detail design and hours of operation need to respect the proximity of living
accommodation close by, above 144 Brixton Hill and at Renton Close.
The design of extract ventilation is often a critical factor in how acceptable any catering use will be in
proximity to residential accommodation. Flues should therefore include adequate odour filters and
soundproofing. External outlets should discharge well above the height of windows in nearby
residential accommodation and should be sited in relatively unobtrusive positions.
To limit the noise impact on nearby dwellings, there should be no vehicle deliveries to the site after 11
pm, and deliveries from the site after that time should be limited to two-wheel vehicles.
Although the Society is named in the applicant’s statement, I must state for the record that we were
not invited to any consultation event, nor received any direct communication from the applicants or
their consultants.
Officer comments:
Neighbour amenity matters are discussed in Section 11 of this report and transport matters are
discussed in Section 12 of this report.
Brixton Business Improvement Districts
No response
Blenheim Gardens RMO
No response
Councillor Adrian Garden

Page 45

Welcome this application as the site has required development for some time and it provides the
opportunity to make up Waterworks Road which is in a poor state. Request that full consideration is
given to the residents of Renton Close, part of which overlooks the site, and the nature, volume, time
of day or night, noise created and frequency of the traffic accessing the new estate, and its impact on
Brixton Hill, which already has a high level of traffic.
Officer comments:
Comments noted. Neighbour amenity matters are discussed in Section 11 of this report and transport
matters are discussed in Section 12 of this report.
5.4

Public Representations

5.4.1

Letters were sent to adjoining and surrounding neighbours (119). In addition, site notices were
displayed near the site on 20 January 2022 and the application was advertised in the South London
Press on 14January 2022. The formal consultation period ended on 11February 2022.

5.4.2

At the time of writing this report, 33 representations had been received. 29 were in support, 4 were in
objection, inclusive of 1 received on behalf of the Renton Close Tenants and Residents Association.

5.4.3

A summary of the concerns raised is set out below:
Summary of objections
Amenity
Noise from general deliveries and servicing,
and noise and antisocial behaviour from
vehicles and riders associated with Dark
Kitchen use.

Response

Impacts on daylight of residential properties
opposite the site.

The impacts on daylight to the residential
properties opposite the site are discussed in
section 11 of this report
Nuisance odour impacts and mitigation are
discussed in section 11 of this report

Development likely to generate nuisance
odours from cooking.

Operation noise impacts are discussed in
section 11 of this report
Planning conditions (conditions 14 and 15) are
recommended to restrict operational hours and
mitigate night-time deliveries to prevent
adverse impacts on nearby noise sensitive
uses. Operational management plans will be
secured as a condition of consent to control
behaviour and noise and disturbance they are
likely to generate (conditions 13 and 14). A
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan will
be secured by
condition (condition 22) to ensure that the
amenity of local residents is safeguarded.

Planning conditions (conditions 18, 19 and 20)
are recommended to secure details of a
system to provide high level of odour control
and regular and maintenance of cooking
facilities on the site.

Page 46
Increased air pollution from construction and
operational uses on the site.

Air pollution impacts and mitigation are
discussed in section 16 of this report.
An Air Quality and Dust Management Plan will
be secured by conditions (3 and 4) to mitigate
air pollution during the construction phase of
the development
A condition seeking further details of an
Emissions Control Scheme (condition 38 is
recommended to mitigate air pollution during
the operational phase of the development.

Transport
Increase traffic and congestion on
surrounding roads and increased road
danger.

See section 12 for a detailed assessment of
transport and highway implications of the
proposed development.
The development would not cause a significant
impact on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway
safety. A planning obligation would be secured
by way of a s106 legal agreement to prohibit
the occupants of the building from obtaining
business parking permits.
A Travel Plan will also be secured by way of a
s106 legal agreement, which will provide a
framework to encourage the use of sustainable
transport modes of travel.

Design
The size and scale of the proposed
development is excessive and out of
proportion with the existing structures. It will
dwarf the existing historic buildings. It should
be smaller in scope and scale. I disagree that
the development is in keeping or
complementary with the historic structures.
Other
'Dark kitchens' were never mentioned in preplanning public engagement.
Continuous flow of bikes, vans, mopeds etc,
would an inconvenience and a security risk to
the prison and its staff.

See section 9 for a detailed assessment of the
scheme on design and conservation matters.
Given the rich and varied built character of the
surrounding area, the height, bulk and scale,
as well as the detailed design of the proposed
building, are considered to be acceptable.

Noted.

Access arrangements would remain as per the
existing arrangements. The draft Construction
Logistics Plan submitted in support of the
proposal confirms that the site compound and
construction area will be entirely within the
development site. Jebb Avenue would not be
closed and therefore construction will not
impact on the prison’s ability to safely and
securely transport prisoners and staff on and
off the prison site.

Page 47
5.4.4

6

The following table summarises the comments made in support of the application:
Summary of support
The proposal would transform the current,
under-utilised site of inefficient, low-quality
industrial space, into a modern, sustainable
urban hub which will generate employment
opportunities for the local community.

Response
Noted.

The proposal would be important for servicing
the needs of Brixton and Lambeth residents,
whilst safeguarding important industrial space
for London.

Noted.

Providing this space closer to consumers,
could help improve the air quality in the area
and reduce congestion by taking larger
delivery vehicles off the road.

Noted.

Welcome the design of the buildings, which
respect the urban location of the site and the
adjoining listed former pub.

Noted.

Pleased by the design focus on sustainability,
including the infrastructure for
electric charging facilities and PV panel
provision.

Noted.

The inclusion of greening along the
Brixton Hill frontage will help improve
biodiversity.

Noted.

POLICIES

6.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning decisions to be
made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (2021) (hereon referred to as the LP) and the
Lambeth Local Plan 2020-2035 (September 2021) (hereon referred to as the LLP) and the South Bank
and Waterloo neighbourhood development plan (October 2019) (‘the SoWNDP’).

6.2

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012, revised in 2018 and updated
in 2019 and 2021. This document sets out the Government’s planning policies for England including
the presumption in favour of sustainable development and is a material consideration in the
determination of all applications.

6.3

The current planning application has been considered against all relevant national, regional and local
planning policies as well as any relevant guidance. A full list of relevant policies and guidance has
been set out in Appendix 3 to this report.

Page 48
ASSESSMENT
7

Land use and principle of redevelopment

7.1

The lawful use of the site is for vehicle repair garage and tyre fitting centre purposes (146-156 Brixton
Hill) and storage or distribution purposes (5-6 Waterworks Road). In accordance with Policy E4 of the
London Plan (LP), both uses are industrial uses, and therefore the site is considered a non-designated
industrial site. In Lambeth, this means industrial sites located outside designated Key Industrial and
Business Areas (KIBAs).

7.2

Policy ED4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (LLP) encourages the intensification of industrial uses on nondesignated industrial sites through the introduction of small units, development of multistorey
schemes, addition of basements or more efficient use of land through higher plot ratios. Development
proposals of this nature should have regard to operational yard space requirements (including
servicing) and mitigate impacts on the transport network where necessary. These policy objectives are
echoed in Policy E4 of the LP.

7.3

Policy E4 (D) of the LP states that the retention, enhancement and provision of additional industrial
capacity should be prioritised in specific locations. These include locations that are accessible to the
strategic road network, and provide capacity for logistics, waste management, emerging industrial
sectors or essential industrial-related services that support London’s economy and population, provide
capacity for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises, are suitable for ‘last mile’ distribution services
to support large-scale residential or mixed-use developments subject to existing provision and support
access to supply chains and local employment in industrial and related activities.

7.4

Policy E7 A of the LP makes clear that development proposals should be proactive and encourage the
intensification of business uses in B1c, B2 and B8, occupying all categories of industrial land
(including non-designated industrial sites). Therefore, any redevelopment proposal on this nondesignated industrial site should at least re-provide the existing quantum of industrial floorspace
capacity.

7.5

Policy ED4 D of the LLP states that development proposals for new commercial, business and service
floorspace greater than 2,500 m2 (gross external area) should consider the scope to provide a
proportion of flexible workspace or small units suitable for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

7.6

In general, the London Plan highlights that industrial, logistics and related uses are essential to the
functioning of London’s economy and for servicing the needs of its growing population. This
specifically includes food and drink preparation and an efficient storage and distribution system that
can respond to business and consumer demands. The proposed development would provide a flexible
suite of industrial uses at an appropriate location, that would support planning policy objectives by
targeting logistics, essential industrial-related services, SMEs, ‘last mile’ distribution operators and
emerging sectors in a location accessible to the strategic road network. Its location allows an increase
in operational efficiency that would bring benefits such as faster delivery times, shorter delivery
journeys, reduced impact on vehicular traffic and improved air quality in the area.

7.7

The proposal would result in a 164% increase in the quantum of industrial floorspace provided on the
Site through the creation of 5 units, in 2 separate buildings over two storeys. This would be a welcome
intensification of industrial uses on an underutilised non-designated industrial site.

7.8

The proposal includes a practical and purpose-designed site layout with operational yard spaces and
units with flexible internal layouts and generous floor-to-ceiling heights. The proposed units will range
in size from a smaller 325 sq.m unit to a larger 935 sq.m unit. This would ensure that the proposal
offers a good range of units available for occupation by a range of smaller enterprises (micro, small

Page 49
and medium-sized enterprises)and businesses wishing to start-up or expand, whilst also considering
the varied operational and servicing requirements of the different business uses that could potentially
occupy the Site. Additionally, it is considered that the proposed industrial floorspace, both in terms of
quantity and quality, would result in an intensification of employment provision and an uplift in the
number of jobs created on the site.
7.9

Subject to recommended conditions and planning obligations, the scheme and its operation would not
have an unacceptable impact on neighbouring residential amenity and is not considered to have a
harmful impact on the local highway network. These matters are assessed in greater detail in the
‘Amenity for Neighbouring Occupiers’ and ‘Transport’ sections of this report.

7.10 New B2 and B8 uses should generally be locate in KIBAs, away from neighbouring residential uses.
However, because part of the site is already in B8 use, the principle of a replacement B8 use on site is
accepted. Given the existing industrial nature of the site and that any potential B2 use (or any other
industrial use on this site) would be controlled to ensure that they do not give rise to adverse impacts
on residential amenity or the local transport network, a B2 use on the site is acceptable in land use
terms.
7.11 Policy E4 of the LP sets out which uses are industrial and these do not include offices or retail uses.
As part of the proposed urban industrial and logistics estate, it is anticipated that part of the mezzanine
levels of each unit would be used for office floorspace purposes. However, this space would be
ancillary to the main proposed industrial use. Conserns have also been raised regarding the
development potentially including an element of retail use. The applicant has confirmed that the
proposed Class E uses on the Site will be limited to Class E (g ii and iii) or the former B1b and B1c
uses.
7.12 Nevertheless, paragraph 6.42 of the LLP highlights that where necessary and justified, the Council
can use conditions and/or planning obligations to limit permitted uses within Class E, in order to
achieve the objectives of this policy and to avoid the proliferation of main town centre uses outside of
town centres. Therefore, conditions (conditions 45 and 46) are recommended to limit the uses on the
Site to Class E(g)(ii) or Class E(g)(iii), in addition to B2 / B8 / Dark Kitchen (Sui Generis) uses.
7.13 Policy PN3 (e) of the LLP supports the Creative Enterprise Zone (CEZ) through the promotion and
growth of the existing cluster of creative and digital industries in Brixton, thereby complementing the
wider aspirations for Brixton’s economy. The policy states that applications within the CEZ for
development including office, research and development and light industrial floorspace will be
supported subject to meeting certain criteria. However, as explained above, the site in question is a
non-designated industrial site and offices are not supported in these locations. Therefore, with regard
to office use on this site, PolicyED4 of the LLP takes precedence over Policy PN3 (e) in this case. As
such any proposed office space will have to be ancillary to main industrial uses proposed.
Land use conclusion
7.14 The proposed mix of uses on the site are in accordance with the preferred use of a non-designated
industrial site and are acceptable in principle, provided that the proposal satisfies the design principles
and other key development considerations. As such, the proposed redevelopment of the site to
provide flexible E (g) (ii & iii) / B2 / B8 / Dark Kitchen (Sui Generis) uses consistent with the provisions
of Policy ED4 of the LLP and policies E4 and E7 of the LP.
8
8.1

Employment and Training
Policy E11 of the LP requires development proposals to support employment, skills development and
apprenticeships and other education and training opportunities. This is supported by Policy ED15 of

Page 50
the LLP, which sets out that a site-specific Employment and Skills Plan (ESP) to cover the
construction phase and end use/occupation phase of major development proposals, is required. This
policy also requires an Employment and Training financial contribution to help support those sections
of the Lambeth workforce that are furthest from employment, having been out of work for a long period
of time and/or having low levels of skills. The financial contributions is used by the council to fund local
training and provide financial support to enable access to newly created employment opportunities
arising from development for those who may struggle to access the opportunities without extra
support, in particular the long-term unemployed and young people.
8.2

The proposed development would provide a wide variety of employment opportunities during both the
construction and operation phases. The existing site supports (or has the potential to support) an
estimated 30 full time employees. Given the flexible nature of the proposed uses, the proposal would
have the potential to support an estimated 42 – 82 full time employees (based on employment
densities of 36 sq.m to one full time equivalent (FTE) for the general industrial use, and a density of 70
sq.m to one for the storage or distribution use). The proposed development would therefore provide an
uplift of approximately 12 – 52 full time employees.

8.3

The LPA will require the applicant to submit a final site-specific Employment and Skills Plan (ESP) for
approval. The applicant be required to commit to the delivery of the obligations contained in the
approved ESP. This obligation will be secured by way of a s106 a s106 legal agreement. The ESP
would be expected to cover the following:





Reasonable endeavours to secure 25 per cent of jobs created by the development during
construction and first 2 years of end-use occupation for local residents, or otherwise agreed;
Engagement with local school and colleges to promote the skills and qualifications needed for
employment in the construction, as well as commercial sectors of the end-use occupiers in place
during the first two years of the development or otherwise agreed; and
6-monthly monitoring reports.

8.4

For this development the indicative financial contribution would be approximately £23,703. This
amount has been calculated in accordance with Policy ED15 and Annex 9 of LLP and would be
secured by way of a s106 legal agreement.

8.5

Overall, it is considered that the proposal meets the requirements of ED15 LP of the LLP and Policy
E11 of the LP.

9

Design

9.1

Beauty and placemaking is a strategic theme of the revised NPPF (2021), with the achievement of
'good design' being essential and not just the avoidance of 'bad design'. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF
makes it clear that “Development that is not well designed should be refused”. In addition, paragraph
126 states “Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to
live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities”.

9.2

Policy D3 of the LP sets out a series of overarching design principles for development in London,
which seek to optimise site capacity through a design-led approach. It also requires that all new
development be of high quality that responds to the surrounding context and enhances the character
of the surrounding neighbourhood.

9.3

Policies Q5, Q6 and Q7 of the LLP seek to create high quality urban environments and state that
proposals will be supported where the design of development is a response to positive aspects of the
local context and historic character. Policy Q8 of the LLP focuses on design quality and states that
when negotiating schemes, the council will seek to ensure that proposed building designs and

Page 51
submitted details are buildable and visually attractive. Poorly detailed and undeliverable built forms will
be resisted.
9.4

Policies Q20, Q22 and Q23 of the LLP seek to protect the character and appearance of conservation
areas, listed buildings and undesignated heritage assets on the local heritage list. Policy Q2 of the
LLP seeks to protect the amenity of neighbouring properties.
Layout, Massing, and Appearance

9.5

The layout of the proposed development positively responds to both the historic urban grain and the
operational requirements of the proposed industrial use of the site. The proposed layout uses a liner
arrangement with a street-facing building and an internal building arranged along the western edge of
the site facing onto a main rear service yard. The placement of the main service yard between the two
proposed buildings, would help screen activity from street views and neighbouring properties.

9.6

Along with land to the north of Waterworks Road, the Site forms part of an area of mixed commercial
and industrial uses to the rear of properties fronting Brixton Hill. The general design style of properties
in the vicinity of the Site is of predominantly tall (3 - 5 storeys) buildings of yellow or red stock brick
construction with artistic detailing and stone dressing, overlooking open areas of Brixton Hill. The
existing building fronting Brixton Hill on the site is a notable exception, being of a lower height. There
is a broadly consistent streetscape on the west side of this main arterial route – Brixton Hill.

9.7

The proposed frontage building would be built to the same front building line and height of the
adjacent three-storey locally listed former public house. The increased height on the Brixton Hill
frontage would complete the urban block it forms part of, which is currently under scaled. The
proposed massing would result in a distinctive and coherent built form that would better address the
streetscene. The building is a sympathetic response to and enhancement of the existing context.

9.8

The scale of the rear building is taken in the context of the Renton Close flats on the opposite side of
Jebb Avenue. It should also be noted that the proposal is of a similar height to the 4-storey element of
the taller (18m) scheme that was allowed on the Site on appeal, in 2019.

9.9

To reflect the materiality of the surrounding buildings, brickwork has been chosen to be the primary
construction material on the ‘outward facing’ elevations fronting Brixton Hill, Jebb Avenue and
Waterworks Lane. The brick façades are broken up by tall vehicle and pedestrian portals and
alternating brick and projecting brick panels as well as climbers (green wall). The punched openings
are also characteristic of the surrounding area. The top storey would consist of Polyester Powder
Coated (PPC) cladding and a fenestration pattern (frontage building only) that follows the apertures on
the elevation below. This cladding system is employed for the internal elevations facing the main
service area , comprised of alternating panels of translucent walling and PPC cladding. The
translucent walling would allow natural light to penetrate into t the proposed commercial units.

9.10 The success of the new development on this site will depend on the quality and colour of the brick and
the PPC cladding to be used. Therefore, further details of the materials (schedule and samples of all
materials) are to be secured by condition (condition 10).

Page 52

Figure 8: Proposed internal and external facing elevational treatment
9.11 The service yards would be mostly hard landscaped and allocated to vehicle access. There would be
some soft landscaping along the front boundary, along Jebb Avenue and the boundary with No. 144
Brixton Hill, including 4 x London Plane trees. This landscaping scheme would be a significant
improvement on the existing arrangement and will reinstate parts of the missing avenue of trees
previously found along Renton Close and the eastern side of Brixton Hill. The hard edge of the
proposed buildings would also be softened by the introduction of green walls. Final details of the green
walls and boundary treatment would be secured by condition (conditions 8 and 43).
Design Conclusion
9.12 The proposed development represents a significant improvement on the buildings that currently
occupy the site, being of a sympathetic and high-quality design that would positively respond to its
surroundings. Subject to the conditions recommended including securing high quality construction
detailing and materials, the proposal would comply with the stated aims and objectives of Policies D3
andD4 of the LP and Policies Q2, Q5, Q6, Q7 andQ8 of the LLP, having regard to the National Design
Guide 2019 and the revised provision of the NPPF, which place emphasis on granting permission for
well-designed buildings and refusing poor quality design schemes.
10

Heritage and Conservation

10.1 The beginning of the Agenda Pack contains a summary of the legislative and national policy context
for the assessment of the impact of a development proposal on the historic environment and its
heritage assets. This is in addition to Lambeth Local Plan and London Plan policies. The assessment
that follows has been made within this context.
10.2 The first step for the decision-maker is to consider any designated heritage assets, which would be
affected by the proposed development and assess whether the proposed development would result in
any harm to the significance of such assets.
10.3 The assessment of the nature and extent of harm to a designated heritage asset is a matter for the
planning judgement of the decision-maker, looking at the facts of a particular case and taking into

Page 53
account the importance of the asset in question. Proposals that are in themselves minor could
conceivably cause substantial harm, depending on the specific context, or when viewed against the
cumulative backdrop of earlier changes affecting the asset or its setting. Even minimal harm to the
value of a designated heritage asset should be placed within the category of less than substantial
harm.
10.4 As noted in the beginning of the Agenda Pack, the NPPF (paragraph 200) states that any harm to, or
loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset requires “clear and convincing justification”.
The NPPF expands on this by providing (paragraph 201) that planning permission should be refused
where substantial harm or total loss of a designated heritage asset will occur, unless this is necessary
to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or unless all the four tests set
out in paragraph 201 are satisfied in a case where the nature of the asset prevents all reasonable
uses of the site. Where less than substantial harm arises, paragraph 202 of the NPPF directs the
decision-maker to weigh this against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.
10.5 In terms of what constitutes a public benefit, this can be anything that delivers economic, social or
environmental objectives, which according to the NPPF, are the three overarching objectives of the
planning system. The Planning Practice Guidance advises that “public benefits should flow from the
proposed development’. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and
not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible or accessible to the
public in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed private dwelling which
secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit”. The degree of weight to
attach to any particular public benefit is a matter for the decision-maker, having regard to factors such
as the nature and extent of the benefit and the likelihood of the benefit being enjoyed. Different
benefits may attract different amounts of weight.
10.6 The decision-maker is therefore directed by the NPPF to balance any harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset against the public benefits that flow from the proposal by considering in the
case of less than substantial harm whether this harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the
proposal, or in the case of substantial harm whether the tests in paragraph 201 of the NPPF are met.
Importantly, these balancing exercises are not simple unweighted exercises in which the decision
maker is free to give the harm whatever degree of weight they wish.
10.7 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the decisionmaker to have “special regard” to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting. In
Barnwell Manor the Court of Appeal identified that the decision-maker needed to give “considerable
importance and weight” to any finding of likely harm to a listed building or its setting in order properly
to perform the section 66 duty. In the case of conservation areas, the parallel duty under section 72 of
the same Act is to pay “special attention” to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of the conservation area. The courts have held that ‘preserving’ in this context means
‘doing no harm’.
10.8 The NPPF, at paragraph 199, provides that “great weight” should be given to the “conservation” of a
designated heritage asset, and that “the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be”.
10.9 The High Court in Field Forge explained that “it does not mean that the weight the authority should
give to harm which it considers would be limited or less than substantial must be the same as the
weight it might give to harm which would be substantial. But it is to recognize, as the Court of Appeal
emphasized in Barnwell, that a finding of harm to the setting of a listed building or to a conservation
area gives rise to a strong presumption against planning permission being granted. The presumption
is a statutory one. It is not irrebuttable. It can be outweighed by material considerations powerful
enough to do so. But an authority can only properly strike the balance between harm to a heritage
asset on the one hand and planning benefits on the other if it is conscious of the statutory presumption

Page 54
in favour of preservation and if it demonstrably applies that presumption to the proposal it is
considering”. In Bramshill, the Court of Appeal (endorsing the Court’s earlier decision in Palmer)
observed that “the imperative of giving "considerable weight" to harm to the setting of a listed building
does not mean that the weight to be given to the desirability of preserving it or its setting is "uniform".
That will depend on the "extent of the assessed harm and the heritage value of the asset in question".
These are questions for the decision-maker, heeding the basic principles in the case law.”
10.10 It is important also to note that as the Court of Appeal stated in Bramshill (which concerned a listed
building) “one must not forget that the balancing exercise under the policies in […] the NPPF is not the
whole decision-making process on an application for planning permission, only part of it. The whole
process must be carried out within the parameters set by the statutory scheme, including those under
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 […] and section 70(2) of the 1990
Act, as well as the duty under section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings Act. In that broader balancing
exercise, every element of harm and benefit must be given due weight by the decision-maker as
material considerations, and the decision made in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise…”.
10.11 Where the significance of more than one designated heritage asset would be harmed by the proposed
development, the decision-maker needs to account for the individual harms and to consider the level
of harm arising when the assets are considered cumulatively.
10.12 As regards non-designated heritage assets, these are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or
landscapes identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance meriting
consideration in planning decisions, but which do not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets.
For the most part, non-designated heritage assets will have been included on the Council’s Local List,
but it is not necessary for an asset to be included on the Local List in order for it to be treated as a
non-designated heritage asset.
10.13 If there is harm to the significance of a non-designated heritage asset, paragraph 203 of the NPPF
requires the decision-maker to arrive at a balanced judgement, having regard to the scale of any harm
or loss and the significance of the asset.
10.14 What follows is an officer assessment of the extent of harm which would result from the proposed
development to any designated and non-designated heritage assets that have been identified as
potentially affected by the proposed development.
10.15 In terms of the proposed development, the relevant heritage assets are:






136 and 138 Brixton Hill (Grade II)
134 Brixton Hill (Grade II)
132a, 132b and 132c Brixton Hill (Grade II)
The Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area, and
The locally listed former George IV Public House at 144 Brixton Hill.

10.16 Listed and locally listed buildings further afield do not have direct intervisibility with the site.

Page 55

Figure 9: Proximity to heritage assets, with site highlighted in ‘red’, Listed buildings outlined in ‘blue’
and locally listed building outlined in ‘yellow’
Impact on Heritage Assets: Conservation Areas and locally listed building (former public house)
10.17 The Site is located within the Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area (CA). The unique
character of Rush Common and the Brixton Hill neighbourhood was fundamentally influenced by the
Enclosure Act of 1806, which protected Rush Common - a series of open spaces following the east
side of Brixton Hill, setting any building back from Brixton Hill over a distance of 1.8km.
10.18 The CA has a linear pattern that is centred on Brixton Hill and Rush Common but it includes other
areas of land both to the east and west. The conservation area character appraisal describes the
conservation area as including a rich variety of architectural styles, the result of development over a
long period, through several historical processes and drivers. There is therefore no-overarching style,
but several discrete ‘pockets’ with their own particular characteristics. The buildings and open spaces
contribute to the CA’s significance and therefore any impact on their setting could potentially impact
the CA’s significance.
10.19 In the Site’s vicinity, the CA includes the Waterworks Pump House, the former public house at 144
Brixton Hill and Renton Close and land to the north of Waterworks Road. All contribute to the CA’s
significance.
10.20 The former George IV public house is a locally listed building, which occupies a prominent position on
the corner of Brixton Hill and Waterworks Road. It is a highly decorative late 19th century former
public house with a canted corner entrance in a Moorish arch and pink granite stallriser. Historic

Page 56
joinery with leaded lights and intricate ironwork, stone balustrades and a copper turret all contribute to
its significance. The scale, design and position of this building contribute positively to the character
and appearance of the western side of Rush Common.

Figure 10: Map of the Rush Common Brixton Hill Conservation Area (CA49), with site highlighted in
‘red’
10.21 Officers consider that the existing buildings do not positively contribute to the character or appearance
of the conservation area. Officers are therefore able to support the replacement of these buildings
subject to a suitable replacement scheme.

Page 57
10.22 Whilst the proposal would result in an increase in the quantum of development on the Site, the
proposal draws on the familiar scaling and brick materiality of the surrounding area. The scale of the
development would be viewed in the context of the Renton Close buildings on the opposite side of the
Jebb Avenue and the adjoining former public house fronting Brixton Hill. The distinctive corner turret
of the former public house, and its other roofline features, would remain visible against the sky. The
prominence of the public house would not be diminished. In townscape terms, the greater height of the
proposal along the Brixton Hill frontage would complete the fragmented urban block. This would also
be akin to the site’s former historic arrangement. The scale and orientation of the proposal would
therefore not distract from the visual relationship with the former public house, which forms a
significant part of the CA’s character. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not adversely
affect the setting of these locally listed asset and would not be harmful to its significance. As a
consequence of there being no harm to the former public house and the western frontage of Brixton
Hill/Rush Common, the development would not cause harm to the significance of the CA.
10.23 Regarding the impact on the Pump House, its chimneys and the roof ‘lantern’ would remain
silhouetted against the sky when viewed from the west along Jebb Avenue. Eastward views along
Jebb Avenue towards the Pump House would remain broadly the same, with the building’s appearing
as a non-intrusive foreground feature. The proposed scheme would not therefore dominate or dwarf
this structure and in turn would not cause no harm to the significance of the CA.
10.24 In conclusion, the proposed development would not harm to the significance of the CA in terms of its
effects on the pump house and its relationship with the former public house and the western frontage
of Brixton Hill/Rush Common. The removal of the site’s existing buildings, which currently detract from
the CA’s character and appearance, and the introduction or completion/infilling of the currently under
scaled urban block, would enhance the character and appearance of the CA.
Impacts on Heritage Assets: Listed Buildings
10.25 The Site does not contain any statutory listed buildings, nor does the site adjoin any statutory listed
buildings. There are 3 groups of buildings that are located between 50 - 60m to the northeast of the
Site.
10.26 Nos. 132 to138 Brixton Hill are listed due to their significance as the last remaining examples of the
elegant late Georgian townhouses, which once lined both sides of Rush Common. One of the
townhouses is magnificent Italianate stuccoed villa with an unusual, pierced balustrade resting on a
ground floor loggia, other has a fine ionic porch below a stucco frieze.
10.27 Officers consider that the development proposal will have a negligible impact on these heritage
assets. The architectural interest of the listed buildings is best appreciated in very close views and
given the separation distance, the proposed development would have no impact on the appreciation of
the building in these close views. It is considered that the proposal would not have any effect on the
setting of the heritage assets, and consequently there would be no harm to their significance.
Archaeology
10.28 The application is supported by a Desk-based Archaeological Assessment. The report concludes that
the archaeological and historical records show that there is no evidence for settlement or occupation
of the subject site until the 19th Century. Furthermore, the extensive modern disturbances caused by
earlier buildings, the existing buildings and services are likely to have had a considerable impact on
any potential archaeological deposits, which might have been present.
10.29 The development is therefore unlikely to have a significant effect on heritage assets of archaeological
interest. However, officers still consider it appropriate to impose a condition to secure a Written

Page 58
Scheme of Investigation (condition 7) so as to secure a programme and methodology of site
investigation and recording.
Impact upon heritage assets: Summary
10.30 The impact of the development on heritage assets has been assessed and the results are
summarised as follows:


Conservation areas - Officers consider that there will be no harm to the significance of the
conservation area and therefore the proposal meets the policy test (LLP Policy Q22).



Statutory listed buildings – Officers consider that there will be no harm to the significance
(including settings) of any statutory listed buildings and therefore the proposal meets the
policy test (LLP Policy Q20)



Non-designated heritage assets – Officers consider that there would be no harm to the
significance (including setting) of the non-designated heritage asset (the former public house)
and therefore the proposal meets the policy test (LLP Policy Q23)

10.31 Officers therefore consider that no harm would be caused to any of the identified heritage assets as a
result of the development. Consequently, there is no need to weigh harm against public benefit in
terms of paragraphs 201, 202 of the NPPF.
Assessment of harm versus benefits
10.32 If Members come to a view that there would be substantial harm or total loss of the significance of a
designated heritage asset, consent should be refused, unless it is demonstrated that the substantial
harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the identified harm
or loss (as per paragraph 201 of the NPPF).
10.33 If Members come to a view that there would be less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, the identified harm must still be given considerable importance and weight
when weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including where appropriate, securing the
heritage asset’s optimum viable use (as per paragraph 202 of the NPPF).
10.34 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that “The effect of an application on the significance of a nondesignated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will
be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.”.
10.35 In terms of the public benefits that would arise from the development, these are discussed throughout
the report, but in summary these are as follows:
Economic





Providing a viable future for the site and bringing forward the use of underutilised non-designated
industrial site by targeting logistics, essential industrial-related services, SMEs, ‘last mile’
distribution operators and emerging sectors;
Employment opportunities: the proposed development would create direct employment
opportunities;
An employment and skills financial contribution and local employment and training initiatives to
cover the construction phase and end use/occupation phase to be secured through an
employment and skills plan.

Page 59

Environmental





11

Biodiversity gain through new landscaping and green walls.
Optimising and delivering sustainable development of brownfield land.
Open Space Deficiency contribution of £4,000 to enable improvements to accessibility and quality
of existing public open space, including their nature conservation and biodiversity value.
Sustaining and enhancing the significance of the CA.

Amenity for Neighbouring Occupiers
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing

11.1 Policy D6 of the LP states that the design of development should provide sufficient daylight and
sunlight to new and surrounding housing that is appropriate for its context, whilst avoiding overheating,
minimising overshadowing and maximising the usability of outside amenity space. Policy Q2 (iv) of the
LLP supports development that does not have an unacceptable impact on daylight and sunlight of the
adjoining properties including their gardens and outdoor spaces.
11.2 The beginning of the Agenda Pack contains a broad contextual overview of the assessment
framework within which BRE compliant sunlight and daylight studies are undertaken. This includes an
explanation of the key terms and targets contained within the BRE guidance. The following
assessment has been made in the context of this information.
11.3 A Daylight and Sunlight Report prepared by Lumina London Limited, has been submitted in support of
the application. This provides an assessment of the potential impact of the development on daylight,
sunlight and overshadowing of neighbouring residential properties based on the approach set out in
the Building Research Establishment’s (BRE) ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Good
Practice Guide’.
11.4 Habitable rooms of the following properties have been analysed:




1-33 Renton Close - Only first two columns of windows closest to the site have been tested,
54-63 Renton Close,
144 Brixton Hill – residential accommodation above Tesco Express Convenience Store, which
now occupies the former public house.

Page 60

Figure 11: Proposed development and the assessed neighbouring properties
11.5 Officers have carefully reviewed the applicant’s submitted daylight and sunlight assessment and
concur with its conclusions that the proposed development will fully adhere to BRE Guide target
criteria with regards to the daylighting (both VSC and DD). Where changes to daylight have been
identified, the anticipated reduction in the amount of skylight would be so small that it would not be
perceived by the occupants of the existing buildings.

Page 61

11.6 Conserns have been raised with regards to the specific VSC percentage loss of between 1.52% and
9.05% to several rooms within 1-33 Renton Close and a VSC percentage loss of between 1.15% and
10.3% to several rooms within 54-63 Renton Close. As noted above, these reductions are well below
the 20% threshold (windows continues to receive more than 0.8 times its former value). Furthermore,
all rooms continue to have VSC values above 27%, which is relatively rare given the present
circumstances of the immediate surroundings whereby the height and massing of the buildings around
the site are up to 5 storeys.
11.7 It is noted that mature trees have been planted along the boundary with Jebb avenue, which sit within
proximity to 54-63 Renton Close. Conserns have been raised that the lower-level flats already receive
limited amounts of daylight as a consequence of these trees. The BRE guidance however points out
that the trees and shrubs are not normally included in BRE calculations unless a dense belt or group
of evergreens is present. The existing trees are deciduous trees, and whilst it is acknowledged that
they would block a degree of daylight, they would have shed their leaves at a time when sunlight is at
its scarcest (in the winter), thereby likely to cause less of obstruction to natural lighting during the
winter months.
11.8 None of the existing neighbouring properties include windows that face within 90 degrees of due
south, and therefore the existing levels of sunlight to these properties would remain unaffected.
11.9 There are no gardens or open spaces in proximity to the site and therefore overshadowing effects
need not be considered.
11.10 Officers therefore consider that the development would not result in any impact upon neighbouring
residential properties with regards to daylight and sunlight and is consistent with the surrounding
urban context.
Outlook, Privacy and Overlooking
11.11 Policy Q2 of the LLP requires development to provide adequate outlooks, avoiding where possible,
any undue sense of enclosure or unacceptable levels of overlooking (or perceived overlooking).
11.12 The Block of 1-33 Renton Close does not have any windows with a direct outlook onto the site (the
north-facing flank wall is an entirely windowless). However, the residential properties on the opposite
side of Jebb Avenue (54-63 Renton Close) contain windows to habitable rooms facing the site and
therefore, the effect on the living conditions of the occupiers of these dwellings needs to be
considered.
11.13 The proposed layout shows that, whilst the new buildings would be positioned on the opposite side of
Jebb Avenue they would not include any side facing windows and would be off set from the position of
buildings in Renton Close due to the location of the main service yard. The relationship between the
existing and proposed building would therefore be at distance and oblique angle. It is therefore
considered that the proposal has been sensitively designed to protect the privacy and outlook of the
adjoining residential properties in accordance with the relevant policies.
11.14 It is worth noting that the proposed rear building is lower in height than the frontage building and
comparable in separation distances to that of the scheme approved on appeal in 2019.
Noise and disturbance
11.15 LP policy D14 states that development proposals should avoid adverse noise impacts on health and
quality of life as a result of new development. Policy Q2 of the LLP requires development to reduce
the adverse impact of noise on neighbouring amenity.

Page 62
11.16 Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location. This includes the need to mitigate and reduce to a
minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and avoid noise giving
rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life. The Framework references the
“Noise Policy Statement for England” 2010 (NPSE), which sets out the following aims. Through the
effective management and control of environmental, neighbour and neighbourhood noise within the
context of Government Policy on sustainable development: avoid significant adverse impacts on
health and quality of life; mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life; where
possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life.
The NPSE makes it clear that there is a need to integrate consideration of the economic and social
benefits of development with proper consideration of adverse environmental effects, including noise
impacts. This should avoid noise being treated in isolation, that is, focussing solely on noise impacts
without taking account of other related factors.
Fixed plant and equipment
11.17 Due to the flexibility of the proposal whereby the end users are unknown at this stage, the final details
of flues and other extraction plant have not been submitted. A noise report has been submitted in
support of the application, which confirms that the noise levels from any future fixed plant equipment
should be 10dB below the background sound pressure level (LA90). The report concludes that
appropriately specified attenuators for the external duct terminations of the building services plant
could be provided where the plant design requires to control external noise levels to the appropriate
limits. Officers agree that if the appropriate standards are attained, and the technical evidence
indicates that it would be, the development would be unlikely to generate unacceptable noise impacts
from ventilation and refrigeration plant equipment required in association with the uses.
11.18 To ensure that noise from future building services and other plant, machinery or equipment is properly
controlled, conditions are proposed to control the hours of operation of any external plant (condition
17) and to ensure the rating level of noise emitted from the proposed building services plant is 10dB
less than background (condition 20).
Noise from site operations.
Dark kitchen use (units D and E)
11.19 Given the nature of a Dark Kitchen use (and as demonstrated by the submitted mode share and trip
rates analysis), motorised scooters would provide the primary delivery method, supported by cycles
and delivery on foot. It is therefore understood that some local residents have raised conserns about
potential noise and disturbance attributed to motorised scooters.
11.20 The noise from scooters arriving at and leaving the site may be noticeable for some occupiers of
adjoining residential dwellings, when they have their windows open. However, the site is located on
Brixton Hill and the noise climate is dominated by road traffic noise which acts to mask the noise from
the front of the proposed development. The level and character of scooter noise is such that, when
taking into account the context and other noise sources present, it would have a low impact.
11.21 In addition, a condition (condition x) would be imposed to ensure that no deliveries to or despatched
from any part of the premises units E and D and no loading or unloading of goods from any servicing
vehicles associated with units E and D outside the following times of 07:00 to 23:00 Monday to
Sundays, and 09:00 to 23:00 on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays. This will ensure that no latenight deliveries take place from the front of the site.

Page 63
11.22 The Applicant agreed that once a Dark kitchen and/or On Demand Grocer operator is in place, they
would work with the tenant and prepare a bespoke operational management plan (OMP). The OMP
would cover the overall management arrangements of the Dark kitchen and/or On Demand Grocers
uses, including operating hours of the site, conduct (measures to control behaviour on site), training
and responsibilities of staff and riders, servicing arrangements and communication.
11.23 The Applicant has committed to including the following operational procedures, as a minimum, and
confirmed that it would be developed further once an operator is on board:


Driver management – operational management programmes will be put in place to ensure drivers
park correctly in the designated areas, at restricted speeds, and engines are not left idle. A
Marshall is often allocated to oversee these procedures



Ensuring that riders arrive at the site when the order is nearly ready to be despatched in order to
prevent them congregating on site,



Ensuring that all food orders are collected from within the building, with an internal rider waiting
area and welfare facilities provided to further minimise disturbance,



The provision of rider assembly points in areas as far from any nearby residential properties as
possible,



Providing wayfinding around the site to encourage riders to leave the area as quietly as possible
once the order has been despatched,



Encouraging site staff to use sustainable measures such as cycling or public transport when
arriving/departing,



Riders receive feedback/training following any deviance from the management programme,



Comprehensive H&S procedures are put in place to ensure rider & pedestrian welfare and safety
across dark kitchens, both with in the unit and within any demised yard area.

11.24 Future OMP’s would be secured by condition 13.
11.25 To further mitigate potential noise impacts, conditions are recommended to ensure that no collection
of orders from the parts of the premises in use as a ‘Dark Kitchen’ or ‘On Demand Grocer’ shall take
place by customers at any time (condition 16), and a no deliveries are be taken at or despatched from
units E and D and no loading or unloading of goods from any servicing vehicles associated with units
E and D other than within the following times of 07:00 to 23:00 Monday to Sundays, and 09:00 to
23:00 on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays (condition 15).
All other uses (units A – C)
11.26 Given that the existing site is an unrestricted non-designated industrial site, officers acknowledge that
it would be unreasonable to place onerous restrictions on any replacement noise-generating uses.
However, it is important to promote good health and a good quality of life within the wider context
through appropriate measures to mitigate potential adverse noise impacts.
11.27 As the development would result in the intensification of the industrial use, the impact on occupants of
the residential upper levels of 144 Brixton Hill must be considered and the acoustic environment
should be improved and enhanced.

Page 64
11.28 The existing noise climate is noted, however the broadband character of road traffic noise differs from
the activity noise associated with deliveries and dispatch, such as vehicle reversing alarms, roll cages,
tail lifts etc. There would also be significant variations in the traffic flows between the day and night
period. It is therefore necessary to mitigate night-time noise associated with loading, unloading and
manoeuvring within the rear service yard. To safeguard neighbour living conditions, a condition
(condition 14) is recommended to ensure that a late-night OMP is submitted and approved by the local
planning authority prior to any external activities taking place after 23:00. This would only apply to the
rear service yard as the noise climate along Brixton Hill is considerably noisier and any further
restrictions would be unreasonable. The benefits of replacing the unfettered industrial uses with a
permission securing conditional controls on late night activities is a material consideration of
substantial weight.
11.29 It is noted that the proposed acoustic fence to the Jebb Avenue boundary would offer further and
appropriate noise mitigation to the properties of Renton Close.
Demolition and Construction Noise
11.23 During the demolition and construction phases, there is potential for significant adverse levels of
noise, as it is possible for there to be elevated levels of disturbance caused by vibration. This is not
uncommon with construction projects in urban locations. However, reasonable mitigation measures
can be introduced to reduce noise impacts during the demolition and construction phases. Given that
the site is close to residential properties, measures would include a scheme of continuous monitoring,
reporting and management of the works taking place on the site
11.24 Condition (conditions 3 and 4) are therefore recommended to secure a final Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). This would include measures that would ensure that
minimal noise nuisance or general disturbance is caused by the works, to the detriment of the
amenities of adjoining occupiers.
Odours and Smells
11.30 With regards to potential cooking smells directly linked to the potential dark kitchen uses. It is
recommended that, all kitchen fume extraction and filtration equipment are fitted with odour control
equipment. Regular maintenance would be essential to ensure the effective operation of the odour
control system at all times.
11.31 The details of a system providing a high level of odour control, including ongoing maintenance plan
would be required and secured by planning conditions (condition 18 and 19).
Light pollution
11.32 Given that the extended hours of operation will require external lighting, a condition (condition 21) is
recommended to ensure any external lighting is appropriately designed, mitigated, and managed to
prevent light trespass and glare.
12

Transport and Servicing

12.1 Policy T1 of the LP sets out a strategic aim for all development to make the most effective use of land
reflecting its connectivity and accessibility by existing and future public transport, walking and cycling
routes. It seeks to ensure that any impacts on London’s transport networks and supporting
infrastructure are mitigated. Policy T1 of the LLP seeks to promote a sustainable pattern of
development in the borough, minimising the need to travel and reducing dependence on the private
car. In addition, this policy seeks to reduce road danger at source by limiting motor vehicle trips and
identifying and delivering highway safety measures at and around the development site, including

Page 65
temporary measures during the construction phase.
12.2 Policy T4 of the LP states that the cumulative impacts of development on public transport and the road
network capacity, including walking and cycling, as well as associated effects on public health, should
be mitigated and development proposals should not increase road danger. Policies T1, T2 and T3 of
the LLP align with these London Plan objectives, setting out that all development should reduce road
danger, to help meet the mayor’s ‘Vision Zero’ target,
12.3 Policies T5, T6, T6.5 and T7 of the LP and Policies T3 and T7 of the LLP set out the requirements for
cycle storage and car parking and seek to minimise the impact of vehicles associated with deliveries,
servicing and construction, on the public transport network.

Figure 12: Site plan - Access, parking, and refuse.
Access
12.4 The proposed development would utilise the two existing access/egress points on Jebb Avenue and
Waterworks Road, with a new and additional pedestrian access point from Brixton Hill. The proposed
access arrangement is considered acceptable and offers the optimum layout in terms of access to the
wider road network and internal operational requirements for the site. A Swept Path Analysis
submitted in support of the proposal, has demonstrated that a 10m long rigid vehicle would safely
assess the site from Waterworks Road and a 7m long rigid vehicle would safely assess the site from
Jebb Avenue (enter and exit the site in a forward gear).
12.5 A condition (condition 27) is recommended to ensure that a height restriction barrier of 2.4m is
installed at the access/egress point on Jebb Avenue. This will ensure that Jebb avenue access is
limited to light goods vehicles (LGVs) only.
12.6 Whilst not standard practice, vehicles would have to overrun a very worn and dated cycling advanced

Page 66
stop line (ASL) when using the Jebb Avenue access/egress points. The ASL is essential for cyclists’
safety and therefore a financial contribution of £2,000 would be sought to update/remark the ASL (i.e.
green RBC surfacing). This would be secured as highway works with the s106 legal agreement and
the council will arrange remarking.
Trip Generation and impact on the highway network
12.7 The trip generation figures in the submitted Transport Assessment (TA) and subsequent transport
notes have been estimated using the TRICS database for B8 distribution uses (worst-case predicted
flows), and trip generation figures of a recent survey recorded at the approved Dark Kitchen site
(Deliveroo) in Swiss Cottage (115-119 Finchley Road) for the Dark Kitchen Use. This approach has
been accepted by the Council’s Transport Planning Officers.
12.8 The peak hours on the local road network are indicated to be 08:00 - 10:00 and 16:00 - 18:00.
Dark kitchen use (units D and E)
12.9 To consider the worst-case scenario, the proposed trip rates are derived by assuming that both units
D and E would be in Dark Kitchen use. This would equate to a maximum floor area of 825 sq.m, with
all other space used as ancillary office space. The predicted demands for the Dark Kitchen component
of the proposed development are presented in Table 2 below which are based on the Friday network
peak period (17:00 - 18:00) and the Friday and Saturday development peak periods (19:00- 20:00).
The assumed mode split is as follows:





Cycle – 34%;
Electric cycle – 6%;
Car – 15%; and
Motorcycle/Scooter – 45%.

Table 2: Predicted Dark Kitchen trip generation
12.10 The predicted peak demands during the Friday and Saturday evening periods would be expected to
generate between 109 - 121 inbound and outbound vehicle movements (up to 242 two-way). In terms
of passenger car units (PCUs), the demand would be in the order of 90-99 two-way PCU movements
per hour (1.65 PCUs per minute). The traffic profile for the potential use is highest at a time when peak
local network demands have passed. The introduction of 1.65 PCUs per minutes is therefore

Page 67
considered negligible and would not adversely impact on the capacity of the local transport
infrastructure.
12.11 To reduce the risk of increased road danger, the Dark Kitchen uses are in Units D and E only.
Consequently, additional pressure may be placed on the Brixton Hill/Jebb Avenue traffic signal
junction, and the movement though this junction would need to be assessed. The Brixton Hill/Jebb
Avenue traffic signal junction operates on the basis of 90 second cycles. The traffic lights run on the
basis of three stages, Stage 1 - Brixton Hill traffic (A & B), Stage 2 – pedestrians (E-F) and Stage 3 –
Jebb Avenue/Elm Park (C & D). The whole cycle (Stage 1 – 3) takes 90 seconds and repeats over the
operational period. The number of traffic signal cycles per hour is 40 (3600 seconds in an hour divided
by 90 cycles).

Figure 13: Brixton Hill/Jebb Avenue – Stage Diagram
12.12 Applying the number of PCUS through the junction per cycle represents some 1-2 PCUs per signal
cycle in each direction. The results of the LINSIG assessment indicate that there would be little
change in the junction operation and there is no change in the queuing on the approach lanes. The
additional flows generated by a potential Dark Kitchen operator would not create operational problems
on the Jebb Avenue/Brixton Hill junction.
12.13 When considering penitential inbound delivery demands, Officers accept that there is limited data
available regarding Dark Kitchen uses and agree that the best approach would be to use the typical
delivery demands for a traditional restaurant of 825 sqm as a benchmark. This would generally be
around 10 vehicles per day (1.2 deliveries/100 sq.m per day). This too would amount to a negligible
traffic impact on the local highway network.
12.14 Based on the above review, Officers found that the peak hour traffic generated by the development
would increase the amount of traffic on the local highway network, but not by an amount significant
enough to negatively impact the flows of traffic on these roads. More specifically, the potential use of
the site as a Dark Kitchen should also not negatively impact the road network. This is because whilst
the number of vehicles entering and leaving the site will increase, the development peak hours do not
align with the traditional traffic peaks on the road network.
All other uses (units A – E)
12.15 Using the worst-case predicted flows (B8 distribution) on each of Jebb Avenue and Waterworks Road
access routes, the existing demands for the site have been compared with the predicted demand
(Tables 3 and 4).

Page 68

Total
Vehicle
movements

Jebb Avenue
Existing site demand
(full occupation of
buildings)
In
Out Total
8
2
9

Jebb Avenue
Proposed B8
demands (36% of
development flows)
In
Out
Total
2
5
7

AM pk
hour
PM pk 1
6
7
5
2
7
hour
Daily
31
30
61
58
60
118
Table 3: Vehicle demands – Jebb Avenue (assuming B8 distribution)

Total
Vehicle
movements

Waterworks Road
Existing site demand
(full occupation of
buildings)
In
Out Total
6
1
7

Waterworks Road
Proposed B8
demands (64% of
development flows)
In
Out
Total
3
9
12

AM pk
hour
PM pk 3
1
4
8
4
12
hour
Daily
128
129 257
104
106
210
Table 4: Vehicle demands – Waterworks Road (assuming B8 distribution)

Change

In
-6

Out
3

Total
-3

4

-4

0

27

30

57

Change

In
-3

Out
8

Total
5

5

3

8

-24

-23

-47

12.16 The maximum peak hour vehicle demand for the proposed development will be in the order of 19 twoway movements per hour (approximately one vehicle every three minutes). It can therefore be
concluded that the predicted traffic demands for Units A – E, if all in B8 distribution use, are not
significantly greater at the Brixton Hill/Waterworks Road junction than would be if the existing
development site buildings were fully occupied and operational.
12.17 Furthermore, the results of the PICADY assessment indicate that the proposed development will not
adversely impact on the Brixton Hill/Waterworks Road junction. The junction will operate within
capacity with no evidence of traffic flows in and out of Waterworks Road introducing any queues on
the approach lanes.
12.18 Lambeth Transport Planning Officers and TfL have assessed the proposal and have confirmed they
are satisfied with the assessment of trip generation.
Impact on Transport network
12.19 The initial mode share for employees travelling to and from the development site has been determined
using Census data. The Census data has however, been adjusted to reflect the ‘car-free’ nature of the
proposed development by reducing the car driver/passenger to 0.5% and spreading the remaining
13% across the other modes in the associated proportion of the Census demand.
12.20 The site is well served by public transport, and it is expected that 99% of trips by employees travelling
to and from the development site would be by sustainable and active modes of travel. This would be
encouraged by a Travel Plan (see below).
12.21 Extensive trip analysis has been undertaken to predict the impact of non-vehicle trips on the local
transport network. This forms part of the submitted transport assessment. The trip analysis estimates
that the additional trips would have a negligible impact on the rail, London Underground and London
Bus network.

Page 69
Cycling
12.22 The proposed development will provide a total of 18 cycle parking spaces for both long-term and
short-term parking, comprising covered Sheffield Stands. This would exceed the minimum
requirement of 12 long-stay cycle parking spaces and a minimum of 3 spaces for visitors (short-stay)
as set out in the London Plan. A condition (condition 23) requiring final details of the cycle parking
arrangement, including detail of spaces to accommodate a variety of cycle types, and electric cycle
charging facilities is recommended.
12.23 It is understood that the Dark Kitchen and On Demand Grocer would require additional and formalised
short-term parking. The forecourt area on the Brixton Hill frontage may be developed to include a
dedicated delivery riders/driver parking area utilising the delivery bays. It is proposed that in the peak
evening periods, when there would be more delivery riders/driver, the delivery van bays would be
allocated for operational delivery riders/driver parking only to minimise any over-flow parking on the
local highway network. The final details of additional delivery rider/driver parking would be included in
an Operational Management Plan for the Dark Kitchen and/or On Demand Grocer uses. The
Operational Management Plan would be secured as a condition of consent (condition 13).
Car Parking
12.24 The proposal is essentially car free, except for five disabled persons parking bays that are proposed
near the entrance of each unit, A-E. This is supported by relevant policies and represents a welcome
reduction from the existing 11 formal parking spaces at the front of the site and the 7 informal parking
spaces at the rear. Due to the car free nature, the occupiers of the site will be encouraged to travel to
the site by sustainable modes, such as public transport or active transport.
12.25 A Parking Design and Management Plan demonstrating how car parking will be managed and
monitored to prevent unauthorised use and meet disabled persons parking demand would be secured
by condition (condition 24).
12.26 To address the mayor's commitment to introducing electric car charging facilities across London as
part of new developments where car parking is provided, the proposal would include eight active
electric vehicle (EV) charging points.. Three active EV charging points would be provided for the
disabled persons’ parking bays and the other five EV charging points would be provided for the
operational vehicle bays in the service areas. The remaining spaces will be allocated as passive
provision so that EV charging points are added when there is future demand. A condition (condition
26) is recommended to ensure that the EV charging points are installed as proposed. Further details
of the of electric vehicle charging points for all servicing bays would be required as part of the final
Delivery and Service Management Plan (secured by condition 22).

Page 70

Figure 14: Electric charging provision
12.27 The site is located within a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). Mindful of the high accessibility to public
transport and the need to reduce dependence on private car use in line with London and Lambeth
Local Plan Policies, it is considered appropriate and reasonable that entitlements to business parking
permits are withdrawn via a planning obligation, to be secured within the s106 legal agreement.
Road Safety
12.28 Active and Safe Travel is recognised as a Priority Action within Lambeth’s Transport Strategy.
Lambeth have ambition to deliver Vision Zero; reducing road danger and people killed and seriously
injured (KSIs) through targeted infrastructure improvements in priority locations.
12.29 Vision Zero asserts that no death on our roads is inevitable or acceptable. In recent years, the number
of people killed or seriously injured (KSI) on our roads has begun to rise again, after many years of
decline, and the people most affected are ‘vulnerable’ road users – people walking and cycling and
riding motorcycles. Nine out of 10 KSIs are from these groups. Work has been undertaken recognising
the areas within the borough that require the most urgent interventions. Brixton Hill has been
recognised as one of these areas.
12.30 The applicant obtained Personal Injury Collision (PIC) information from TfL for the three-year period,
ending 30th June 2021. The study area comprised a section of Brixton Hill (A23), and the junctions
between Brixton Hill and Beechdale Road, Endymion Road, Elm Park, Jebb Avenue and Waterworks
Road. The data identifies 20 incidents, 12 of which occurred close to Waterworks Road including one
leading to serious injuries, whilst eight collisions occurred in the vicinity of Jebb Avenue, of which one
was serious. Of the 12 collisions close to Waterworks Road, eight occurred during daylight while four
occurred in the dark. It is also noted that three of these collisions occurred on a wet road surface.
12.31 Given the number of expected two-wheeled trips associated with the proposed development on this
link, it is considered necessary to seek a financial contribution (£20,000) towards future

Page 71
design/feasibility work to contribute towards a future safety scheme along the wider Brixton Hill
corridor. This would be secured by way of a S106 legal agreement.
12.32 To further reduce the risk of increased road danger, it would be necessary to impose a restriction on
the development to ensure that any potential Dark Kitchen uses are Units D and E only. This would
ensure that the high volume of two-wheeled vehicles associated with Dark Kitchen uses would be
required to enter the Brixton Hill via the signal-controlled Brixton Hill/Jebb Avenue junction. This
arrangement would ensure that delivery riders/driver would not need to dangerously negotiate the
major flows of traffic on the highway network, but rather wait at the traffic light for their turn to safely
join the carriageway. Furthermore, riders and drivers will be legally obliged to comply with road and
traffic light restrictions. This would ensure that the risks of collision would remain low. This restriction
would be secured by condition 46.
12.33 The Operational Management Plan (secured by condition 13) for the Dark Kitchen and/or On Demand
Grocer uses, would also cover matters such as delivery rider/driver management and details of
delivery rider/driver training programmes. This would further manage and improve driver behaviour so
as to avoid unnecessary hazard to and obstruction of the adjacent public highway.
12.34 The road network can accommodate the vehicles associated with the proposal without risk to highway
and pedestrian safety. The development would achieve a safe and suitable access for all users of the
highway, with no conflict between pedestrians, cycles and vehicles.
Delivery and Servicing
12.35 The applicant has provided a Draft Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP). The DSMP
outlines the proposed delivery and servicing strategy for the entire operational site (all units) to ensure
that delivery and servicing activity associated with the proposed development can take place in a safe,
efficient and sustainable manner. A Site management team will pre-arrange collection times of refuse
and recycling to minimise conflict and ensure that there are no other deliveries during the early
morning period when the waste collections are programmed. Routine deliveries will be scheduled
outside of the network peak hours to avoid congestion.
12.36 Two service areas are to be provided, a main internal service area accessed off Waterworks Road
and the smaller service area fronting onto Brixton Hill (for vehicles up to 7m long only). The rear
service area internal route has been designed to accommodate large vehicles manoeuvring within the
site, with the largest vehicle expected to be on site being a 10.5m refuse vehicle. This has been tested
through a swept-path analysis, which has demonstrated that these vehicles would safely manoeuvre
within site and be able to enter and leave the site in forward gear.
12.37 The applicant has confirmed that site management will be responsible for the ongoing monitoring of
the DSMP. The monitoring process would include the recording of deliveries and collections made to
and from the site. The monitoring process would enable the DSMP to be modified as appropriate to
respond to any issues that arise. Any changes or amendments to the DSMP arising as a result of
monitoring or part of an annual review would be submitted to the LPA for approval.
12.38 A final DSMP is to be secured by condition (condition 22), and will require details of a servicing
management strategy, the frequency of deliveries to the site, dimensions of delivery and servicing
vehicles; loading and delivery locations; measures to minimise servicing trips in the peak hours,
monitoring of delivery and servicing vehicles and details of electric vehicle charging points for all
servicing bays.
12.39 In addition to the DSMP, the Operational Management Plan for the Dark Kitchen and/or On Demand
Grocer uses (secured by condition 13), would require further commitments from the specific end-users
to ensure that the servicing, waste and refuse arrangements aligns with DSMP.

Page 72
Travel plan
12.40 A Travel Plan will be required, which sets out target aims, measures, management action plan and
monitoring and review of the users of the site. The travel plan would be secured by way of a S106
legal agreement. A financial contribution towards its monitoring would also be sought to ensure that
the travel plan is implemented and remains effective.
12.41 The applicant has confirmed that a Site-Wide Travel Plan Co-ordinator (SWTPC) would be appointed
prior to first occupation and each tenant company (end-user) would appoint their own TPC within one
month of occupation (Occupier Travel Plan Co-ordinator, OTPC). The responsibilities of these roles
would be set out in the Travel Plan and would be delivered from the point of occupation until the end
of the TP monitoring period, on the basis that TP targets are met within that period.
Construction management
12.42 An outline Construction Logistics and Management Plan (CLMP) has been submitted as part of the
application. The CLMP sets out the proposed construction management measures to be imposed so
as to minimise any impact on the adjacent highway as well as members of the public who may be
passing past the construction site. The CLMP also provides details of the general site arrangements
and management measures during demolition/construction, the proposed routes to the site, the type
and number of construction vehicles required, estimate programme of works etc.
12.43 An updated and final CLMP would be secured by conditions (condition 5 and 6).
13

Refuse and Recycling

13.1 Refuse and recycling storage should be provided in line with Policy Q12 of he LLP and the recently
updated (April 2022) Council’s guidance for Refuse and Recycling Storage.
13.2 A Refuse Management Strategy has been provided within the submitted draft Delivery and Servicing
Management Plan. The applicant has confirmed that the existing refuse collection is to be carried out
by an appointed contractor and this strategy is proposed to be maintained with the new scheme.
Dedicated areas within the site would be provided for waste storage bins, which will be removed from
the site on a regular basis.
13.3 Refuse and recycling from the commercial units will be stored locally within the respective unit, with
waste being regularly transferred by the staff to the waste storage areas within the rear service yard.
Units D and E fronting onto Brixton Hill Road will be provided with a doorway to the rear of the units to
link into the rear servicing area for this and other purposes.
13.4 On collection days, the appointed waste management contractor would temporarily park their Refuse
Collection Vehicle within the site, well within 10 metres of the presentation points, where bins will be
loaded onto the vehicle. The general refuse and recycling collections would be separate, and the site
management team would need to pre-arrange collection times to minimise conflict with delivering and
servicing requirements across the site.
13.5 An updated and final Waste and Recycling Management Plan would be secured by condition
(condition 28).

Page 73
14

Sustainability and Energy
Decentralised Energy

14.1 Policy EN3 of the LLP states that all major developments would be expected to connect to, and where
appropriate extend, existing decentralised heating networks in the vicinity of the site, unless a
feasibility assessment demonstrates that connection is not reasonably possible. Policy SI3 of the LP
expects major development proposals within Heat Network Priority areas to have a communal lowtemperature heating system in line with the LP heating hierarchy. Where a heat network is planned but
not yet in place, the development should be designed to allow for the cost-effective connection at a
later date.
14.2 According to the London Heat Map there are no existing decentralised heating networks (DEN) in the
vicinity of the site. The proposal would include individual air source heat pumps (ASHPs) to each unit.
Officers agree that this is the most appropriate solution, as an on-site combined heat and power
(CHP) communal system is not the most appropriate technology for the proposed development. A
communal system with potential for future connection to a heat network is therefore not required.
Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions
14.3 Policy SI2 of the LP requires major development proposals to be net zero-carbon. This means
reducing greenhouse gas emissions (CO2 emissions) in operation and minimising both annual and
peak energy demand in accordance with the following energy hierarchy:





Be lean: use less energy and manage demand during operation,
Be clean: exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply energy
efficiently and cleanly,
Be green: maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and using
renewable energy on-site,
Be seen: monitor, verify and report on energy performance.

14.4 A minimum on-site reduction of at least 35 % beyond the Part L 2013 Building Regulations is required
for major developments, with non-residential development achieving at least 15 % reduction in C02
emissions through energy efficiency measures (Be Lean). Where it is clearly demonstrated that the
zero-carbon target cannot be fully achieved on-site, any shortfall should be provided, in agreement
with the borough, either; through a cash in lieu contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund, or offsite provided that an alternative proposal is identified and delivery is certain.
14.5 An Energy Strategy has been submitted with the application, which indicates that the proposed
development would achieve a total site-wide reduction in carbon emissions of 64.1% over the Part L
baseline through a highly efficient building envelope with high efficiency mechanical and electrical
services, along with ASHP’s, and photovoltaic (PV) cell renewable technology. This includes a 25.4%
reduction from energy efficiency measures at the Be Lean Stage, which surpasses the 15%
requirement under the LP.
14.6 In order to achieve the ‘zero carbon’ requirement, the remaining regulated carbon dioxide emissions
are proposed to be off-set through a cash in lieu contribution of £58,995 to be ring fenced to secure
delivery of carbon dioxide savings elsewhere. This would be secured through a s106 legal agreement.
Sustainable Design and Construction
14.7 Policy EN4 of the LLP requires all development to meet high standards of sustainable design and
construction feasible, relating to the scale, nature and form of the proposal. In addition to the
requirements for zero-carbon in major new developments set out in Policy SI 2 of the LP, Policy EN4

Page 74
of the LLP requires all new non-residential development to meet at least BREEAM ‘Excellent’.
14.8 The applicant has provided information demonstrating that sustainable design is integral to the design,
construction and operation of the development. The information provided confirms that the proposed
development would comply with Policy EN4 of the LLP. An informative would be included to remind
the applicant to give due consideration to the use of locally sourced materials and local suppliers, that
all decorative paints and varnishes should meet the relevant standards to reduce the emission levels
of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and consideration of materials with low embodied carbon,
applied where possible.
14.9 The BREEAM New Construction shell and core pre-assessment confirms that an Excellent rating
(71.24%) is achievable. Conditions (conditions30 and 31) are recommended to ensure that the
development has an acceptable level of sustainability and ensure compliance with Policy EN4 of the
LLP.
Overheating mitigation
14.10 Policy SI4 of the LP states that major development proposals should demonstrate how they will
reduce the potential for internal overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems in accordance
with a hierarchy that prioritises passive measures overactive measures. Policy EN4 of the LLP
requires development to be resilient to climate change by including in their scheme design,
appropriate climate change adaptation measures.
14.11 The applicant has followed the cooling hierarchy set out in the London Plan. An overheating analysis
has been run by the applicant and verified by the Council’s sustainability consultant, who has
acknowledged that active cooling provided by the proposed ASHP is justified. Other passive cooling
features include tall floor-to-ceiling heights and efficient building fabric.
14.12 The proposed development would provide overheating mitigation in line with the LP’s cooling
hierarchy and as such accords with the relevant policies.
Water Efficiency
14.13 Policy SI5 of the LP states that by use of planning conditions, developments should minimise the use
of mains water. Policy EN6 of the LLP seeks to minimise water consumption and incorporate water
re-use systems in scheme designs where practical.
14.14 The proposed development would implement a water strategy that would ensure that all water
consuming plant specified allow for a 50% improvement in efficiency over the BRE’s notional building
water consumption baseline. Furthermore, the project is also targeting the Wat 02 credit, which meets
the minimum standards to achieve BREEAM Excellent and ensures adequate water metering for the
development. Suitable measures have therefore been proposed for the building to achieve lower
water consumption rates and to maximise future proofing. Conditions (conditions 23 and 33) are
recommended which require evidence to be submitted showing that water metering and water saving
measures have been installed.
15

Trees, Landscape, Ecology and Biodiversity
Trees

15.1 Policy Q10 of the LLP seeks to protect existing trees, stating that development will not permitted,
which would result in the loss of trees of significant amenity, historic and conservation value or cause
damage to the health or wellbeing of such trees.

Page 75
15.2 A total of 36 individual trees were surveyed in proximity to the site, with 30 Leyland cypresses forming
a linear group off-site on the western boundary, which also contained three common Elder trees, two
individual Sycamore trees and a Bird cherry tree. A further Sycamore is present on the northern Site
boundary (to the left of the site access from Waterworks Road).
15.3 All trees adjacent to the western boundary of the Site dominate the immediate area within which they
stand, although their contribution to the wider landscape is limited due to the surrounding buildings.
Given their generally poor condition, these trees have been placed within Category C. The Sycamore
on the northern boundary is prominent when viewed from Waterworks Road but is shielded by
adjacent tall buildings resulting in restricted views of it within the wider area. However, it is considered
a Category U tree due to its poor condition and limited life expectancy.
15.4 All trees would be retained, except for the Sycamore on the northern boundary. The removal of the
this Sycamore tree is necessary to facilitate the development coming forward (improving access to the
main service yard). Whilst the loss of a tree is regrettable, its loss in this case would be mitigated by
the planting of 4 new London Plane tree along the Brixton Hill boundary of the Site and the
introduction of an improved landscaping on and around the site. As such, it is considered that the loss
of the existing trees in this instance is justified. The group of trees on the western boundary of the Site
would require their canopies to be cut back to enable access during construction works, this is not
envisaged to have any long-term adverse impacts on the health and well-being of these trees.
15.5 The retained trees are set behind an existing retaining wall, which would offer adequate protection to
them during demolition and construction.
Landscape
15.6 Policy Q9 of LLP encourages good-quality hard and soft landscaping and requires developments to
provide landscaping that is fit for purpose, provides means of access routes, avoids piecemeal or leftover spaces, includes sustainable drainage, maximises opportunities for greening and makes use of
appropriate plant species and is attractive and well designed.
15.7 Given the industrial nature of the site, whereby operational service yards are required and integral to
the use, the site has very limited opportunities for soft landscaping. The proposal would however,
introduce a new planting scheme that would include climbers (green walls) along the acoustic fence
and part of the building, green roofs over the cycle storage shelters, ornamental evergreen shrub
planting close to paved areas, and tree planting along Brixton Hill.
15.8 Overall, the development would provide opportunity for better landscaping and planting in and around
the site and would represent an overall enhancement of the appearance of the site when compared to
the Site’s existing condition that is dominated by hard landscaping.. The proposal soft landscaping is
of good quality and would optimise the biodiversity of the site.
15.9 Officers consider that the proposed development represents a clear commitment to securing the
highest quality and most suitable landscaping design possible within the constraints imposed by the
operational use of the site. Details of the final hard and soft landscaping scheme and the final
specifications of the green walls and roofs would be secured by conditions 41 and 43.
Ecology and Biodiversity
15.10 Policy G5 of the LP and Policy Q9 of LLP reflect the aims of Policy EN1 of LLP, promoting
opportunities for greening as well as protection and enhancement of existing biodiversity. In addition,
Policy G6 of the LP requires development proposals to manage impacts on biodiversity and aims to
secure net biodiversity gain.

Page 76
15.11 The application site is not an existing public open space or a designated Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation (SINC), and the application should not adversely impact upon any other public open
spaces or any adjacent SINCs. The submitted Ecological Impact Assessment report indicates, based
on both desk and field-based surveys, that the habitats on the Site are of negligible ecological value,
with the scattered scrub and off-Site trees offering only limited suitable habitat for nesting birds and
foraging bats.
15.12 At the present time, the application site has limited ecological value, so Officers welcome the
proposed ecological and landscape enhancements for the development, including cycle stores with
biodiverse green roofs, green walls using native species and appropriate soft landscaping at the front
of the development site. In addition, proposed features such as bat and bird boxes, and designing the
soft landscaping scheme to secure maximum benefit for wildlife, are strongly supported. Further
details of the final biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures, such as the installation of bird
and bat boxes, are secured by condition 41. The development includes a substantial uplift in soft
landscaping and would make a positive net contribution to biodiversity through the inclusion of
ecological and habitat features appropriate for its location. This would result in a Biodiversity Net Gain.
Urban Greening
15.13 Policy G5 of requires proposals within boroughs to develop an Urban Greening Factor (UGF) to
identify the appropriate amount of urban greening required within developments. For non-residential
schemes, the target UGF is 0.3. Whilst the target score of 0.3 does not apply to B2 and B8 uses,
these uses will still be expected to set out what measures they have taken to achieve urban greening
on-site and to quantify what their UGF score is.
15.14 The calculated UGF for the proposed development is 0.1, which falls short of the recommended 0.3
for predominantly commercial schemes. Officers accept that the industrial nature of the proposed uses
will make it difficult to meet the target. Officers consider that the applicant has however demonstrated
that the proposed landscaping maximises planting in all practical available areas, including the
incorporation of green walls. The UGF of 0.1 is considered acceptable in this instance.
Open Space Deficiency
15.15 The site is located within an area of open space deficiency. Policy EN1(d) of the LLP seeks to
increase the quantity of open space in the borough. Major applications in areas of open space
deficiency or access to nature deficiency are required to provide appropriate on-site provision of open
space or, where this is not feasible and where this would address needs more effectively, make a
financial contribution to enable the provision of new open space or improvements to accessibility and
quality of existing public open space, including their nature conservation and biodiversity value.
15.16 The site is located within an area of open space deficiency for regional open space types. Given its
industrial use, the existing site provides open space form of hard landscaped front and rear service
yards. The proposal would intensify the industrial use of the site, and therefore it is not feasible to
provide on-site open space for the occupants of the proposed development. As such, officers consider
it appropriate to secure a financial contribution for enhancement and maintenance towards nearby
parks and open space areas.
15.17 Given that the proposal would facilitate greening and enhancements of the site and would generally
place a relatively limited demand on nearby parks and open space areas, Officers consider it
appropriate to secure a financial contribution of £4,000. This will be secured by way of a s106 legal
agreement.
15.18 Subject to securing this financial contribution, the proposal would comply with Policy EN1 Part D (ii) of
the LLP.

Page 77

16

Other Environmental Matters
Flood Risk and Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDs)

16.1 PEN6 of the LLP states that development proposals should ensure that their layout and design does
not have a detrimental impact on floodwater flow routes across the site and should incorporate a
Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SuDS) to demonstrate that there will be a decrease in the
volume and rate of run-off water leaving the site.
16.2 In accordance with London Plan policies in respect of flood risk and sustainable drainage and Local
Plan policies EN5 (Flood Risk) and EN6 (Sustainable drainage systems and water management)
proposals should seek to reduce the risk of flooding through appropriate design and measures to
manage water, in particular surface water run-off.
16.3 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The FRA identifies the site as being
located in Flood Risk Zone 1, which has less than a 0.1% (1 in 1000) chance of river flooding
occurring each year and therefore at low risk of flooding. The EA Risk of Flooding from Surface Water
Map indicates that the flood risk from surface water at the proposed redevelopment site is assessed to
be very low or low for the majority of the site and at medium risk in the northeast corner area, adjacent
to Waterworks Road.
16.4 The site will incorporate an attenuation/water quality treatment led SUDS strategy design that would
discharge surface water at a restricted rate via the existing connections into the public combined
drainage network. Two separate storage tanks are proposed to be constructed beneath the proposed
service yard areas and would provide approximately 165 cu.m of total attenuation below ground. To
ensure that the final drainage system to be installed will satisfy the drainage principles set out in the
application, it is recommended that a planning condition for the detailed design of the drainage
strategy is imposed (condition 40)
Ground Contamination
16.5 The NPPF requires development to prevent unacceptable risks from land contamination. Policy EN4
of the LLP states that proposals should include an assessment of existing ground conditions and
identify appropriate remedial measures for any contaminated land prior to development commencing.
It further states “Where contamination exists, a remediation strategy should be submitted to the
council for approval and implemented by a suitably qualified person prior to development
commencing”.
16.6 A Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment, submitted as part of the application, has concluded
that widespread or significant contamination of the Site is considered unlikely. The assessment has
identified a Low to Moderate risk of soil/groundwater contamination and hazardous ground gas at the
Site. However, potential geohazards have been identified associated with the shrinking and swelling of
clay soil.
16.7 The council’s Environmental Health Practitioner has reviewed the Preliminary Environmental Risk
Assessment and raised no objections subject to conditions requiring the submission of further details
of a site investigation, remediation and verification strategy to ensure contamination at the site is
properly investigated and remediated. Officers agree with the recommendations and the relevant
conditions (conditions 34, 35and 36) have been included accordingly. Subject to these conditions the
proposal would comply with Policy EN4 of the LLP.

Page 78
16.8 Air Quality
16.9 The site falls within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in relation to a breach of nitrogen
dioxide and particulate matters objectives as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000.
16.10 As a result of heavy traffic, Brixton experiences poor air quality. The A23 from Brixton to Streatham is
designated as an air quality focus area due to its high levels of both pollution and human exposure to
pollution and is identified in Lambeth’s Air Quality Action Plan. Development in this area should, in
accordance with London Plan Policy SI1, incorporate design solutions that prevent or minimise
exposure to existing air pollution and make provisions to address local air pollution. The council will
support measures that seek to improve air quality. Policy SI1 of the LP also recognises the need to
reduce contributory factors to air pollution and improve the public’s exposure to pollution. It expects
developments to at least be Air Quality Neutral and demonstrate how design solutions can
address/minimise exposure of those most vulnerable.
16.11 An air quality assessment (AQA) has been submitted as part of the application, which provides an
assessment of the air quality impacts associated with the proposal. This has been reviewed by
Lambeth’s Environmental Health consultant who has raised concerns over the operational impacts of
the development and the potentially high number of heavy goods vehicle (HGV) movements
associated with the potential B8 uses. When considering a worst-case scenario, whereby the
development would be occupied in solely B8 use, the development would not meet air quality neutral
requirements for transport.
16.12 Due to the flexibility of the proposal, whereby the end-users are unknown at this stage, officers
acknowledge that providing a detailed dispersion modelling assessment of potential road traffic
emissions would be challenging as the exact number of HGVs will not be known until tenants have
been secured. Therefore, a pre-occupation condition (condition 38) is recommended, which requires
the applicant to submit, for approval, an emission control scheme, including but not limited to a
strategy to limit the number of HGV movements.
16.13 The scheme shall provide details of measures to be implemented to minimise the direct and indirect
emissions of air pollutants resulting from the development and must demonstrate that the
development will be Air Quality Neutral throughout its operational phase. The scheme must be
informed by detailed dispersion modelling assessment (ADMS-Roads modelling) and must prioritise
on site mitigation that is part of the proposed development. This would allow the exact uses to be fully
understood, allowing for a detailed and accurate assessment to be carried out and any necessary
mitigation to be establishes and put in place.
16.14 The applicant has given their commitment to include of electric vehicle charge points and the provision
of electric bike charging points so as to encourage more sustainable modes of transport. Together,
these measures would reduce the carbon emissions associated with occupation of the proposed
industrial units and improve air quality.
16.15 To manage the impacts of the development on air quality and dust emissions, an Air Quality and Dust
Management Plan (AQDMP) would be secured by pre-commencement conditions (condition 3 and 4).
The AQDMP would need to follow the guidance on mitigation measures for medium risk sites (as a
minimum) set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and
Demolition SPG 2014. Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) emissions standards apply to all sites in
Greater London. Therefore a further condition (condition37) is recommended to ensure any NRMM
used during construction complies with emission standards set out in the SPG Subject to these
conditions it is considered that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of air quality
impact and there complies with the relevant policies.

Page 79
17

Fire Safety

17.1 Policy D12 of the LP states that all development proposals must achieve the highest standards of fire
safety and all major applications should be accompanied by a fire statement, prepared by a suitably
qualified third-party assessor, demonstrating how the development proposals would achieve the
highest standards of fire safety, including details of construction methods and materials, means of
escape, fire safety features and means of access for fire service personnel.
17.2 A Fire Statement produced by an independent and accredited specialist has been submitted. Officers
have undertaken an assessment on the document’s compliance with the requirements of Policy D12
of the LP, which is set out in Table 2, below.
London Plan Policy D12B Requirements

Fire Statement Response

1) the building’s construction: methods,
products and materials used, including
manufacturers’ details

The buildings would be constructed from Steel
Frame with vertical cross bracing in both
directions protected to 90 minutes fire rated
construction.
The Masonry cavity walls will be built up to
Brixton Hill, Jebb Avenue and Waterworks
Road.
Built-Up Trapezoidal Cladding comprising Steel
External Facing Panel / Non-Combustible
Mineral Wool Insulation / Steel Lining Sheet to
Internal Courtyard Elevations and high level to
Brixton Hill / Jebb Avenue and Waterworks
Road. Product Ref. Elite by Euroclad.

2) the means of escape for all building users:
suitably designed stair cores, escape for
building users who are disabled or require
level access, and associated evacuation
strategy approach

Steel External Facing Panel as above / on
Composite Panel with Non-Combustible Mineral
Wool Insulation to West Elevation of Units A - C.
Product Ref. Elite plus Rainspan both by
Euroclad.
The means of escape will comply with ADB, we
are currently allowing for refuge areas with
EVC’s in each fire rated stair core for the upper
floors.
Management will provide a Personal Emergency
Evacuation Plans for Mobility Impaired Persons.

3) features which reduce the risk to life: fire
alarm systems, passive and active fire safety
measures and associated management and
maintenance plans

The escape regime is a simple simultaneous
evacuation.
The buildings would be provided with a ﬁre
alarm in accordance with BS: 5839-1. The
system includes manual break glass units and
flashing beacon sounder units.
The building will be provided with fire rated
construction to 90 minutes.
The fire strategy report and fire strategy
drawings will be passed onto the responsible

Page 80

4) access for fire service personnel and
equipment: how this will be achieved in an
evacuation situation, water supplies,
provision and positioning of equipment,
firefighting lifts, stairs and lobbies, any fire
suppression and smoke ventilation systems
proposed, and the ongoing maintenance and
monitoring of these

5) how provision will be made within the
curtilage of the site to enable fire appliances
to gain access to the building
6) ensuring that any potential future
modifications to the building will take
into account and not compromise the base
build fire safety/protection measures.

person at completion as part of the above
required information under Regulation 38.
Access for fire service complies with B5 of the
Building Regulations and follows the guidance in
Approved Document B: Fire Safety (ADB).
There is a towns fire Hydrant within 100m of the
site.
Access for Fire and Rescue Service will follow
the guidance in ADB para 15.1. i.e. 15%
perimeter access.
There are two entrances provided to the site,
which each access exceeds the 3.7m minimum
width. The routes are therefore suitable for fire
vehicles.
The fire strategy report and fire strategy
drawings will be passed onto the responsible
person at completion as part of the above
required information under Regulation 38.

17.3 The Fire Statement has been reviewed by the Council's Building Control Officer and considers the
strategy to be well considered and covers the functional requirements under Part B of the Building
Regulations. The proposal would be subject to a final assessment of compliance, which would be
completed when the Building Regulations application is submitted and assessed in consultation with
London Fire Brigade. Officers are satisfied that the submitted Fire Statement provides sufficient
information for planning stage and recommend that a condition (condition 47) is imposed to ensure
that the strategy is implemented, and the development is carried out in accordance with this
document. The scheme therefore complies with D12 of the LP
18

Designing Out Crime

18.1 Policy D11 of the LP encourages boroughs to work with the Metropolitan Police to minimise potential
risks related to criminal activity through good design. Policy Q3 of the LLP expects good design to
minimise opportunistic crime, anti-social behaviour, violence and intimidation.
18.2 The proposal would deliver a gated development where access points are legible and there is clear
definition between public and private space. Natural surveillance would be created by active frontages
on Brixton Hill and within site. External lighting would also be incorporated in the scheme with details
secured as a condition of consent (condition 21)
18.3 The Designing Out Crime Officer’s has recommendation a condition requiring the development to
incorporate security measures to minimise the risk of crime and to meet the specific Security needs of
the development in accordance with the principles and objectives of Secured by Design (condition 48).
A further condition (condition 49) is recommended requiring a Secured by Design inspection to take
place prior to occupation and a compliance certificate secured and submitted to the Council for
approval. This will verify that the necessary security measures have been incorporated.
18.4 Subject to the recommended conditions the proposal would accord with Policy D11 of the LP and
Policy Q3 of the LLP.

Page 81
19

Planning Obligations and CIL
Planning Obligations

19.1 Policy D4 of the LLP refers to circumstances in which the Council can seek S106 Planning Obligations
to mitigate the impact of a development on the local infrastructure or secure additional facilities that
are required as a result of the development coming forward. As set out in the body of this report the
following site-specific planning obligations are considered necessary to make the development
acceptable.
19.2 Policy D4 of the LLP and Annex 10 sets out the Council’s policy position in relation to planning
obligations and the charging approaches for various types of obligations. For contributions that are
not covered by Annex 10, the Council’s approach to calculating contributions is guided by the
Development Viability SPD (adopted 2017) and the Employment and Skills SPD (adopted 2018).
19.3 The planning obligations proposed are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in
planning terms, are directly related to the development and are fairly and reasonably related in kind
and in scale to the development. They are therefore compliant with the requirements of Regulation
122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.
19.4 The proposed obligations to be secured through the S106 Agreement are as follows:
Transport and Highways:
 Travel plan and monitoring fee of £5,300,
 A financial contribution of £2,000 to update/remark the Cycle Advanced Stop Line (ASL) on Jebb
Avenue,
 No business parking permits within the CPZ;
 A financial contribution of £20,000 towards future design/feasibility work relating to Lambeth’s “Road
Danger Reduction Long-list” and a future safety scheme along the wider Brixton Hill corridor.
Environment and Sustainability:
A Carbon offset contribution of £58,995 to be updated/confirmed following the confirmation of AsBuilt carbon emissions reduction calculations,
 An Open Space Deficiency contribution £4,000.







Employment and Training:
An Employment and Skills Plan
Employment and Training financial contribution of £23,703
Other:
Monitoring cost capped at 5% of the total value of the above financial obligations;
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

19.5 If the application is approved and the development is implemented, a liability to pay the Lambeth
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will arise.
19.6 Expenditure of most of a future CIL receipt will be applied towards Borough infrastructure needs in
accordance with the applicable policies and procedures relating to expenditure decisions.
19.7 Allocation of CIL monies to particular infrastructure projects is not a matter for consideration in the
determination of planning applications. Separate governance arrangements are being put in place for
Borough Infrastructure needs.

Page 82
20

CONCLUSION

20.1 The proposal would result in a welcome intensification of industrial uses on an underutilised nondesignated industrial site, providing high-quality industrial floorspace that is fit for purpose. It would
support planning policy objectives by targeting logistics, essential industrial-related services, SMEs,
‘last mile’ distribution operators and emerging sectors in a location accessible to the strategic road
network.
20.2 The proposed new industrial floorspace would result in an uplift in the number of jobs created on the
site, with additional employment and skills benefits through local training and an Employment and
Training financial contribution of £23,703.
20.3 The proposed development represents a significant improvement on the buildings that currently
occupy the site, being of a sympathetic and high-quality design that would positively respond to its
surroundings. No harm would be caused to any of the identified heritage assets as a result of the
development.
20.4 The development provides suitable landscaping and planting in and around the site, representing an
overall enhancement when compared to the Site’s existing condition dominated by hard landscaping
and very little greenery. The proposal soft landscaping is of good quality and optimises the biodiversity
of the site.
20.5 Given the distance and orientation to the nearest residential properties, and the inclusion of
appropriate mitigation measures through use of conditions, the proposal would not result in any
significant material impact in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy or sunlight/daylight or undue noise
and disturbance to neighbouring residential properties. Various future operational management plans
would be secured to control operating hours of the site, conduct, training and responsibilities of staff
and riders, servicing arrangements, communication and late-night noise mitigation.
20.6 The development would be suitably mitigated in terms of its impact upon local infrastructure. In
addition, with the inclusion of appropriate mitigation measures the development would not impact
unacceptably upon the function and safety of the highway network (both pedestrian and vehicular).
20.7 Sufficient commitment is made to sustainability, sustainable design and construction, reducing carbon
emissions and the use of renewable energy technologies. The development would be suitably
mitigated in terms of its impact upon local infrastructure. In addition, the development would not
impact unacceptably upon the function and safety of the highway network (both pedestrian and
vehicular).
20.8 The development would be subject to a range of financial contributions and planning obligations
secured through a legal agreement that would reasonably mitigate the otherwise unacceptable
impacts of the development. The package of financial contributions and planning obligations has been
negotiated having full regard to the nature of the development, to the normal expectations conferred
upon developers by the various planning policy documents, and to the statutory tests for section 106
obligations set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations
20.9 Officers consider that the proposed development would be in compliance with the development plan
for the borough and there are no material considerations of sufficient weight that would dictate that the
application should be refused. Officers are therefore recommending approval of the proposed
development, subject to conditions and completion of a Section 106 Agreement.
21

EQUALITY DUTY AND HUMAN RIGHTS

21.1 In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the council must have due regard to the need to eliminate

Page 83
discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
In making this recommendation, regard has been given to the Public Sector Equality Duty and the
relevant protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity,
race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation).
21.2 In line with the Human Rights Act 1998, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is
incompatible with a Convention right, as per the European Convention on Human Rights. The human
rights impacts have been considered, with particular reference to Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of property), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life) and Article 14 (Prohibition
of discrimination) of the Convention.
21.3 The Human Rights Act 1998 does not impair the right of the state to make decisions and enforce laws
as deemed necessary in the public interest. The recommendation is considered appropriate in
upholding the council's adopted and emerging policies and is not outweighed by any engaged rights.
22

RECOMMENDATION
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing the planning
obligations listed in this report.
Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:



Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes; and
Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

2. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a subsequent
appeal, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability,
having regard to the heads of terms set out in this report, addendums and/or PAC minutes, to
negotiate and complete a document containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in order to meet the requirement of the Planning
Inspector.
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of committee,
delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse
planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the mitigating
contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

Page 84
APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Draft Decision Notice
Appendix 2: List of consultees (statutory and Other Consultees)
Appendix 3: List of relevant policies in London Plan, Lambeth Local Plan. Reference to SPGs, SPD
and other relevant guidance

Page 85
Appendix 1 – Draft Decision Notice

Page 86

Your Ref:

Our Ref: 21/04767/FUL

AG Bloom LML B.V
c/o Miss Yasmin Darch
DP9 Ltd
100 Pall Mall
London
SW1Y 5NQ
UK

31st May 2022

DRAFT DECISION NOTICE
Dear AG Bloom LML B.V

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990.
PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT
The London Borough of Lambeth hereby permits under the above mentioned Acts and associated orders the
development referred to in the schedule set out below subject to any conditions imposed therein and in
accordance with the plans submitted, save in so far as may otherwise be required by the said conditions.
In accordance with the statutory provisions your attention is drawn to the statement of Applicant’s Rights and
General Information attached.
Application Number: 21/04767/FUL
31.05.2022

Date of Application: 09.12.2021

Date of Decision:

Proposed Development At: 146-156 Brixton Hill And 5-6 Waterworks Road London SW2 1SE
For: Demolition of the existing buildings and redevelopment of the site to provide a multi-storey urban
industrial and logistics estate comprising 2, two-storey buildings in Use Classes E (research and
development of products or processes, or any industrial process suitable in residential areas), B2(General
industrial), B8 (Storage or distribution) and Sui Generis (Dark Kitchen) together with cycle parking and
disabled car parking provision, hard and soft landscaping and associated works.
Approved Plans
5081-CA-00-ZZ-DR-A-01001 PL1; 5081-CA-00-GF-DR-A-01010 PL1;5081-CA-00-01-DR-A-01011 PL1;
5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02001 PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02002 PL1; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02003
PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03001 PL1; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03002 PL1;5081-CA-00-ZZ-DR-A-01100 PL1;
5081-CA-00-GF-DR-A-01110 PL3;5081-CA-00-01-DR-A-01111 PL2; 5081-CA-00-RL-DR-A-01112
PL2;5081-CA-00-ZZ-DR-A-01113 PL2; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02101 PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02102 PL1;
5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02103 PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02111 PL4; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02112

Page 87
PL2;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02113 PL2; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-02115 PL2;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03101
PL1; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03102 PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03103 PL1; 5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-03104
PL1;5081-CA-00-XX-DR-A-21302 PL1; 5081-CA-00-06-RP-A-01002 PL3;5081-CA-00-06-RP-A-06003 PL1;
Air Quality Constraints and Opportunities Appraisal Statement (Delta-Simons, December 2021);
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Delta-Simons, December 2022);Arboricultural Survey (Delta-Simons,
December 2021);Archaeological Desk-based Assessment (Mills Whipp Projects,, December 2021); Covering
letter (DP9, 7 December 2021); Dark Kitchen note (DP9, December 2021); Daylight and Sunlight Report
(Lumina London Limited,24 November 2021);Design & Access Statement (Chetwoods, 7 December 2021);
Employment & Skills Plan (Volterra Partners, December 2021);Energy Strategy (Watkins Payne, December
2021); Fire Statement (Pell Frichmann, 1 December 2021);Noise Impact Assessment (Clarke Saunders, 7
December 2021); Planning Statement (DP9, December 2021);Preliminary Geo-Environmental Risk
Assessment (Delta-Simons, December 2021); Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Delta-Simons, December
2022); Response to TfL comments (Motion, 9 March 2022);Statement of Community Involvement (Lowick, 7
December 2021); Sustainability Statement (Watkins Payne, December 2021);Supplementary Dark Kitchen
Trip Analysis (Motion, 16 March 2022); Supplementary Fire Statement email dated 25/05/2022;TfL
clarification note (Motion, 28 February 2022);Townscape, Heritage and Visual Impact Assessment (KM
Heritage, December 2021); Transport Assessment (Motion, 7 December 2021); Urban Greening Factor
Calculations;Ventilation and Extraction Statement (Watkins Payne, December 2021); Water Resources,
Flood Risk & DrainageAssessment (Parmarbrook, 7 December 2021).

Conditions
1
The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years from the date of
this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended).
2
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings
listed in this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to the requirements of the
conditions of this planning permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3
No development shall take place until a demolition phase Construction and Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The CEMP shall include details of the following relevant measures:
a)
A description of management responsibilities including complaint recording and management;
b)
A named person for residents to contact within the main contractor's organisation;
c)
Detailed site logistics arrangements;
d)
Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;
e)
A description of the construction and demolition programme which identifies activities likely to cause
high levels of noise or dust;
f)
Details regarding noise mitigation measures to be deployed including identification of sensitive
receptors and a scheme of ongoing continuous monitoring and reporting for demolition and construction
noise impacts. The scheme shall be developed by suitably qualified persons and shall include suitable
targets in accordance with BS5228 Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration control and provision of
monitoring results to the Local Planning Authority;
g)
Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in accordance with the guidance on mitigation
measures for high-risk sites (as a minimum) set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions
during Construction and Demolition SPG 2014 for demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout. Both
'highly recommended' and 'desirable' measures should be included; and
i)
Communication procedures with the London Borough of Lambeth and local community regarding
key construction issues - newsletters, fliers etc.
Baseline air quality monitoring must commence at least three months before the commencement of the
demolition phase and continue throughout all construction phases. Monitors should be used for the duration
of the development at locations indicative of exposure of sensitive receptors to dust emitted from works.

Page 88
The construction shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures approved in the
CEMP for the related phase unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any
variation.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to ensure minimal nuisance
or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining occupiers and of the area generally, to
avoid hazard and obstruction to the public highway and increased road danger, to manage and mitigate the
impact of the development on the air quality and dust emissions in the area and London as a whole, and to
avoid irreversible and unacceptable damage to the environment (Policies EN4, T7, and Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021), policies T4 and SI1 of the London Plan (2021), and the London Plan SPGs for
Sustainable Design and Construction and Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and
Demolition(2014)).
4
No development other than demolition shall take place until a construction phase Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The CEMP shall include details of the following relevant measures:
a)
A description of management responsibilities including complaint recording and management;
b)
A named person for residents to contact within the main contractor's organisation;
c)
Detailed site logistics arrangements;
d)
Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;
e)
A description of the construction and demolition programme which identifies activities likely to cause
high levels of noise or dust;
f)
Details regarding noise mitigation measures to be deployed including identification of sensitive
receptors and a scheme of ongoing continuous monitoring and reporting for demolition and construction
noise impacts. The scheme shall be developed by suitably qualified persons and shall include suitable
targets in accordance with BS5228 Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration control and provision of
monitoring results to the Local Planning Authority;
g)
Air Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP) in accordance with the guidance on mitigation
measures for high-risk sites (as a minimum) set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions
during Construction and Demolition SPG 2014 for demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout. Both
'highly recommended' and 'desirable' measures should be included; and
h)
Communication procedures with the London Borough of Lambeth and local community regarding
key construction issues - newsletters, fliers etc.
Baseline air quality monitoring must commence at least three months before the commencement of the
demolition phase and continue throughout all construction phases. Monitors should be used for the duration
of the development at locations indicative of exposure of sensitive receptors to dust emitted from works.
The construction shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures approved in the
CEMP for the related phase unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any
variation.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to ensure minimal nuisance
or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining occupiers and of the area generally, to
avoid hazard and obstruction to the public highway and increased road danger, to manage and mitigate the
impact of the development on the air quality and dust emissions in the area and London as a whole, and to
avoid irreversible and unacceptable damage to the environment (Policies EN4, T7, and Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021), policies T4 and SI1 of the London Plan (2021), and the London Plan SPGs for
Sustainable Design and Construction and Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and
Demolition(2014)).
5
No development shall take place until a demolition phase Construction Logistics Management Plan
(CLMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details shall be
assessed by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Transport for London (TfL). The CLMP shall
include details of the following relevant measures for the construction phase of the development:
a)
Construction vehicle routing, including swept path analyses;
b)
Frequency, timing and management of deliveries;
c)
Details of the use of banksmen and traffic marshals to ensure public safety; and
d)
Details of a traffic management plan to demonstrate how passing road users including cyclists and
pedestrians will be safely managed throughout the works.

Page 89

All deliveries associated with the construction phase shall occur outside the network peak hours of 08:0010:00 and 16:00-18:00 to avoid congestion and reduce any impact on public safety.
The construction work shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures approved
in the CLMP, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To ensure minimal nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining
occupiers and of the area generally, and to avoid hazard and obstruction to the public highway and
increased road danger (Policies Q2, T1 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T4 of the
London Plan (2021)).
6
No development other than demolition shall take place until a construction phase Construction
Logistics Management Plan (CLMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The details shall be assessed by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Transport for
London (TfL). The CLMP shall include details of the following relevant measures for the construction phase
of the development:
a)
Construction vehicle routing, including swept path analyses;
b)
Frequency, timing and management of deliveries;
c)
Details of the use of banksmen and traffic marshals to ensure public safety; and
d)
Details of a traffic management plan to demonstrate how passing road users including cyclists and
pedestrians will be safely managed throughout the works.
All deliveries associated with the construction phase shall occur outside the network peak hours of 08:0010:00 and 16:00-18:00 to avoid congestion and reduce any impact on public safety.
The construction work shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures approved
in the CLMP, unless the written consent of the Local Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To ensure minimal nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining
occupiers and of the area generally, and to avoid hazard and obstruction to the public highway and
increased road danger (Policies Q2, T1 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T4 of the
London Plan (2021)).
7
Prior to commencement of development above ground level, a written scheme of investigation (WSI)
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. For land that is included within
the WSI, no development shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include
the statement of significance and research objectives, and:
a)
The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the nomination of a
competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works; and
b)
The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, publication and
dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be discharged until
these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out in the WSI.
The WSI will need to be prepared and implemented by a suitably qualified professionally accredited
archaeological practice in accordance with Historic England's Guidelines for Archaeological Projects in
Greater London. This condition is exempt from deemed discharge under schedule 6 of The Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
Reason: To identify assets of archaeological significance and use this information to avoid harm or minimise
it through appropriate mitigation in line with London Plan Policy HC1.
8
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, prior to first occupation of any
part of the development hereby approved, details of all boundary treatments, including elevations, sections,
specifications for all gates and their means of opening, and details of visibility splay/sightlines shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall not be carried
out other than in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 90
Reason: To ensure a high-quality standard of development, to safeguard and enhance the character and
appearance of this part of the Rush Common and Brixton Hill Conservation Area, the setting of the nearby
locally listed and statutory listed buildings, and the visual amenities of the locality and to avoid hazard and
obstruction to the public highway and increased road danger (Policies Q2, Q5, Q7, Q8, Q20, Q22, Q23,T1
and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T4 of the London Plan (2021)).

9
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, prior to commencement of
development above ground level, a schedule and samples of all materials to be used in the external
elevations of the proposed buildings (brickwork, type and colour of the cladding system, windows and doors,
copping etc;) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved materials and details unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a high-quality standard of development and to safeguard and enhance the character and
appearance of this part of the Rush Common Brixton Hill Conservation Area, the setting of the nearby locally
listed and statutory listed buildings, and the visual amenities of the locality in general (Policies Q2, Q5, Q7,
Q8, Q20, Q22 and Q23 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
10
Notwithstanding the details shown on the drawings hereby approved, prior to commencement of
development above ground level, a sample panel shall be built on site showing the brickwork, brick bonding
and pointing, and any special brickwork features. The development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The brick sample panels including mortar shall be constructed and viewed on site prior to works commencing
or prior to above groundwork commencing.
Reason: To ensure a high-quality standard of development and to safeguard and enhance the character and
appearance of this part of the Rush Common Brixton Hill Conservation Area, the setting of the nearby locally
listed and statutory listed buildings, and the visual amenities of the locality in general (Policies Q2, Q5, Q7,
Q8, Q20, Q22 and Q23 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
11
No plumbing, pipes or vents (including gas mains and boiler flues), or advertising shall be
constructed or fixed to the external elevations of the building unless the prior written approval of the local
planning authority is obtained, or except where otherwise stated on the approved drawings or those details
are altered pursuant to the conditions of this planning permission.
Reason: To ensure a high-quality standard of development and to safeguard and enhance the visual
amenities of the locality, the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and to preserve the setting
of the surrounding locally listed statutory listed buildings (Policies Q2, Q5, Q7, Q8, Q20, Q22 and Q23 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
12
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no aerials,
antennae, satellite dishes or related telecommunications equipment shall be erected on any part of the
development hereby permitted, unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the visual impact of telecommunication equipment upon the surrounding area can be
considered. (PoliciesT9, Q2, and Q6 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
13
Prior to any use of part of the premises as a 'Dark Kitchen' or 'On Demand Grocer', an Operational
Management Plan (OMP) for each relevant unit shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local
planning authority. The OMP shall include but not be limited to, the following:
a)
Details of the operating hours of the Site;
b)
Details of delivery rider/driver management to include operational management programmes to limit
number of delivery riders/drivers on site, to ensure delivery riders/drivers park correctly in the designated
areas, control of movement on and off the site, and ensure that all food orders are collected from within the
building etc.;
c)
Details of commitment to provide delivery rider/driver training programmes;
d)
Details of internal rider/driver waiting areas and welfare facilities (toilets, showers, lockers etc.);
e)
Details of delivery rider/driver parking;
f)
Any other measures to control noise and disturbance;

Page 91
g)
Details of the responsibilities of the on-site marshals;
h)
Details of the servicing, waste and refuse arrangements to align with site-wide Delivery and Service
Management Plan ;
i)
Details of procedures and actions to record and address any failures to comply with the policies or
procedure of the OMP;
j)
Details of communication procedures with the London Borough of Lambeth and local community.
The relevant use of the part of the development hereby permitted (each respective unit), shall thereafter be
undertaken in accordance with the details and measures approved in the OMP, unless the written consent of
the local planning authority is obtained for any variation.
Reason: To ensure minimal nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining
occupiers and of the area generally, and to avoid unnecessary hazard and obstruction to the public highway
(Policies Q2, T1 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T4 of the London Plan (2021)).
14
No night-time deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from units A, B and C and no night-time
loading or unloading of goods from any servicing vehicles associated with units A, B and C shall take place
between 23:00 and 7:00 the following morning, until a night time Operational Management Plan (OMP) for
each respective unit be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This should
include but not be limited to, the following:
a)
Strategy to identify and employ 'all appropriate measures' to minimise the generation of noise and
subsequent exposure / impact;
b)
Strategy to minimise the risk of unplanned 'noisy' events;
c)
Details of procedures and actions to record and address any failures to comply with the policies or
procedure of the OMP; and
d)
Details of communication procedures with the London Borough of Lambeth and local community.
The relevant part of the development hereby permitted (each respective unit), shall thereafter be carried out
in accordance with the details and measures approved in the OMP, unless the written consent of the Local
Planning Authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (policy Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021)).
15
No deliveries shall be taken at or despatched from units D and E and no loading or unloading of
goods from any servicing vehicles associated with units E and D other than within the following times of
07:00 to 23:00 Monday to Sundays, and 09:00 to 23:00 on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (policy Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021)).
16
No collection of orders from the parts of the premises in use as a 'Dark Kitchen' or 'On Demand
Grocer' shall take place by customers at any time.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area and to enable the LPA to
retain control of the use to ensure that other uses are not introduced without further assessment and
approval by the LPA (Policies Q2, ED1, ED7 and PN3 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
17
Other than external plant and equipment used for refrigeration purposes, no other external plant and
equipment at the premises (all units) shall operate outside the hours of 07:00 to 23:00.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021)).
18
No kitchen fume extraction and filtration equipment shall be installed at the premises until details and
full specifications of the kitchen fume extraction and filtration equipment, and an ongoing maintenance plan,
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The scheme of filtration shall take account of the odour risk as assessed in accordance with Appendix 3 of
the EMAQ Control of Odour and Noise Guidance and where necessary shall include supporting external and
internal elevational drawings and plans of the proposed ventilation layout. The approved fume extraction and

Page 92
filtration equipment shall thereafter be fully implemented as approved and retained and maintained in
working order for the duration of the use and operated in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining
occupiers and of the area generally and to minimise increased exposure to existing poor air quality and
make provision to address local problems of air quality (particularly within AQMAs) (Policies EN4 Q2 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 1 of London Plan (2021)).
19
No flues, extraction and filtration equipment shall be installed at the premises until details and full
specifications of the flues, extraction and filtration equipment, and an ongoing maintenance plan (including
elevational drawings) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The approved flues, extraction and filtration equipment shall thereafter be fully implemented as approved
and retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the use and operated in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area and to minimise increased
exposure to existing poor air quality and make provision to address local problems of air quality (particularly
within AQMAs) (Policies EN4 Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 1 of London Plan (2021)).
20
The operation of any building services plant shall not commence until the following details have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
a)
Assessment of the cumulative acoustic impact arising from the operation of all internally and
externally located plant on the Site has been undertaken; and
b)
A post-installation noise assessment has been carried out to confirm compliance with the noise
criteria.
The assessment of the acoustic impact shall be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142:2014 (or
subsequent superseding equivalent) and current best practice and shall include a scheme of attenuation
measures to ensure the rating level of noise emitted from the proposed building services plant is 10dB less
than background.
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and attenuation measures, and
shall be permanently retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the use.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021)).

21
Prior to occupation of any part of the premises (all units) hereby permitted, a lighting scheme shall
be submitted for the approval by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the Institute of Lighting
Professional's Guidance notes for the reduction of obstructive light. The scheme must be designed by a
suitably qualified person in accordance with the recommendations for environmental zone E3 in the ILP
document "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2020.
Before commencement of operation of the approved lighting scheme the applicant shall appoint a suitably
qualified member of the institute of lighting professionals (ILP) to validate that the lighting scheme, as
installed, conforms to the recommendations for environmental zone E3 in the ILP document "Guidance
Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2020.
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be permanently
retained as such for the duration of the use.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021)).
22
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, a sitewide servicing
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The uses
hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details. The submitted details
must include the following:

Page 93
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

Servicing Management Strategy;
Frequency of deliveries to the site;
Frequency of other servicing vehicles such as refuse collections;
Proposed loading and delivery locations;
Measures to minimise servicing trips in the peak hours;
Details of monitoring of delivery and servicing vehicles; and
Details of electric vehicle charging points for all servicing bays.

Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area and to limit the effects of
the increase in travel movements (Policies Q2 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
23
Notwithstanding the details on the drawings and documents hereby approved, prior to the
occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, details of the provision of cycle parking
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details shall include:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Design and location of cycle parking stores, including specification of cycle stands;
Design, specification, and location of short-stay cycle parking;
Design, specification, and location of larger, adapted cycle parking spaces; and
Details of electric bike charging points.

The cycle parking shall thereafter be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details before the
use hereby permitted commences and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available on site and to promote sustainable modes of
transport and to ensure a high-quality standard of development and to safeguard and enhance the character
and appearance of this part of the Rush Common Brixton Hill Conservation Area, the setting of the nearby
locally listed and statutory listed buildings, and the visual amenities of the locality in general (Policies T1, T3,
Q2, Q5, Q7, Q8, Q13 Q20, Q22 and Q23 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T5 of the London
Plan (2021)).
24
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, a Parking Design
and Management Plan demonstrating how car parking will be managed and monitored to prevent
unauthorised use of the disabled persons parking bays and meet disabled persons parking demand. The
measures as approved shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be
permanently retained.
Reason: To enable accessible parking to be provided, prevent excessive parking and minimise danger,
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the site and surrounding area (policies T1 and T6 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021) and policies T6 and T6.5 of the London Plan (2021).

25
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, the disabled parking
shall be laid out in accordance with the approved plans, and the disabled/accessible parking spaces shall be
retained for the duration of the use.
Reason: To enable accessible parking to be provided, prevent excessive parking and minimise danger,
obstruction and inconvenience to users of the site and surrounding area (policies T1 and T6 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2021) and policies T6 and T6.5 of the London Plan (2021).
26
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, active electric
vehicle charging facilities shall be installed in accordance with the approved plans, with passive provision
provided for all remaining bays, and these shall be retained for the duration of the approved development.
Reason: To encourage the uptake of electrical vehicles (policies T6, T6.5 and T7 of the London Plan (2021)).
27
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, a height restriction
barrier of 2.4m shall be installed at the access/egress point on Jebb Avenue. The height restriction barrier
shall be retained for the duration of the approved development.
Reason: To limit the size of vehicles permitted to enter the site via Jebb Avenue to 7m rigid vehicles, so as to
mitigate the impacts of the development upon local amenity and the function and safety of the surrounding
highway (Policies Q2 and T1 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy T4 of the London Plan (2021)).

Page 94

28
Prior to the occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, a Waste and
Recycling Management Plan, providing details of waste and recycling storage for the development shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details must include but not be
limited to swept paths for refuse vehicles, dimensions of door widths, wash down and drainage facilities. The
waste and recycling storage areas/facilities should comply with the Lambeth's Refuse & Recycling Storage
Design Guide (2013), unless it is demonstrated in the submissions that such provision is inappropriate for
this specific development.
The waste and recycling storage shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to the
commencement of the use hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use.
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to encourage the sustainable
management of waste and to safeguard the visual amenities of the area (Policies Q2 and Q12 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
29
Prior to first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, an as-Built SBEM
calculations as an output of the National Calculation Method shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority demonstrating that the development has achieved a minimum 35% reduction in
carbon emissions over that required by Part L of the Building Regulations 2013, in line with the approved
Energy Strategy (Watkins Payne, December 2021).
Reason: To ensure that the development makes the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide
emissions (Policy SI 2 and SI 3 of the London Plan (2021) and Policy EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan
(2021)).
30
Within six months of work starting on site, a BREEAM Design Stage Shell and Core certificate shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority confirming that the targeted BREEAM
rating of 'Excellent' can be achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 2 of the London Plan (2021)).
31
Within three months of first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, a BREEAM
New Construction 2018 Post Construction Stage Shell and Core certificate shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority confirming that the targeted BREEAM rating of 'Excellent'
has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 2 of the London Plan (2021)).
32
Within three months of the first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved,
evidence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, which shows that a
40% improvement over the baseline has been achieved for Wat 01 in the BREEAM assessment. If this is not
achieved, valid reasons should be provided and a minimum of 12% improvement must be achieved.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 5 of the London Plan (2021)).
33
Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, evidence should be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which shows that water metering and
water saving measures have been installed (for example using BREEAM Wat 02 and 03 evidence).
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 5 of the London Plan (2021)).

34
No development shall take place other than demolition, until the following components of a scheme
to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site - including vapours, unexploded ordnance and
asbestos - have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:

Page 95
a)
A site investigation scheme, based on previous findings to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site;
b)
The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment resulting from a);
c)
An options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken;
d)
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the
works set out in c) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details and measures approved.
Reason: Development must not commence before relevant parts of this this condition are discharged to
safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from irreversible risks associated
with the contaminants which are present by ensuring that the contaminated land is properly treated and
made safe (Policy EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and paragraph 183 of the NPPF).
35
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then
no further development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted and obtained written approval
from the local planning authority for, an amendment to the remediation strategy detailing how this
unsuspected contamination will be dealt with.
Reason: To safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from irreversible risks
associated with the contaminants which are present by ensuring that the contaminated land is properly
treated and made safe (Policy EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and paragraph 183 of the NPPF).
36
Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, a verification report
demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy under Condition 35 and
the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also
include any plan (a "long-term monitoring and maintenance plan") for longer-term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance, and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the verification plan, and for
the reporting of this to the local planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from irreversible risks
associated with the contaminants which are present by ensuring that the contaminated land is properly
treated and made safe (Policy EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and paragraph 183 of the NPPF).
37
If Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and including 560kW is
required on site during the course of demolition, site preparation and construction phases, it must comply
with the emission standards set out in chapter 7 of the GLA's supplementary planning guidance "Control of
Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition" dated July 2014 (SPG), or subsequent guidance.
Unless it complies with the standards set out in the SPG, no NRMM shall be on site, at any time, whether in
use or not, without the prior written consent of the local planning authority. The developer must register all
NRMM at https://nrmm.london/user-rmm/register prior to bringing it on to site and shall keep the register up
to date by listing all NRMM used during the demolition, site preparation and construction phases of the
development.
Reason: To manage and mitigate the impact of the development on the air quality emissions in the area and
London as a whole, and to avoid irreversible and unacceptable damage to the environment (Policy EN4 of
the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy SI 1 of London Plan (2021)).
38
Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, an emission control
scheme, , shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall
provide details of measures to be implemented to minimise the direct and indirect emissions of air pollutants
resulting from the development and must demonstrate that the development will be Air Quality Neutral
throughout its operational phase. The scheme must be informed by detailed dispersion modelling
assessment (ADMS-Roads modelling) and must prioritise on site mitigation that is part of the proposed
development.
The development shall not be occupied other than in accordance with the approved scheme.

Page 96
Reasons: To minimise increased exposure to existing poor air quality and make provision to address local
problems of air quality (particularly within AQMAs) (Policy EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy
SI 1 of London Plan (2021)).
39
No piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall take place until a piling
method statement (detailing the depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which
such piling would be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to
subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority, in consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken
in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method statement.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm impact local underground sewerage and water utility
infrastructure and to ensure appropriate management of the potential risks associated with the use of piling
where contamination is an issue.
40
Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to commencement of development above ground
level, details of the Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SuDS) to be employed throughout the site shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include:
a)
Information on the siting, capacity and operation of the SuDS and any associated pipe work.
b)
A management and maintenance plan which must consider the management and maintenance for
the lifetime of the development and which shall include the arrangements made to secure the operation of
the scheme.
The occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved shall not commence until the
sustainable drainage scheme for the site has been completed in accordance with the approved details. The
sustainable drainage scheme shall be managed and maintained thereafter in accordance with the agreed
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To manage the water environment of the development and mitigate the impact on flood risk, water
quality, habitat, and amenity value (policies EN5 and EN6 of Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
41
Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, , a final hard and soft
landscaping scheme, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All tree,
shrub and hedge planting included within the above scheme shall accord with BS3936:1992, BS4043:1989
and BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current Arboricultural best practice. The
details shall demonstrate that net biodiversity gain has been achieved. The details shall include:
a)
The treatment of all parts of the site not covered by buildings including walls and boundary features;
b)
The quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all trees and shrubs to be
planted including details of appropriate infrastructure to support long-term survival;
c)
An indication of how all trees and shrubs will integrate with the proposal in the long term with regard
to their mature size and anticipated routine maintenance and protection including irrigation systems;
d)
Details of infrastructure to maximise rooting capacity and optimize rooting conditions;
e)
All hard landscaping, including all ground surfaces;
f)
Details of the ongoing maintenance and management of the landscaping across the site.
g)
Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures as set out in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Delta-Simons, December 2021).
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping, including the planting of the
new street trees along the Brixton Hill frontage, shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season
following the occupation of the development hereby permitted or the substantial completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner.
Reason: To introduce high quality landscaping in and around the site in the interests of the ecological value
of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity (policy EN1,
Q6, Q9, and Q10 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy G6 of the London Plan 2021).
42
Any trees, hedgerows or shrubs forming part of the approved landscaping scheme which within a
period of 5 years from the occupation or substantial completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation

Page 97

Reason: In order to introduce high quality landscaping in and around the site in the interests of the ecological
value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity (policy
EN1, Q6, Q9, and Q10 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy G6 of the London Plan 2021).
43
Prior to the installation of the green walls and roofs, a detailed specification of the green walls and
roofs shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The specification shall
include details of the quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of all elements of the
green walls and roofs, together with details of their anticipated routine maintenance and protection. The
green walls and roofs shall only be installed and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of biodiversity (Policies, EN1 Q2
and Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy G6 of the London Plan (2021)).
44
If within 5 years of the installation of the green walls and roofs, any planting forming part of the green
walls and roofs shall die, be removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased, then either this planting
shall be replaced in the next planting season with planting of a similar size and species, or otherwise the
green roof shall be entirely removed from the site.
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of biodiversity (Policies, EN1 Q2
and Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021) and Policy G6 of the London Plan (2021)).
45
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the
units identified as A, B, and C on the approved plan 01113 Rev PL3 shall only be used for purposes that fall
within Use Class E (g) (ii) and/or Use Class E (g) (iii) and/or Use Class B2 and/or Use Class B8 of the Town
and Country (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any provision equivalent to those Classes in any statutory
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) and shall not be used for any
other purpose, including for no other purpose in Class E of the Town and Country (Use Classes) Order 1987
or any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re- enacting that Order with
or without modification.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers, to ensure there is no unacceptable impact on the
flow of traffic on the surrounding highway network, to enable the local planning authority to retain control of
the approved uses and to ensure that other uses are not introduced without further assessment and approval
by the local planning authority (Policies ED1, ED7, PN3, Q2, T6 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
46
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the
units identified as D and E on the approved plan 01113 Rev PL3 shall only be used for purposes that fall
within Use Class E (g) (ii) and/or Use Class E (g) (iii) and/or Use Class B2 and/or Use Class B8 of the Town
and Country (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any provision equivalent to those Classes in any statutory
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) and/or as Dark Kitchen (Sui
Generis) and shall not be used for any other purpose, including for no other purpose in Class E of the Town
and Country (Use Classes) Order 1987 or any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument
revoking and re- enacting that Order with or without modification.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers, to ensure there is no unacceptable impact on the
flow of traffic on the surrounding highway network, to enable the local planning authority to retain control of
the approved uses and to ensure that other uses are not introduced without further assessment and approval
by the local planning authority (Policies ED1, ED7, PN3, Q2, T6 and T7 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2021)).
47
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of the approved Fire
Statement (Pell Frischmann, November 2021) unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development incorporates the necessary fire safety measures in accordance
with the Policy D12 of the London Plan (2021).

Page 98
48
Prior to commencement of development above ground level, details of security measures to
minimise the risk of crime and to meet the specific security needs of the development in accordance with the
principles and objectives of Secured by Design measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and maintained for the lifetime
of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development maintains and enhances community safety (Policy Q3 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2021).
49
Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, a satisfactory Secured by
Design inspection must take place and the resulting Secured by Design certificate shall be submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development maintains and enhances community safety (Policy Q3 of the
Lambeth Local Plan 2021).

Notes to Applicants:
In dealing with this application the Council has implemented the requirement in the National Planning Policy
Framework (2021) to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner. The council has made
available on its website the policies and guidance provided by Lambeth Local Plan 2020-2035 (September
2021)and its supplementary planning documents. We also offer a full pre-application advice service in order
to ensure that the applicant has every opportunity to submit an application that’s likely to be considered
acceptable.

1.

This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required under any
enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

2.

Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations, and related legislation which
must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council's Building Control Officer.

3.

Your attention is drawn to the provisions of The Party Wall Act 1996 in relation to the rights of
adjoining owners regarding party walls etc. These rights are a matter for civil enforcement and you
may wish to consult a surveyor or architect.

4.

Your attention is drawn to the need to comply with the requirements of the Control of Pollution Act
1974 concerning construction site noise and in this respect you are advised to contact the Council's
Environmental Health Division.

5.

You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council's Highways team prior to the commencement
of construction on 020 7926 9000 in order to obtain necessary approvals and licences prior to
undertaking any works within the Public Highway including Scaffolding, Temporary/Permanent
Crossovers, Oversailing/Undersailing of the Highway, Drainage/Sewer Connections, Hoarding,
Excavations (including adjacent to the highway such as basements, etc), Temporary Full/Part Road
Closures, Craneage Licences etc.

6.

The footway and carriageway on the A23 Brixton Hill must not be blocked during the works.
Temporary obstructions during the works must be kept to a minimum and should not encroach on
the clear space needed to provide safe passage for pedestrians or obstruct the flow of traffic on the
A23 Brixton Hill.

7.

All vehicles associated with the redevelopment and conversion must only park/ stop at permitted
locations and within the time periods permitted by existing on-street restrictions.

Page 99

8.

No skips or construction materials shall be kept on the footway or carriageway on the TLRN at any
time. Should the applicant wish to install scaffolding or a hoarding on the footway whilst undertaking
this work, separate licences may be required with TfL, please see, https://www.tfl.gov.uk/infofor/urban-planning-and-construction/highway-licences

9.

You are reminded that all banksmen employed should attend an elite traffic marshal course.

10.

You are reminded that TfL requests for the contractors to be part of the Fleet Operator Recognition
Scheme (FORS) and/or Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS).

11.

You are reminded that the hoarding for the proposed development would be subject to a separate
Section 172 licence application under the Highways Act 1980 to the Asset Operations team at TfL.

12.

You are reminded that the scaffolding for the proposed development would be subject to a separate
Section 169 licence application under the Highways Act 1980 to the Asset Operations Team at TfL.

13.

You are advised that a preference to use of locally sourced materials and local suppliers;

14.

You are advised that all decorative paints and varnishes should meet the relevant standards in order
to reduce the emission levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs);

15.

You are advised that materials with low embodied carbon should be applied where possible.

16.

Thames Waters Informatives:

Waste Comments
Piling has the potential to significantly impact / cause failure of local underground sewerage utility
infrastructure. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure your workings will be in line with
the necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working above or near our pipes or other
structures: https://www.thameswater.co.uk/media-library/home/developers/larger-scaledevelopments/planning/working-near-our-pipes/guidelines-for-working-near-our-water-mains-and-sewers.pdf
Should you require further information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 5pm) Write to:
Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning significant work near our
sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your development
doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The
applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes:
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/media-library/home/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning/workingnear-our-pipes/guidelines-for-working-near-our-water-mains-and-sewers.pdf
Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car parking/washing/repair
facilities. Failure to enforce the effective use of petrol / oil interceptors could result in oil-polluted discharges
entering local watercourses.
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the developer follows the
sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Management of surface
water from new developments should follow Policy SI 13 Sustainable drainage of the London Plan 2021.
Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer
Services will be required. Should you require further information please refer to our website:
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers
Water Comments
There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do NOT permit the building
over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're planning significant works near our mains (within 3m)
we'll need to check that your development doesn't reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities

Page 100
during and after construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to
read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
The proposed development is located within 5m of a strategic water main. Thames Water do NOT permit the
building over or construction within 5m, of strategic water mains. Thames Water request that the following
condition be added to any planning permission. No construction shall take place within 5m of the water main.
Information detailing how the developer intends to divert the asset / align the development, so as to prevent
the potential for damage to subsurface potable water infrastructure, must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any construction must be
undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved information. Unrestricted access must be available
at all times for the maintenance and repair of the asset during and after the construction works. Reason: The
proposed works will be in close proximity to underground strategic water main, utility infrastructure. The
works has the potential to impact on local underground water utility infrastructure. Please read our guide
'working near our assets' to ensure your workings will be in line with the necessary processes you need to
follow if you're considering working above or near our pipes or other structures.
The proposed development is located within 15m of our underground water assets and as such we would
like the following informative attached to any approval granted. The proposed development is located within
15m of Thames Waters underground assets, as such the development could cause the assets to fail if
appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure your
workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working above or
near our pipes or other structures.
Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a
flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take
account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.
Supplementary Comments
You are reminded that Brixton Waterworks is an operational site and access to site is required at all times.
Please note that this site abstracts, treats, and distributes water. There is a pumping house on site which can
generate noise and potentially vibration. Due to this being an operational site there are plans to carry out
extensive works in the future which include upgrades to the pumping station and reservoir. This work will
most likely cause disruption due to heavy plants/ machinery.
Brixton WTW, Res and WBS is a strategic site and will continue to operate for the foreseeable future
This site is affected by wayleaves and easements within the boundary of or close to your site. Thames Water
will seek assurances that these will not be affected by the proposed development. The applicant should
undertake appropriate searches to confirm this. To discuss the proposed development in more detail, the
applicant should contact Developer Services: https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers
17.

Metropolitan Police Service Informatives:

Where planning conditions to achieve SBD certification exist, we will be on hand to assist all parties involved
from concept to completion.
Planning Conditions to achieve Secured by Design certification will invariably afford you comfort in the
knowledge that all aspects of physical Security within any particular development have been considered and
approved. Where Secured by design Certification is required to discharge Pre-Occupation Planning
Conditions, a physical site inspection will always be carried out by a qualified Designing out Crime Officer
(DOCO) upon completion.
Sometimes local crime trends and geographical location insist that heightened security measures are
necessary to achieve SBD, and this is decided upon development, by development.

Page 101
Yours sincerely

Rob Bristow
Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability
Sustainable Growth & Opportunity Directorate
Date printed: 31st May 2022

Page 102
INFORMATION FOR APPLICANTS GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS,
OR WHERE PERMISSION HAS BEEN REFUSED.
General Information
This permission is subject to due compliance with any local Acts, regulations, building by-laws and general
statutory provisions in force in the area and nothing herein shall be regarded as dispensing with such
compliance or be deemed to be a consent by the Council thereunder.
Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations 1985 and related legislation which must
be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council’s Building Control Officer, PO Box 734, Winchester SO23
5DG.
The Council’s permission does not modify or affect any personal or restrictive covenants, easements, etc.,
applying to or affecting the land or the rights of any person entitled to the benefits thereof.
STATEMENT OF APPLICANT’S RIGHTS ARISING FROM THE REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION
OR FROM THE GRANT OF PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS.
Appeals to the Secretary of State
If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the local planning authority to refuse permission or approval
for the proposed development or to grant permission or approval subject to conditions, he may appeal to the
Secretary of State in accordance with Section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 within six
months from the date of this notice. Appeals must be made on a form which is obtainable from The Planning
Inspectorate, Room 3/13 Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol BS1 6PN. Alternatively
an Appeal form can be downloaded from their website at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planninginspectorate. The Secretary of State has power to allow longer period for the giving of a notice of appeal but
he will not normally be prepared to exercise this power unless there are special circumstances which excuse
the delay in giving notice of appeal. The Secretary of State is not required to entertain an appeal if it appears
to him that permission for the proposed development could not have been granted by the local planning
authority, or could not have been so granted otherwise than subject to the conditions imposed by them,
having regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of the development order, and to any directions
given under the order.
Purchase Notice
If permission to develop land is refused or granted subject to conditions, whether by the local planning
authority or by the Secretary of State for the Environment, and the owner of the land claims that the land has
become incapable of reasonably beneficial use in its existing state and cannot be rendered capable of
reasonable beneficial use by the carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted, he
may serve on the London Borough of Lambeth a purchase notice requiring that Council to purchase his
interest in the land in accordance with the provisions of Section 137 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
Compensation
In certain circumstances, a claim may be made against the local planning authority for compensation, where
permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of State for the Environment on
appeal or on a reference of the application to him. The circumstances in which such compensation is
payable are set out in Section 120 and related provision of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 103
Appendix 2 - List of consultees (statutory and Other Consultees)
Statutory Consultees
Thames Water
Transport for London (TFL)
Historic England - Archaeology
Internal Consultees
Bioregional (Consultant sustainability advisors)
Design Out Crime Officer (Metropolitan police)
Environmental Health (Regulatory Support Services – RSS) – Noise and Environment
LBL Building Control
LBL Conservation & Urban Design
LBL Employment and Skills (Business, Culture and Investment)
LBL Lead Local Flood Authority (Flooding – SUDS)
LBL Parks & Open Spaces
LBL Regeneration Team
LBL Transport
LBL Planning Policy
LBL Sustainability- Air Quality
LBL Waste (SERCO)

Other Consultees
Brixton Society
Brixton Business Improvement Districts
Blenheim Gardens RMO
Ward Councillors

Page 104
Appendix 3 - List of relevant policies in London Plan, Lambeth Local Plan. Reference to
SPGs, SPD and other relevant guidance.
London Plan (2021)







































GG2 Making the best use of land
GG5 Growing a good economy
GG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience
D1 London’s form, character and capacity for growth
D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities
D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
D4 Delivering good design
D5 Inclusive design
D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
D12 Fire safety
D13 Agent of Change
D14 Noise
E2 Providing suitable business space
E4 Land for industry, logistics and services to support London’s economic function
E6 Locally Significant Industrial Sites
E7 Industrial intensification, co-location and substitution
E11 Skills and opportunities for all
HC1 Heritage conservation and growth
G5 Urban greening
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
SI 1 Improving air quality
SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
SI 3 Energy infrastructure
SI 4 Managing heat risk
SI 5 Water infrastructure
SI 6 Digital connectivity infrastructure
SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy
SI 8 Waste capacity and net waste self-sufficiency
SI 12 Flood risk management
SI 13 Sustainable drainage
T1 Strategic approach to transport
T2 Healthy Streets
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
T5 Cycling
T6 Car parking
T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction
Policy M1 Monitoring

Page 105

Regional Guidance
Relevant publications from the GLA include:





The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Character and Context (June 2014)
Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, and the Mayoral Community Infrastructure
Levy SPG (2013)
London Cycle Design Guide (2014)

Lambeth Local Plan (2021) policies
Provided below is a list of the key Local Plan policies which are considered relevant in the determination of
this application:
































D1 Delivery and monitoring
D2 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
D4 Planning obligations
ED4: Non-designated industrial sites
T1 Sustainable travel
T2 Walking
T3 Cycling
T6 Parking
T7 Servicing
T9: Digital connectivity infrastructure
EN1 Open space and biodiversity
EN3 Decentralised energy
EN4 Sustainable design and construction
EN5 Flood risk
EN6 Sustainable drainage systems and water management
EN7 Sustainable waste management
Q1 Inclusive environments
Q2 Amenity
Q3 Safety, crime prevention and counter-terrorism
Q5 Local distinctiveness
Q6 Urban design: public realm
Q7 Urban design: new development
Q8 Design quality: construction detailing
Q9 Landscaping
Q10 Trees
Q12 Refuse and recycling
Q13 Cycle storage
Q20 Statutory listed buildings
Q22 Conservation areas
Q23 Non-designated heritage assets: local heritage list
PN3 Brixton

Local Guidance / Supplementary Planning Documents
Relevant local guidance and SPDs for Lambeth include:

Page 106






Employment and Skills SPD
Waste Storage and Collection Requirements - Technical Specification
Air Quality Planning Guidance Notes
Building Alterations and Extensions SPD
Draft Design Code

